INTERNATIONAL

S T ERERAT]

BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
REESHEAMRILZERAT
Stock Code B335 : 2339

2023 ;I\;EYUAL REPORT




CONTENTS
B sk

Corporate Information

REER

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEEEBAENEAEH

Group Structure

SERE

Chairman’s Statement

IRBESE

Management Discussion and Analysis

B EwmA DN

Corporate Governance Report

CEEREE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE  dHeRERRE

Report of the Directors

EFEWMEE

Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZHERE

Audited Financial Statements

REZIBRE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FABER
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FeazEkak
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A MBAARNE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FARREEHR - 2

~ Consolidated Sta : A

=
1Z /)IL 2

11

12

15

26

62
98

119

129
130
131

133




2 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2023
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

DIRECTOR

Mr. Dong Xiaojie, aged 61, graduated from the Hebei Normal
University, majoring in mathematics in 1984. Mr. Dong was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company and the
Chairman of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) in
September 2022. He is also the chairman of each of the Executive
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company, as well
as a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Dong was the chairman of Hebei Shengyuan Asset Management
Consulting Co., Ltd.* (UL TEEEREAABR A A]) for the
period from April 2005 to October 2010. Moreover, he was the
chairman of Beijing Old Street Shengyuan Venture Capital
Management Co., Ltd.* (t RZEHRTEIE R EEREFR AR for
the period from April 2010 to September 2014. For the period from
February 2015 to August 2016, Mr. Dong was a director of Robyn
Hode Capital Limited. He is a director and the president of
Zhangjiakou Financial Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (3R 5 0 & iZEik &
% B BR A 7)) (“Zhangjiakou Holding”) since July 2016. He is also the
chairman of BeijingWest Smart Mobility Zhangjiakou Automotive
Electronics Co., Ltd.* (RAETRXOAEEFHER A A)
(“BWSM”) since July 2022; and the chairman of BeijingWest
Industries Co., Ltd.* (At REET AR A F]) (“BWI”) from
September 2022 to September 2023. He is still a director of BWI at
present. He is also a director of BWI Company Limited (“BWI HK") (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI) since March 2023. Each of
Zhangjiakou Holding, BWSM, BWI and BWI HK is a substantial
shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). He has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the remuneration committee of Orient Victory Smart
Urban Services Holding Limited, a Hong Kong listed company since
September 2014.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Dong and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2024.
Under the service agreement, Mr. Dong is entitled to a salary and
discretionary bonus as may be determined by the Board or its
delegated committee(s) from time to time. Mr. Dong declined any
salary from the Group voluntarily since the date of his appointment
as a Director of the Company.

* For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chang Ket Leong, aged 60, graduated from the Faculty of
Mechanical Engineering of Universiti Teknologi Malaysia with a
Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering (Aeronautics). He also
holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Heriot-
Watt University. Mr. Chang was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company in July 2023 and is a member of the Executive
Committee. From October 1997 to June 2016, he worked with
Autoliv Inc., the largest supplier of automotive safety systems in
the world. At Autoliv Inc., Mr. Chang first served as Asia-Pacific
Regional Procurement Manager, and was later promoted to President
of China Region, President of Asia Region, and Global President
of its Passive Suspension System Division. He worked with BWI
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd. as General Manager from February 2020 to June
2023. Mr. Chang has also served as the Chief Executive Officer of
BWI since September 2022. Mr. Chang has extensive experience in
the automotive parts industry and has professional knowledge on the
Group’s main product, namely the automotive suspension system.
Mr. Chang has been as a director of BWSM and BWI since May
2023. He has also been as a director of BWI HK since July 2023.
Each of BWSM, BWI and BWI HK is a substantial shareholder of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Chang and the
Company for a term commencing on 28 July 2023 and ending on 31
December 2024, subject to renewal. Under the service agreement,
Mr. Chang is entitled to a salary and discretionary bonus as may be
determined by the Board or its delegated committee(s) from time
to time. Mr. Chang declined any salary from the Group voluntarily
since the date of his appointment as a Director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Zheng Jianwei, aged 42, graduated from the School of
Humanities and Laws of Hebei University of Technology with a
Bachelor’s degree in Laws and holds a legal professional and
securities investment fund qualification in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). Mr. Zheng was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company in August 2023 and is a member of the
Executive Committee. He worked as a lawyer in Hebei Lingxiang
Law Firm* (AIdEZEMERE M) for the period from May 2009 to
October 2011. During the period from November 2011 to December
2018, Mr. Zheng worked with the People’s Procuratorate of
Langfang* (BR45 A R #%2Fc) and his last position was Prosecutor.
Moreover, Mr. Zheng was the Risk Consultancy Director of Beijing
Shengyuan Hande Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (3t B TLIZEE E
EE AR AT for the period from January 2019 to October 2020.
He was also the General Manager of Beijing Shengyuan Dezheng
Private Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (bt B LB EECEEE
&2 A)) for the period from November 2020 to March 2023. Mr.
Zheng has extensive experience in law, asset and fund management
as well as corporate management. He has been as a director of BWI
HK since August 2023. BWI HK is a substantial shareholder of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Zheng and the
Company for a term commencing on 2 August 2023 and ending
on 31 December 2024, subject to renewal. Under the service
agreement, Mr. Zheng is entitled to a salary and discretionary bonus
as may be determined by the Board or its delegated committee(s)
from time to time. Mr. Zheng declined any salary from the Group
voluntarily since the date of his appointment as a Director of the
Company.

* For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 74, holds a bachelor’s degree
in commerce from Concordia University, Canada. Mr. Tam was
appointed an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in January 2014 and is the chairman of the Audit Committee as
well as a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. Tam is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Ontario, Canada. He is a past President of The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent
non-executive director of certain companies listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely, Capital
Industrial Financial Services Group Limited (formerly known as
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited), Kingmaker Footwear
Holdings Limited, Starlite Holdings Limited, West China Cement
Limited and Wisdom Education International Holdings Company
Limited. He was an independent non-executive director of each of
three Hong Kong listed companies, namely, CCT Fortis Holdings
Limited, GBA Holdings Limited and Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited, in the past three years, but resigned or retired on 8
June 2022, 30 September 2022 and 18 August 2023 respectively.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Tam and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023.
Under the engagement letter, Mr. Tam is entitled to a director’s fee
as may be determined by the Board from time to time. For financial
years 2023 and 2024, the director’s fee of Mr. Tam is HK$240,000
and HK$150,000 per annum respectively. Such director’s fee was
determined with reference to Mr. Tam’s experience and duties as
well as the then prevailing market conditions.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chan Pat Lam, aged 75, Mr. Chan was appointed an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in November 2018 and is a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was an
independent non-executive director of Shougang Fushan Resources
Group Limited, a Hong Kong listed company, from December 2004
to May 2020. Mr. Chan is the consultant of a private company
which is an international container shipping agency in the Western
region of Pear| River Delta, as well as a partner of Chan Kai Wing &
Brothers Limited, a private company which engages in trading and
wholesaling of grocery items. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in
the field of international banking industry in Hong Kong, Macau and
California.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Chan and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023.
Under the engagement letter, Mr. Chan is entitled to a director’s fee
as may be determined by the Board from time to time. For financial
years 2023 and 2024, the director’s fee of Mr. Chan is HK$240,000
and HK$150,000 per annum respectively. Such director’s fee was
determined with reference to Mr. Chan’s experience and duties as
well as the then prevailing market conditions.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Wong Foreky, aged 40, graduated from Queensland University
of Technology in Australia with a bachelor’s degree of Business
(Accountancy). Mr. Wong was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in March 2024 and is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a member of
each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of experience in corporate
finance, financial advisory, insolvency and restructuring, forensic
accounting, investigation and litigation support. Before founding
Fortune Ark Restructuring Limited in 2024, Mr. Wong served as
Managing Director at corporate finance and restructuring department
at FTI Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited, a Hong Kong member of
a multinational consultating firm listed on the New York Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong currently serves as a director of Fortune Ark
Restructuring Limited, a Fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and specialist qualification in
insolvency. He is also a CFA® Charterholder.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Wong and the
Company for a term commencing on 18 March 2024 and ending
on 31 December 2025, subject to renewal. Under the engagement
letter, Mr. Wong is entitled to a director’s fee as may be determined
by the Board from time to time. For the financial year 2024, the
annual director’s fee of Mr. Wong is HK$150,000. For the period
from 18 March 2024 to 31 December 2024, the director’s fee will
be paid in proportion to the actual length of services provided by
Mr. Wong. Such director’s fee was determined with reference to Mr.
Wong's experience and duties as well as the then prevailing market
conditions.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. Xi Jianpeng, aged 32, graduated from Northwest A&F University
with a bachelor’s degree in animal husbandry. He also holds a
master’s degree in engineering specialising in software engineering
from Nankai University. Mr. Xi was appointed as General Manager
of the Group in October 2023. Mr. Xi holds a securities investment
fund qualification in the People’s Republic of China. He was the
Senior Manager of the human resources department of Jilin Zhonghai
Hongyang Property Development Co., Ltd.* (&5 #1872 0% 5 #h &
78 AR 2 7)) for the period from July 2012 to February 2016. For
the period from March 2016 to October 2022, he was the Deputy
General Manager of the industrial investment department of the asset
management centre in the head office of Qian Hai Life Insurance
Co., Ltd.* (AI/8 A FRE %10 BBR A 7)), Moreover, Mr. Xi has served
as the Investment and Financing Vice President of BWI HK for the
period from March 2023 to September 2023. BWI HK is a substantial
shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO. Mr. Xi has extensive experience in business management and
the investment field.

An employment contract was entered into between Mr. Xi and
the Group. Under the employment contract, Mr. Xi is entitled to
an annual salary of HK$988,000 and the mandatory provident
fund scheme provided by the Group. Mr. Xi’s entitlement to the
General Manager’s emolument was determined with reference to
Mr. Xi’s duties and experience as well as the then prevailing market
conditions.

* For identification purpose only
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GROUP STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

TRBEE

B
il

Poland plant

On behalf of the board of directors of BeijingWest Industries
International Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report and the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Current Year”).

Global tension in 2023 has grown more severe than last year.
Besides the Russian-Ukrainian war, the Israeli-Palestinian conflict
also broke out during the Current Year, and geopolitical tensions
have intensified, while economic uncertainties deepened. On the
other hand, the high-inflation in the United States is gradually
alleviated, and the interest rates is likely to have already peaked
in the near term, which brings hope for a coming interest rate cut,
which may benefit the enterprises located in the European region,
which is the operating area of the Group. The COVID-19 pandemic
which has been going on for more than three years has finally fading
out. While the virus has yet to vanish completely, it has become
generally regarded as an influenza around the world, and people
have grown accustomed to living as normal while coexisting with
the virus. With the easing of the pandemic, demand in the European
automotive retail market also improved, which is beneficial to the
business operation of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the Current Year, the Group recorded revenue of HK$2,709
million from manufacture and sales of suspension products and
provision of technical services, which increased by 9.3% as
compared to 2022. In terms of gross profit and gross profit margin,
the Group recorded gross profit of HK$399 million and gross
profit margin of 14.7%, while the gross profit and the gross profit
margin for 2022 were HK$434 million and 17.5% respectively.
The gross profit margin decreased from 17.5% last year by 2.8%
to just 14.7% for the Current Year, and the decrease in gross profit
margin constitutes material impact on the profit of the Group. During
the Current Year, the loss of the Group was HK$55.3 million. As
inflation in the regions where the Group operates is high, the costs of
raw materials and labor and energy prices have all risen significantly
as a consequence. Additionally, the exchange rate of US dollar/
Euro against Polish Zloty and Czech Koruna have dropped, and the
sales of the Group being denominated mainly in US dollar/Euro also
caused for the narrowing of the gross profit margin.

While the loss for the Current Year was relatively large, the Group
continues to maintain a stable financial position. As at 31 December
2023, the Group has HK$136 million of cash and cash equivalents,
with no bank loans.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to the future, as the demand for automotives in
European countries continues to rise in the post-pandemic stage, the
European automotive industry is expected to show a stronger trend
of rebound. However, the short-term development of the European
automotive industry may still be stifled by high European inflation
and interest rates. After the closure of the plants in Luton, United
Kingdom, the Group has consolidated resources effectively, reduced
its fixed administrative expenses such as leasing and staff costs, and
increased its overall capacity utilization rate. The Group currently
still has the two major plants located in Krosno in Poland and Cheb
in the Czech Republic producing automotive suspension products,
and the Group also plans to engage in the business of automotive
braking products in the plant in Czech Republic, hoping that the new
products could facilitate the sustainable development and growth of
the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

The Group will actively respond to various possible challenges
in the future. In order to maintain and increase sales revenue,
the Group will commit to strengthening the cooperation with
European automobile manufactures, providing them with high
quality products and services, and ensuring the completion of order
deliveries. Meanwhile, we will make effort to boost the capability
of acquiring new orders and new market opportunities in the future
so as to safeguard the steady development of the Group in long
run. Moreover, we will cooperate closely with our raw materials
suppliers and try our best to lower the relevant supply-chain risks
and strengthen the management of cost control.

Overall, I am satisfied with the performance of the Group in the
Current Year, and | am cautiously optimistic about our development
in future. In the coming year, | will continue to lead all my staff to
work closely together and create more value for the shareholders of
the Group.

Dong Xiaojie
Chairman

27 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

The Company together with its subsidiaries involves in manufacture,
sales and trading of automotive parts and components and provision
of technical services. The core products of the Group were
suspension products.

The Group’s automotive suspension products were mainly utilised
on premium passenger vehicles, which were manufactured by our
plants in Europe. After the closure of the plant in the United Kingdom
(the “UK"), there are still two major plants in Poland and the Czech
Republic, which manufacture and assemble suspension products for
their customers.

The Group develops and maintains strong relationships with its
customers, who are mainly well-known European automobile
manufacturers, therefore the Group well understood the technical
requirements of our customers and has the expertise on the
manufacturing process for premium passenger vehicles.

The Group purchases its raw materials and components mainly from
the suppliers in Europe, which are selected based on certain factors,
including the history of relationship with the Group, quality and
price of the products, delivery time, and after-sales services. The
Group maintains stable relationships with its major suppliers and
does not rely on any single supplier for any type of raw materials and
components.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded revenue
of HK$2,509.0 million from manufacture and sales of suspension
products. While for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded revenue of HK$2,283.3 million from manufacture and sales
of suspension products. The increase in revenue for the year ended
31 December 2023 is mainly due to increase in the number of orders
in the plants in Poland and the Czech Republic. On the contrary, the
plant in UK is affected by the closure, and has recorded a decrease
in revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group also recorded
revenue of HK$199.8 million in provision of technical services (2022:
HK$195.1 million).

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the gross profit and gross
profit margin of the Group were HK$398.7 million and 14.7%
respectively. While for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
gross profit and gross profit margin of the Group were HK$434.1
million and 17.5% respectively. During the year, although the
Group recorded an increase in revenue as compared with that of
last year, the gross profit dropped. The increase in revenue of the
Group during the year was mainly due to the two major plants in
Poland and the Czech Republic, while the revenue from the plant in
the UK decreased. Although there was an increase in revenue from
the plant in Poland, its gross profit and gross profit margin decreased
to a certain extent resulting from the high level of local inflation
which led to a significant increase in the costs of raw materials, staff
and energy price. The plant in the Czech Republic also recorded an
increase in revenue, but its operation was still under the condition
of gross loss. As a result, the increase in revenue from this plant
failed to promote the growth of overall gross profit of the Group. In
contrast, the decreased in revenue from the plant of the UK led to the
decrease in the gross profit of the Group.

The Group’s plant in the Czech Republic was unable to leverage
its best efficiency as the utilisation rate fell short of expectation in
addition to the over three-year COVID-19 pandemic. However, the
condition of gross loss of its operation was improved during the year.
It is believed that its performance will be significantly improved in
the future with the benefits from the increase in orders transferred
from the plant in the UK after its closure, average production
cost decrease brought by economy of scale as well as increase in
production efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 decreased by 22.7% to HK$38.9 million (2022:
HK$50.4 million). The decrease is mainly due to reduced special
freight expenses in the current year. These charges are due to delays
in the supply of certain components by the suppliers, resulting in
the delay in the completion of the product. Special arrangements
must be made to ship the product by express air transport instead of
the normal sea freight to customers in the United States in order to
meet the customer’s time requirements. Such issue has been steadily
resolved during the year, as such, freight expenses in the current year
has decreased. Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted
of delivery expenses, salary and welfare for sales personnel and
warranty expenses.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 increased by 11.4% to HK$172.2 million (2022:
HK$154.5 million). The increase in administrative expenses was
mainly due to the fact that the Group began to hire additional
staff during the period in order to prepare for future development,
together with the annual salary increase resulted in an increase in
expenses. Administrative expenses mainly consisted of salaries for
administrative staff and management services fee paid to related
companies.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 increased by 16.1% to HK$275.5 million (2022:
HK$237.4 million). Research and development expenses mainly
consisted of salaries for technical staff and technical services fees
paid to related companies. Among that, the salary of technical staffs
is of a significant portion. Due to high local inflation, the salary of
technical staffs was also adjusted upwards, which caused an increase
in the research and development expenses. In addition, in order to
complement the future business development, the Group has also
started to engage in the research and development of automotive
braking products in the current year, which caused the research and
development expenses to increase.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Other Income

Other income of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
increased by 28.3% to HK$30.6 million (2022: HK$23.9 million).
The increase is mainly due to increase in profit from sales of scrap
materials, prototypes and samples during the year.

Other (losses)/gains — net

The net other losses of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 was HK$15.7 million, whereas, for the year ended 31
December 2022, it was net other gain of HK$22.5 million. The
difference between the two periods are mainly due to exchange loss
for the current year whereas it was exchange gain for the last year.

The business dealings of the Group involves multiple currencies,
including US dollar, Euro, Polish Zloty, Czech Koruna, Great British
Pound Sterling and Hong Kong dollar, etc., and the sales of the
Group are mainly transacted in US dollar and Euro. During the
current year, the exchange rate of US dollar against Polish Zloty,
Great British Pound Sterling and Czech Koruna have depreciated by
approximately 10%, 5% and 1% respectively. And the exchange rate
of Euro against Polish Zloty and Great British Pound Sterling have
also depreciated by approximately 7% and 2% respectively. As the
exchange rates of US dollar/Euro against the currencies in which the
major plants of the Group are denominated have decreased, thus
leading to an exchange loss for the current year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
decreased by 20.1% to HK$12.0 million (2022: HK$15.1 million)
mainly because all bank loans have been repaid during the second
half of last year, and hence there is no interest expense on bank
loans for the current year. Finance costs mainly represented interest
on bank loans, lease liabilities and defined benefit obligations.

Income Tax

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net income tax benefit
of the Group is HK$32.2 million, and the net income tax expense
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is HK$15.1 million. The
net income tax benefit for the year is mainly due to BWI Poland
Technologies sp.z.0.0. (“BWI Poland”) has income tax refunds during
the year and the effect brought by double tax deduction benefits for
eligible research and development (“R&D”) expenses.

From 2018 to 2021, due to the cap of the tax regulations imposed
by the Polish tax authorities, the selling and general administrative
expenses paid by BWI Poland to related companies and fellow
subsidiaries could only be deducted to a part, failing to treat all these
expenses as tax deductible. Afterwards, BWI Poland applied to the
Polish tax authorities for an “Advance Pricing Arrangement” and was
accepted by the Polish tax authorities during the current year. With
the “Advance Pricing Arrangement”, all of the above-mentioned
expenses can be treated as tax deductible and BWI Poland got a
refund of HK$31.2 million, being refund of income tax paid in
previous years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Income Tax (continued)

In addition, part of the eligible R&D expenses of BWI Poland
can enjoy double tax deduction benefits. Since some aforesaid
expenses paid to related companies and fellow subsidiaries were not
recognised by the Polish tax authorities in the past years, after being
recognised, the amount of recalculated taxable income in previous
years has decreased significantly, and the double tax deduction
benefits obtained in those years have not been fully utilised. The
double tax deduction benefits that has not been utilised in previous
years can be rolled over and utilised in future years, thus generating
a large part of tax credits. During the year, income tax credits
recognised as a result of the double tax deduction benefits for R&D
expenses totalled HK$21.6 million.

Loss for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Company
In summary of the above, for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the loss attributable to owners of the Company is approximate to
HK$55.3 million (2022: HK$4.9 million).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Our business requires a significant amount of working capital,
which is primarily used to finance the purchase of raw materials,
remuneration of employees, capital spending, research and
development and other expenses. The working capital and other
capital requirements were satisfied principally by cash generated
from internal operations, and moderate level of bank loans (if
necessary) as well.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

The Group was operating in a net cash inflow position for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and there was net cash generated from
operating activities amounted to HK$70.7 million (2022: HK$114.0
million). As at 31 December 2023, the Group maintained cash and
cash equivalents of HK$136.0 million (2022: HK$122.8 million).

Indebtedness
The Group did not have any balance of bank borrowings as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The Group’s gearing ratio (measured as total bank borrowings over
total assets) as at 31 December 2023 was 0% (2022: 0%). The
Company would keep monitoring the financial and liquidity position
of the Group closely, and carry out appropriate financing strategy
for the Group in accordance with the change of the financial market
from time to time.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no assets of the
Group being pledged.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in US Dollar,
Euro and the local currencies of our operations, which include
Polish Zloty, Great British Pound Sterling and Czech Koruna. The
Group will closely monitor the foreign exchange market and take
appropriate and effective measures from time to time to reduce any
negative impact from exchange rate risk to the furthest extent.

Capital and Other Commitments

Save as disclosed in note 31 in the notes to consolidated financial
statements, the Group and the Company had no other commitments
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2023, the Group and the Company did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

Environmental, Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health of people,
natural resources and the global environment, and has adopted
the hazardous material control programs and chemical material
assessment procedures. The Group has obtained all necessary
permits under applicable environmental protection laws for its
production facilities.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations that
exert great influence on the Group such as various environmental
protection laws relating to emissions to land, air and water and waste
production from its production facilities. Various hazardous material
control programs and chemical material assessment procedures have
also been adopted to meet the applicable legal requirements.

The Group also emphasizes the health and safety of its employees
and is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for the benefits of its staff. In order to reduce the
contact with occupational hazard factors of employees, the Group
provides training of occupational health and safety and prevention
and control of occupational disease for all relevant employees.
The Group also adopted human resources policies, which
provide the health and safety initiatives such as: (i) identifying and
communicating health and safety initiatives; (ii) monitoring trends in
statistics for occupational injuries or illnesses; (iii) complying with
health and safety regulations; and (iv) promoting incident reduction
through investigation, assessments, corrective actions and proactive
intervention. The Group has also complied with applicable social,
health and work safety laws and regulations in all material aspects.

The Group also emphasizes continuous learning and hopes
employees can grow together with the Group. Diversified training
and development opportunities are provided for all employees to
help them reach their full potential.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

Prospects

The Group involved in the manufacture and sales of automotive parts
and components and trading of automotive parts and components in
Europe. The core products are suspension products.

During the year under review, geopolitical tension has become more
severe. Besides the Russian-Ukrainian war which has been on-going
for two years, the Middle East region also saw the outbreak of the
Israeli-Palestinian conflict during the year, and such events have
caused the global scene to become extremely unstable, reinforcing
the complicated global confrontations, and introducing uncertainties
to the future global economic environment. In terms of financial
situation, the inflation situation in the United States seems to have
improved, and it is the general expectation that the US interest rates
have seen a temporary peak, and will turn around and start cutting
the interest rate in the not too distant future, which is encouraging
news for most industries.

The customers of the Group are mainly premium passenger vehicle
manufacturers, as such, the business of the Group largely depends
on the performance of the automotive industry, especially in Europe.
Passenger vehicle production in Europe in 2023 was approximately
14,988,000, which is a 12.6% increase as compared to 2022, but
still a 17.5% decrease as compared to the pre-pandemic level of
2019, indicating that there is still further room for improvement for
the recovery of the automotive industry in Europe. Additionally,
according to the latest forecast of the International Monetary Fund,
the eurozone will see a GDP growth of 0.9% in 2024 and 1.7%
in 2025, predicting a steady economic development in European
regions, which also benefits the business stability of the Group for
the coming year.

To consolidate resources more efficiently, the Group has closed the
plant located in Luton in UK during the year under review, and most
of the original orders and production lines of the plant has been
transferred successfully to the plants located in Krosno in Poland
and Cheb in the Czech Republic. After the closure of the UK Plant,
BWI UK Limited, the principal wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group responsible for the operation of this plant, will also enter into
voluntary liquidation process.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

Prospects (continued)

After the closure of the plant in UK, the Group will mainly rely on
the two plants in Poland and the Czech Republic for production, and
among them, the plant in the Czech Republic has not been able to
reach its efficiency to its best and has been at a loss-making position
due to the utilization rate below expectation and the pandemic
which was over three years. However, during the year under review,
its gross loss operation position has seen significant improvement,
and it is believed that benefiting from the orders transferred from the
UK plant, the decrease in average production cost and the increase
in production efficiency due to economy of scale, its operation
could make a turnaround from loss to profit. The management is
also planning to engage in the production business of automotive
braking products in the plant in the Czech Republic, with the wish to
introduce new driving force to the plant in the future.

The Group has accumulated extensive technical knowledge and
developed a high degree of technical expertise with a consistent
focus on research and development for many years. We believe that
our technical expertise, the long-term relationship with different
vehicle manufacturers, as well as the well-understanding of the
requirements of the vehicle manufacturers will enable us to capture
more market opportunities and develop products that meet the
technical requirements of the vehicle manufacturers. It would be a
strong support for the Group’s long-term development.

The Group believes that the continuing investment on research and
development as well as engineering activities is vitally significant
for the Group to maintain and improve its leadership position in
the industry. It would contribute greatly to the improvement of
the Group’s competitiveness over other competitors. Meanwhile,
the automotive industry keeps evolving. To keep pace with our
customers, the Group will endeavor to collaborate closely with the
vehicle manufacturers and develop innovative solutions to better
serve our customers.

The Group will aim to maintain a solid and healthy growth and
development. Despite the continued pricing pressure from customers
and the increase in commodity prices, the Group is capable of
maintaining its gross profit margin at a reasonable level. While the
future prospects remain challenging, the Group is confident that
it will be able to maintain a sustainable business development in
the long run. With a view to improve long-term profitability and
shareholders’ value, the Company will seriously evaluate and review
the business of the Group, and optimize the business structure of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 2,200
(2022: 2,070) employees. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the total employees’ cost was HK$520.8 million (2022:
HK$442.5 million). Remuneration packages of the employees are
determined by reference to the qualifications and experience of the
employee concerned and are reviewed annually by the management
with reference to market conditions and individual performance.
The Group offers a comprehensive and competitive remuneration,
retirement scheme and benefit package to its employees.
Discretionary bonus is offered to the Group’s staff depending on their
performance. The Group has defined benefit pension plans covering
substantially all of its qualified employees in Poland, France and
Germany. The Group has also adopted a mandatory provident fund
scheme as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for its employees in
Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to safeguard the interests of all
shareholders and enhancing accountability and transparency.

CORPORATE OBJECTIVE, VALUE AND STRATEGY

The Board leads to establish, promote and continually reinforce the
desired corporate culture of the Group which is underpinned by our
corporate values of committing highest standard of business ethics
and integrity. The Board oversight of culture encompasses a range
of measures and tools over time, including workforce engagement,
employee retention and training, stringent financial reporting,
effective and accessible whistleblowing framework, legal and
regulatory compliance, as well as staff safety, well-being and support.

For detailed information about the Group’s objective, value and
strategy, please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in the
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) during the financial year ended 31 December
2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(@) Composition
The Board currently comprises a total of six Directors, being
three Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The list of Directors is set out in the section headed
“Report of the Directors” in this annual report. An updated list
of the Directors and their roles and functions is published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(@) Composition (continued)

The Board is characterised by diversity and has a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of
the business of the Company. The Directors’ biographical
information is set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. All Directors are required to disclose to the
Company at the time of their appointments and annually the
number and the nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments with an
indication of the time involved.

Save for those as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” as set out on page
4 to page 10 of this annual report, the Board members have
no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other.

The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and
Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) so that there is a sufficient independent element
on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

The Non-executive Directors are of sufficient number and
calibre for their views to carry weight. The functions of Non-
executive Directors include:

e bringing an independent judgement at Board meetings;

e taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

e serving on Board committees if invited; and

e scrutinising the Company’s performance and monitoring
performance reporting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(@

(b)

(0

Composition (continued)

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) have made a positive contribution to the
development of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments. They give
the Board and the committees on which they serve the benefit
of their skills, expertise, varied backgrounds and qualifications
through regular attendance and active participation.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the Independent
Non-executive Directors are identified, in all corporate
communications to shareholders.

Role and function of the Board and the management
The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and
performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-
day operations of the Company to the Executive Committee
and senior management within the control and authority
framework set by the Board. The Board has reviewed
those arrangements periodically to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the Company’s needs. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly and holds at least four Board
meetings a year. Additional meetings will be arranged, if and
when required. The Directors can attend meetings in person
or through electronic means of communication in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting. Draft agenda of each regular
Board meeting will be sent to all Directors for review before
the agenda is issued and all Directors may request for inclusion
of other matters in the agenda. The Chairman will take into
account the matters proposed by the Directors and where
appropriate, approve the inclusion of such matters in the agenda
of the Board meeting. Generally, at least 14-day notice of a
regular Board meeting is given and the Company aims at giving
reasonable notice for all other Board meetings. The Company
also aims at sending the agenda and the accompanying board
papers, which are prepared in a form and quality sufficient to
enable the Board to make informed decisions on matters placed
before it, to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended
date of a Board meeting. Where queries are raised by Directors,
prompt and full responses will be given if possible.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(0

(d)

Board meetings (continued)

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings, draft and final
versions of which would be sent to Directors for comments
and records respectively, within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views (if any) expressed.
Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by
any Director/committee member.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter (including material transaction with connected
persons) which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting, rather
than a written resolution. Independent Non-executive Directors
who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in
the transaction should be present at that Board meeting.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, a Director shall not vote
on any Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement
or any other proposal in which he/she or any of his/her close
associates (or associates where the transaction or arrangement is
a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules)
has a material interest nor shall he be counted in the quorum
present at the meeting.

Attendance records

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the
Directors have made active contribution to the affairs of the
Group and four physical Board meetings were held to consider
various projects contemplated by the Group, as well as to
review and approve the interim results and final results of the
Group.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(d) Attendance records (continued)

Annual Report 2023

TEERBRE @)

EExg(@
(d) HERC s (&)

(e)

Details of the Directors’ attendances in 2023 are as follows:

EER T =FHHERENT

Number of
meeting(s)
attended/eligible
to attend
HEEERE
BEREE
BERY
Executive Directors HITEE
Dong Xiaojie (Chairman) RIR (&) 4/4
Chang Ket Leong" iRm0 /1
Zheng Jianwei® BER 11
Chen Zhouping® [RAFO 3/3
Non-executive Director FHITEF
Li Zhi® F OB 3/3
Independent Non-executive Directors BILIHTEE
Tam King Ching, Kenny BEIE 4/4
Chan Pat Lam BRAB AR 4/4
Wong Foreky® M N/AA i 3
Yip Kin Man, Raymond® HERgRo 4/4
V" Appointed on 28 July 2023. O RZBZ=FHATN\BEZE-
2 Appointed on 2 August 2023. O RZBZ=FN\R-_REZE-
3 Resigned as Director with effect from 13 July 2023. O BZE-_=F+tA+=-HEBHIEE -

Resigned as Director with effect from 2 August 2023.
Appointed on 18 March 2024.
Resigned as Director with effect from 10 February 2024.

5 G 2 & B =

G

Access to information

The Board is supplied with sufficient explanation and
information by the management to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of financial and other information put
before it for approval. The management provides all Board
members with monthly updates which give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient details to enable the
Directors to discharge their duties. Where any Director requires
more information than is volunteered by the management, each
Director has the right to separately and independently access to
the Company’s senior management to make further enquiries if
necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(f) Procedures for Directors to seek independent

professional advice

There has been procedure in place to enable Directors to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to, upon
reasonable request, provide separate independent professional
advice to Directors to assist them in performing their duties to
the Company.

Directors who intend to seek independent professional advice
on any matters during the performance of his/her duties as a
Director shall give prior written notice to the Company Secretary
containing (i) a summary of issues on which advice is sought; (ii)
the reasons for such request; and (iii) the proposed independent
advisor, if any, from which the advice is to be obtained. The
Company Secretary shall forward a copy of the notice to the
Chairman and obtain the approval from the Chairman. The
Chairman may prescribe a reasonable limit on the amount
of the cost relating to the advice. If the Chairman does not
consider the request for independent advice to be reasonable or
the proposed independent advisor to be appropriate, the matter
shall be fed back to the Director who seeks for independent
professional advice. If the matter cannot be resolved between
the Chairman and the Director concerned, it shall be referred
to a committee comprising all the Independent Non-executive
Directors other than the Director concerned, as the case may
be (the “Independent Committee”). The matter shall be decided
by the simple majority of the Independent Committee. The
Company Secretary shall then make necessary arrangements
for appointment of an independent advisor and inform the
Board of the arrangements. Any advice obtained from the
independent advisor shall be made available to the full Board
by the Company Secretary. Any discussion of, or decision on,
the relevant subject, as the case may be, shall be delayed until
the Board has received the independent advices.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(g) Board diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 27 January 2014 which sets out its
approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company. During the year, the Board Diversity Policy was
reviewed to meet the requirement of such policy be reviewed at

least annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into account factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that

the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy is posted on the website of the

Company.

Pursuant to the new requirements under the Rule 13.92 under
the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2022,
the Company will have to appoint at least one female Director
on the Board no later than 31 December 2024. The Board will
strive to look for suitable candidate(s) in accordance with the
director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) and the
Board Diversity Policy and appoint new director(s) to join the

Board no later than 31 December 2024.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take steps to
promote diversity at all levels of its workforce. The Group
provides equal opportunity to all employees and does not
discriminate on the grounds of gender, race, age, nationality,
religion, sexual orientation, disability, and any other aspects
of diversity. As of 31 December 2023, our total workforce

comprised 69.6% male and 30.4% female.

Further details on the gender ratio of the Group can be found in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page 84

of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(h) Nomination, appointment and re-election of Directors
Recommendation of candidates for directorship of the Company
is a matter for consideration by the Nomination Committee.
The Company adopted the Nomination Policy on 11 December
2018 and updated on 30 June 2022 which sets out the
nomination procedures and the process and the criteria to select
and recommend candidates for directorship.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should consider the
certain criteria including but not limited to:

e character and integrity;

e qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, as well as
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company;

e any potential contributions that the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity; and

e willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

As regards the nomination process, the Nomination Committee
should review the biographical information of the candidate
and evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out in the Nomination Policy to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. If the process yields
one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee
should rank them by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company. After reviewing the suitable candidates, the
Nomination Committee should make recommendation to
the Board for appointment of the appropriate candidate for
directorship.

For re-election of Directors at general meeting, the
Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules before making
recommendations to the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(h)

@i

Nomination, appointment and re-election of Directors
(continued)

According to the Articles, any Director so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Board, only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment, and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such general meeting.
Every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

All Directors (including all Non-executive Directors) have
entered into service agreements or letters of engagement with
the Company for a term of not more than three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

As announced by the Company dated 14 February 2024,
Mr. Yip Kin Man, Raymond resigned as the Independent
Non-executive Director and ceased to be the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and the member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Following the
resignation of Mr. Yip Kin Man, Raymond, the Board has two
Independent Non-executive Directors only and failed to meet
the requirements of (a) at least three independent non-executive
directors on the Board under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules;
(b) Audit Committee comprising only Non-executive Directors
with a minimum of three members under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules; and (c) Remuneration Committee chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director.

Following the appointment of Mr. Wong Foreky on 18 March
2024, the Board has three Independent Non-executive
Directors. As a result, the number of Independent Non-
executive Directors meets with the requirements under Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules. Since Mr. Wong has been appointed
as the member of the Audit Committee and the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company, the Company
is in compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.25 of the Listing Rules.
Mr. Wong Foreky obtained legal advice on 15 March 2024
from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law
as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to him as a director of the Company and the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false
information to the Stock Exchange. For details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 14 February 2024
and 18 March 2024 respectively.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

@i

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)
Pursuant to Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, one of the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the number
of Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
represents not less than one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers
that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

Any re-election of an independent non-executive director
who has served the board for more than nine years, his/her
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders. The papers to shareholders
accompanying that resolution should state why the Board (or
the nomination committee) believes that the Director is still
independent and should be re-elected, including the factors
considered, the process and the discussion of the Board (or
the nomination committee) in arriving at such determination.
Commencing on or after 1 January 2023, when all the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have
served more than nine years on the Board, the Company should
disclose the length of tenure of each existing Independent
Non-executive Director on a named basis in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the annual general meeting and appoint a new
Independent Non-executive Director on the Board at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

()

(k)

Insurance for directors’ and officers’ liability
Appropriate insurance covering directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of
the Group.

Directors’ training and professional development
Newly appointed Directors will be given a director’s induction
kit containing general information on the Company’s
structure, key policies of the Company, role and responsibility
of Directors and introduction of regulatory requirements.
Directors are continually updated on the latest development
of the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practice. Directors are also encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company Secretary facilitates
induction and professional development of Directors and the
Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(k) Directors’ training and professional development
(continued)
All Directors have provided to the Company their records of
training received during the financial year ended 31 December
2023, a summary of which is as follows:

=
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Continuous professional development

BEEXERE
Type (Note 1) Subject (Note 1)
Directors = ‘g P
Dong Xiaojie RPAR A 1,4
B 1,4
Chang Ket Leong™” 20 A 1,4
B 1,4
Zheng Jianwei® (R A 1,4
B 1,4
Tam King Ching, Kenny BHRIE A 1,2
B 1,4
Chan Pat Lam BRABAK A 1
B 1,4
Wong Foreky® mEHES N/ATTiE A N/ANE A
Chen Zhouping® BRAFF @ A 1
B 1,4
Li Zhi® £ A 1
B 1,4
Yip Kin Man, Raymond® ERRo A 1
B 1,3, 4
™ Appointed on 28 July 2023. O RZTZ=FtA-t+\BEZEE-
@ Appointed on 2 August 2023. O RZBZ=FN\AZBEEE-
® Appointed on 18 March 2024. O RZB-NF=A+N\BEZRE-
@ Resigned as Director with effect from 13 July 2023. W AZE_=Ft+A+=HEREEES-
% Resigned as Director with effect from 2 August 2023. o BZE_=FN\A_RAREBRTES-
®  Resigned as Director with effect from 10 February 2024. O BT NFE_A+BHREEES -
Note I: il
A:  Attending seminars, conferences, forums, in-house briefings or A HEWFE 2% wE- APETERR
in-house training szl

B:  Reading newspapers, journals and updates

Note Il:

1:  Laws, rules and regulations

2:  Finance, accounting or taxation

3:  Management

4:  Businesses relating to the Company
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CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

The roles of Chairman and General Manager are separate and
exercised by different individuals to reinforce their independence
and accountability. Mr. Dong Xiaojie is the Chairman and Mr. Xi
Jianpeng serves as the General Manager of the Company to fill
vacancy when Mr. Chen Zhouping, the former Managing Director
of the Company has resigned. The Chairman provides leadership for
the Board and ensures that the Board works effectively and performs
its responsibilities. The General Manager has overall chief executive
responsibility for the Group’s business development and day-to-day
management generally. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the General Manager is clearly established and set out
in writing.

The responsibilities of the Chairman include, amongst other things:

e taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established;

e ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings, and ensuring that Directors receive, in a
timely manner, adequate information which must be accurate,
clear, complete and reliable;

e encouraging all Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead to ensure that the
Board acts in the best interest of the Company;

e encouraging Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allowing sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensuring that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus;

e ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communications with shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

e promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of Non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and
Non-executive Directors.

During the year, the Chairman met with the Independent Non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following committees to oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the
execution of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their
own terms of reference. All resolutions passed by the committees
will be reported to the Board at the next Board meeting.

(@) Executive Committee
An Executive Committee of the Board was established in
January 2014 with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of
reference of the Executive Committee are posted on the website
of the Company.

The Executive Committee has been conferred with the general
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved
for the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the
Group and has been assigned with the responsibilities to
perform the corporate governance duties as follows:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

e toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e  toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Group’s
employees and Directors;

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

e to conform to any requirement, direction, regulation that
may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitution of the Company or imposed
by legislation.

The Executive Committee comprises all Executive Directors of
the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(@

(b)

Executive Committee (continued)

During the year, four physical meetings of the Executive
Committee were held. Amongst those meetings, one meeting
was held for the purpose of performing the corporate
governance duties and the attendances of the members of the
Executive Committee at that meeting are as follows:
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Number of

meeting(s)

attended/eligible

to attend

HESERE

EERLE

Committee members ZEBRE BB
Dong Xiaojie (chairman of the committee) RIK(ZEESEE) 4/4
Chang Ket Leong™” R0 3/3
Zheng Jianwei® BERE 3/3
Chen Zhouping® PR AL 1/1

@ Appointed on 28 July 2023.
@ Appointed on 2 August 2023.
@ Ceased to be a committee member with effect from 13 July 2023.

The major work in relation to the corporate governance of the
Group performed by the Executive Committee during the year
included, amongst other things, the following:

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Audit Committee

An Audit Committee of the Board was established in January
2014 with specific written terms of reference which deal
clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, amongst
other things:

e overseeing the relationship with the Company’s auditor;
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(b) Audit Committee (continued)

e making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor;

e reviewing the interim and annual financial statements;

e reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems; and

e reviewing the arrangements that employees of the
Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate
any activity within its terms of reference and the authority to
obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice,
at the Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if it
considers necessary. It is given access to and assistance from
the employees and reasonable resources to perform its duties

properly.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is an Independent Non-
executive Director and the Audit Committee comprises all
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. None of
the members of the Audit Committee are former partners of the
auditor of the Company.

During the year, three physical meetings of the Audit Committee
were held and the attendances of the members of the Audit
Committee are as follows:
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Number of

meeting(s)

attended/eligible

to attend

HEEBRRE

SEREE

Committee members ZEERE ERRE

Tam King Ching, Kenny (chairman of the committee) ERE(ZESEE) 3/3

Chan Pat Lam BRABAR 3/3

Wong Foreky” mRHED N/ATNE

Yip Kin Man, Raymond® R 3/3

™ Appointed as committee member on 18 March 2024. O RZBZNE=ZA+N\BEZERZE
AB@E ;

@ Resigned as a committee member with effect from 10 @ AT MF-A+HERERESEK

E o

February 2024.



42

BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(b)

(0

Audit Committee (continued)
The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the
year included, amongst other things, the following:

e reviewing the final results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022;

* reviewing the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2023;

e reviewing the reports on the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group prepared by an independent
advisory firm; and

e making recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of the external auditor.

During the year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

A Nomination Committee of the Board was established in
January 2014 with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

e  reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board
and making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors;
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(c) Nomination Committee (continued)

e  assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors;

e reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and
reviewing the measurable objectives that have been set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and reviewing
the progress on achieving the objectives; and

e reviewing the Nomination Policy, including to review
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
to select and recommend candidates for directorship, as
appropriate.

Where vacancies exist at the Board, candidates are proposed
and put forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will
then be tendered to the Board for approval. In considering the
nomination of a new Director, the Nomination Committee will
give adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and
the Nomination Policy, and take into account the qualification,
ability, working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates. In determining the independence of
Directors, the Board follows the requirements set out in the
Listing Rules.

The Board Diversity Policy is posted on the website of the
Company. For further details of the Nomination Policy, please
refer to the sub-section headed “Nomination, appointment and
re-election of Directors” under “Board of Directors” section in
this report.

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any
necessary information from the employees within its scope
of duties and the authority to obtain outside independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its
responsibilities if it considers necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c) Nomination Committee (continued)
The chairman of the Nomination Committee is the Chairman of
the Board and the Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company constitute the majority of the Nomination Committee.

During the year, one physical meeting of the Nomination

(c) ?E% ?E%(%ﬁ)
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RBRBERRITRER EAZ

FA £
Committee were held and the attendances of the members of EgXKENHFELSINT
the Nomination Committee are as follows:

Number of
meeting(s)
attended/eligible
to attend
HESERE
EEREE
Committee members EZEERE YN
Dong Xiaojie (chairman of the committee) RN (EEEFE) 1/1
Tam King Ching, Kenny el 11
Chan Pat Lam PR AAAR 11
Wong Foreky” =R N/ANE A
Li Zhi? £o 11
Yip Kin Man, Raymond® ERRe 11

" Appointed as committee member on 18 March 2024.

@ Ceased to be a committee member with effect from 2 August 2023.
® Resigned as a committee member with effect from 10 February
2024.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(c) Nomination Committee (continued)

(d)

The major work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year included, amongst other things, the following:

assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors;

considering and making recommendations to the Board on
the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting
and extraordinary general meeting;

reviewing the structure and composition of the Board with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board; and

considering and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment of Mr. Chang Ket Leong and Mr. Zheng
Jianwei as Executive Directors of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

A Remuneration Committee of the Board was established in
January 2014 with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management of the Group;

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Company’s goals and
objectives;

determining, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors
and senior management and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(d)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

e reviewing and approving compensation payable to
Executive Directors and senior management and
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct;

e ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;

e reviewing the Director Remuneration Policy, including to
review the general principle on determining remuneration
of the Directors, as appropriate; and

e reviewing and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman of the
Board and/or the General Manager of the Group about their
remuneration proposals for other Executive Directors. It has
explicit authority to seek any necessary information from the
employees within its scope of duties and the authority to obtain
outside independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The Company adopted a director remuneration policy (the
“Remuneration Policy”) on 30 June 2022 which sets out the
general principle on determining remuneration of the Directors.

According to the Remuneration Policy, remuneration for all
Directors shall be reviewed annually with reference to other
companies of comparable business or scale. In reviewing the
salary of Executive Directors, the Remuneration Committee
should make decisions with reference to the then prevailing
market conditions, the performance of the Company and the
performance of individual Directors. In reviewing the director’s
fee of Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors, the Remuneration Committee should take into
consideration of the experience and duties of such Director as
well as the then prevailing market conditions.

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is an
Independent Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company constitute the majority of
the Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) EEeBETZES (@)
(d) Remuneration Committee (continued) d) FMZES(E)
During the year, one physical meeting of the Remuneration FA - HFHEEGLRITRE: ES
Committee were held and the attendances of the members of EgXKENHFELSINT
the Remuneration Committee are as follows:
Number of
meeting(s)
attended/eligible
to attend
HESBIE
EEREE
Committee members ZEERE = N
Wong Foreky™ (chairman of the committee) ERMEON(ZE S FE/E) N/AT 3 F
Dong Xiaojie R/IR 11
Tam King Ching, Kenny B IE 11
Chan Pat Lam PR AR AR 1/1
Yip Kin Man, Raymond® ERRe /1

@ Appointed as chairman of the committee on 18 March 2024.

@ Resigned as a committee member with effect from10 February
2024.

The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year included, amongst other things, the following:

e considering, reviewing and determining the remuneration
of the Executive Directors of the Company for the year
2024;

e considering the bonuses of the Executive Directors of the
Company for the year 2023;

e considering, reviewing and approving the terms of
Executive Directors’ service contracts;

e making recommendations to the Board on the director’s
fee of the Non-executive Directors of the Company for the
year 2024;

e considering and determining the director fee of each of Mr.
Chang Ket Leong and Mr. Zheng Jianwei, the Executive
Directors appointed during the year;

e considering, reviewing and approving the terms of General
Manager’s service contract;

e considering and determining the salary of Mr. Xi Jianpeng,
the General Manager of the Company appointed during
the year; and

e considering and determining the ex-gratia payment to Mr.
Chen Zhouping, the Executive Director resigned during the
year.

Details of remuneration paid to Directors and senior
management for the year are set out in Note 9 to the financial
statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible
for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the General
Manager of the Company on corporate governance and the
implementation of the CG Code. The Company Secretary is an
employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group's affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the General
Manager. All Directors also have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed. The selection,
appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary is subject to
the Board approval.

Mr. Leung Wai Hung has been appointed as the Company Secretary
of the Company since 11 April 2022. He has confirmed that he has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledged that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems.

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of the
CG Code by maintaining appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while
the Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, oversees the
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
described in the sections below.

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risks associated with its businesses and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

e Identification: ldentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that may affect the achievement of objectives.

*  Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

*  Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL [\ Bex B 1 % A B EE 4 (48)
(continued)
Risk Management System (continued)

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2023, the details of

B EE R4 (E)
RE—T-_=FETZARNE - ARERRER

significant risks and the relevant risk responses are highlighted as

KRR R BT R FEHRANT

follow:
Risk Category Risk Title Risk Description Risk Response
L3 3 5 Nt 2B EREH TR

Operational risk

)

[\ B2

Inflation risk and
currency risk

BARER M EEE R

While each subsidiary maintained
their book in their local currency,
due to the business nature of
the Company, most of the time
subsidiaries receive their revenue
denominated in the principal
place of business of the customers,
often abroad in Europe or the
United States.

The annual inflation rate by
the end of 2023 for European
Union was 3.4%. For the annual
inflation rate for US, it was 3.4%
by the end of 2023. Though
pressure of inflation is not as
immense comparatively, in return
it may affect the purchasing
power of customers. The inflation
will also drives rising market
price of materials and other
expenses, including energy bill.
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In order to minimize the impact
of foreign exchange on the
subsidiaries’ profitability, the
Company has adopted the general
practice to all foreign subsidiaries
of trying to match their purchases
with their sales, and buy direct
materials in the same receiving
currency to the payment from
customers.

In response to the inflation
situation, the subsidiaries have paid
particular attention when entering
into commercial negotiations, on
both the purchase side and the
sales side, inserting certain clauses
in the contract and transferring part
of the risks to the counterparty.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

Risk Category
R\ B 38 B

Risk Title
BkATE
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Risk Description

2R B i o

Risk Response

B B S =

Operational risk

Dependence on
suppliers over
production
schedule

Among the current suppliers
profile of European subsidiaries
in general, certain suppliers adds
up to take up as most as around
90% of the current market
share. Therefore the subsidiaries
are highly dependent over the
relevant suppliers in completing
the purchase order. In case the
relevant suppliers are unable
to deliver orders within the
designated timetable, it may
result in the subsidiaries needing
to delay the production schedule.

Due to the exclusiveness of
certain suppliers, the subsidiaries
may fail to obtain competitive
quotations from various suppliers
before deciding on purchases,
which may lead to lack of
commercial bargaining power of
the subsidiaries and may result in
decrease in profitability.

There has been weekly meeting
in each manufacturing plant
to keep track of all production
schedules and cost situation.
Throughout the year, no major
distortion to production schedule
has been observed.

In regards to the over-reliance of
certain suppliers, the subsidiaries
have strived to maintain a clear
and transparent communication
with the customer side when
entering into sales contracts
involving direct materials from
exclusive suppliers.

Good relationship has also been
maintained with all suppliers to
help with matching production
schedule.

In case of contingency situations,
e.g. shortage of certain materials
in the market, the R&D team
can also suggest substitute
for relevant materials to the
production team.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Risk Management System (continued)
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Risk Category Risk Title Risk Description Risk Response
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

The management has established risk management framework to
identify risks, setting risk aptitudes and develop risk responses plans.
The management will review the framework regularly to ascertain
the effectiveness of the risk management process. The management
will also actively identify, report and discuss the risk responses
based on the dynamic economic environment and uncertainties.
In addition, the management will also establish mechanisms to
identify environmental changes and analyze the related risks and
opportunities.

Internal Control Systems

The Board is responsible for overall ensuring, maintaining and
overseeing the internal control systems of the Group. The Executive
Committee assists the Board to discharge its responsibilities of
ensuring and maintaining appropriate and effective internal control
functions by continuously reviewing and monitoring the internal
control systems and processes so as to ensure that they can manage
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss of the
Group.

The internal control systems of the Group are embedded within
the business processes so that they function as an integral part
of the overall operations of the Group. The systems comprise a
comprehensive organization structure with assignment of definite
accountabilities and delegation of the corresponding authorities to
each post. Based on the organization structure, a reporting system
has been developed which includes a reporting system from division
head of each principal business unit to the Executive Committee.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control Systems (continued)

The Company has in place internal control systems which are
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The main
components of the framework are shown as follows:

e Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Policies and procedures to help ensure that
the management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement
of objectives are carried out.

e [nformation and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of the internal control systems is
present and functioning.

The Board considers that it is an ongoing and continuous process
for the Group to review and improve its internal control systems
in order to ensure that they can meet with the dynamic and ever-
changing business environment. During the year under review, the
Board has reviewed, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and is not
aware of any significant issues that would have an adverse impact on
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. Also, based on the internal control
reviews conducted in 2023, no significant control deficiency was
identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Audit

The Group has outsourced the internal audit work to SHINEWING
Risk Services Limited (“SHINEWING”), which is one of the
professional internal audit services provider in Hong Kong.
SHINEWING is independent of the Group’s daily operations and
carry out appraisal of the risk management and internal control
systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of
operating effectiveness.

According to the established plan, review of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually and the results
are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness
of these systems has been conducted annually. Several areas have
been considered during the Board’s review, which include but not
limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks
since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment; and (ii) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and
of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its review, together with the review made by the
Audit Committee and the work done by SHINEWING, concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. In respect
of accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions of
the Company, the Board also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff and SHINEWING
were adequate and the training programs and budget provided were
sufficient.
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INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company adopted an inside information disclosure policy (the
“Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) on 21 December 2015
which sets out the procedures for the handling and dissemination
of inside information with a view to preventing uneven, inadvertent
or selective dissemination of inside information and ensuring
shareholders and the public are provided with full, accurate and
timely information about the activities and the financial condition
of the Group. The Inside Information Disclosure Policy covers the
following:

e setting out the processes for identifying, assessing and escalating
potential inside information to the Board;

e setting out the responsibilities of officers in preserving the
confidentiality of inside information, escalating upwards any
such potential information and cascading down the message
and responsibilities to relevant staff; and

e identifying who are the Company’s authorized spokespersons
and their responsibilities for communications with stakeholders
of the Company.

In addition, the Company has communicated to all relevant staff
regarding the implementation of the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s existing measures are
effective and appropriate compliance mechanisms to safeguard the
Company and its officers in discharging their disclosure obligations
in respect of inside information.

The Inside Information Disclosure Policy is posted on the website of
the Company.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In line with the commitment to achieve and maintain high standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Company expects
and encourages employees of the Group and those who deal with
the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, consultants and agents) to
report to the Company any suspected impropriety, misconduct or
malpractice concerning the Group. In this regard, the Company has
adopted the whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”)
on 24 January 2014 and further updated on 30 June 2022. The
procedures aim to provide reporting channels and guidance on
reporting possible improprieties. The Board delegated the authority
to the Audit Committee, which is responsible for ensuring that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation of
any matters raised and appropriate follow-up actions are taken.

The Whistleblowing Policy and the whistleblowing report form are
posted on the website of the Company.

ANTI-FRAUD & ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

In its business dealings, the Group does not tolerate any form of
bribery, whether direct or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers,
employees, agents or consultants or any persons or companies acting
for it or on its behalf. The Company adopted an anti-fraud & anti-
bribery policy (the “Anti-Fraud Policy”) on 30 June 2022, which
outlines the Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and
corruption, assists employees in recognising circumstance which
may lead to or give the appearance of being involved in corruption
or unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such conduct which is
clearly prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance where necessary.

The Anti-Fraud Policy is posted on the website of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) of the
Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’
securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

Employees who are likely to possess inside information in relation
to the Company or its shares are required to prohibit from dealing in
shares of the Company during the black-out period.
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(continued)

AUDITORS” REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s
auditors, Ernst & Young (“EY”)" and PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC”)?, is set out as follows:

TECCZEFR mAEIEBRERAA 57

TEERRE @

BB =
FREXN/ BN TARARREML K HE
B (=K ORI GES AP ([T
RAGE]) PR FHHIT

HK$’000

Services rendered FriR iR %% FET

Audit services (PwC) EET R GRERUKE) 1,933
Non-statutory audit services: IPEE TR IRTS -

— Interim review (EY) — Hp EAER B (%K) 1,385

" Resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 10 November
2023.

@ Appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from 10 November
2023.

The remuneration paid/payable to the other external auditors for the
annual audit services for two of the Group’s subsidiaries during the
year was HK$178,000.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and in presenting the
annual and interim reports and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, the Directors aim to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects.

The statement of the auditor of the Company, PwC, about its
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
119 to 128 of this annual report.
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(continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
To foster effective communications with the shareholders, the
Company provides extensive information in its annual and interim

reports and announcements. All shareholders’ communications are

also available on the Company’s website at www.bwi-intl.com.hk.

(@)

(b)

Shareholders” Communication Policy

On 27 January 2014, the Board adopted a shareholders’
communication policy (the “Shareholders’” Communication
Policy”) reflecting the current practices of the Company for
communication with its shareholders. It will be reviewed on
an annual basis. Such policy aims at ensuring the shareholders
of the Company are provided with ready, equal and timely
access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company, in order to enable shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner, and to allow shareholders to
engage actively with the Company. During the year, the Board
has reviewed the Shareholders” Communication Policy and
continued its effectiveness.

General meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
All Directors will make an effort to attend. External auditor
is also available at the annual general meeting to address
shareholders’ queries. In case of any general meeting to
approve a connected transaction or any other transaction that is
subject to independent shareholders” approval, members of the
independent Board committee will also make an effort to attend
to address shareholders’ queries.

During the year, the annual general meeting was held on 25
May 2023 (the “2023 AGM”).
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(continued)
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS BERRNEBER(E)
(continued)
(b) General meeting (continued) (b) BRERKE (&)
The auditor of the Company, EY", attended the 2023 AGM. RARMRBRLZ K ERET —E=FRK

Details of the Directors’ attendances at the general meetings RBFRE - EFNARRFARARTHRRE
held during the year are as follows: ARENHFEZHEAT
2023 AGM
—E-=
Directors S RRBFKE
Executive Directors BITEF
Dong Xiaojie (Chairman) RNR(ERE) v
Chang Ket Leong®? Rz N/A i A
Zheng Jianwei® 2R N/A i
Chen Zhouping® BRAY @ v
Non-executive Director FHTEF
Li Zhi® F B v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEF
Tam King Ching, Kenny BRI v
Chan Pat Lam BRAAPR v
Wong Foreky® =R N/A TNE R
Yip Kin Man, Raymond” EER? v

" Resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 10
November 2023.

Appointed on 28 July 2023.

Appointed on 2 August 2023.

Resigned as Director with effect from 13 July 2023.

Resigned as Director with effect from 2 August 2023.

Appointed on 18 March 2024.

Resigned as Director with effect from 10 February 2024.

G N R =

s

During the year, all notice(s) of general meeting(s) despatched
by the Company to its shareholders for meeting(s) held were
sent for annual general meeting at least 21 clear days before
the meeting and for all extraordinary general meeting(s) at least
14 clear days before the meeting(s). Separate resolutions were
proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors, and all
resolutions put to the vote of a general meeting were taken
by way of a poll. At the general meeting, the chairman of the
meeting explained the procedures for conducting a poll and
answered questions from shareholders on voting by poll, if any.
The results of the poll were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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(continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)

(c) Dividend Policy
The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 11 December 2018 which set out the principles
and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of
the Company.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. In respect of recommendation or declaration of
any dividend, the Board should ensure that the Company can
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value
on an ongoing basis.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors
of the Company and its subsidiaries when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

e financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e future operations and earnings;

e capital requirements and expenditure plans;

e interests of shareholders;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Save for the factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, the Board
must also comply with the Articles and all applicable laws and
regulations before declaration and distribution of any dividends
to the shareholders of the Company at its discretion.
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(continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(@

(b)

Convene an extraordinary general meeting and put
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions under the Companies Act (as revised)
of the Cayman Islands allowing shareholders to propose new
resolutions at general meetings.

However, pursuant to the Articles, any one or more member(s)
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis,
of the Company at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business or resolution specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene
a physical meeting, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our principal
office in Hong Kong or by email to our Company. In addition,
shareholders can contact Tricor Investor Services Limited, the
share registrar of the Company, if they have any enquiries
about their shareholdings and entitlement to dividend. Relevant
contact details are set out on page 3 of this annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE REPORT

BeijingWest Industries International Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group” or “We”) are pleased to present our
environmental, social and governance report (the “ESG Report”).
The ESG Report summarises the efforts and achievements made
by the Group in corporate social responsibility and sustainable
development. As for the information on corporate governance,
please refer to the corporate governance report on pages 62 to 97 of
this annual report.

Scope of the Report

The ESG Report covers the business segment of the Group, namely,
manufacturing and sales of auto parts, focusing on the operation
of the production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland, and
the United Kingdom as well as the technical centre in Poland.
The reporting boundary is set with the considerations of the scale
of operations of production facilities and technical centre and
the significance of their environmental and social impacts. Our
sustainability approach and performance in the environmental and
social aspects of our business for the reporting period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Year”) are presented in the ESG
Report. The Group continues to strengthen information collection in
order to enhance the performance in environmental domains and to
disclose relative information on sustainable development.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” set out
in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules. The ESG Report has complied
with all mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply or explain”
provisions.

Reporting Principles

Materiality

Material issues are identified and prioritised according to a
materiality assessment conducted through stakeholder engagement.
The key issues shall be utilised as reference for determining goals,
developing various strategies and compiling the ESG Report.
Relevant methodologies shall be disclosed in “About the Group”
section below.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Reporting Principles (continued)

Quantitative

The Group’s ESG performance shall be reflected by the disclosure
of environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”).
Particular standards, methodologies, assumptions and references
adopted shall be presented in respective sections in the ESG Report.

Consistency

The methodologies of KPI calculations shall be kept consistent as far
as practicable. Any changes made would be presented and explained
in detail in respective sections in the ESG Report.

Feedback

We welcome your feedback and your opinions will be highly valued.
Should you have any advice or suggestions on the ESG report, please
contact us at info@bwi-intl.com.hk.

ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group principally engages in the manufacture and sale of
automotive parts and components, trading of automotive parts and
components and the provision of technical services. The Group’s
automotive suspension products are mainly for premium passenger
vehicles, which are manufactured by our plants in Europe. Through
developing and maintaining a strong relationship with the major
customers, the Group well understands the technical requirements
of the customers and has expertise in the manufacturing process for
premium passenger vehicles.

Being a responsible enterprise with businesses in different countries,
the Group and its employees are subject to the laws and regulations
of the countries where it operates, as well as the requirements and
standards of the industry.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)

Board Statement

The Group considers that excellent ESG governance strategies or
initiatives are inextricably linked with the stable enhancement of
investment values, facilitating the sustainability of long-term returns
to shareholders. The Board acknowledges the responsibility of
sustaining the ESG governance structure and it is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s execution of ESG-related matters, including
evaluating ESG risks. The Board reviews, assesses and monitors
how ESG strategies cooperate among business divisions. The Board
shall continue to review, discuss and seek improvements for better
compilation of the ESG Report.

The Board is responsible for concerning and executing the
stakeholder engagement to assemble views from various perspectives
through questionnaires for a comprehensive materiality assessment.
To facilitate independence, we have invited third-party ESG
professionals to help analyse, evaluate and prioritise the significant
ESG issues of the Group’s business. The Board also provides several
stakeholder engagement channels for better communication. The
Board keeps track of emerging market trends and closely follows the
latest international trends relating to ESG-related issues which may
potentially impact the business operations of the Group. Accordingly,
the Board shall make timely adjustments to business operations, and
monitor and review the compliance status of ESG-related laws and
regulations enacted by external governing/regulatory parties.

The ESG achievements are presented to our stakeholders annually
through the ESG Report. The Board shall consider all opinions
received and keep seeking improvement in ESG strategies to achieve
our ultimate sustainable goals.

Annual Report 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)

Stakeholder Engagement

During the preparation of the ESG report for the Year, the Group
engaged an independent third-party consultant to assist in gathering
opinions from its internal key stakeholders on ESG issues. The
opinions received enabled us to improve our internal management
while enhancing the quality of the ESG Report. Therefore, the Group
attaches great importance to stakeholders’ opinions and takes their
opinions as the basis for its formulation and implementation of
short-term and long-term sustainability strategies. Through a wide
range of channels, we strive to communicate with stakeholders and
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understand their requirements and expectations so as to further

improve our ESG performance.

Stakeholders
&

Requirements and Expectations
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Means of Communication and Response

BERDERE

Governments and
Regulators
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Shareholders
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Compliance with national policies, laws
and regulations
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Drive local employment

HEE B E

Tax payment in full and on time

2N ERHH

Ensure production safety

BREELZR

Returns

el ¥R

Compliant operations
BTEERTE

Company value enhancement
REAFREE

Transparency and effective
communication

BERBERERERER

Regular information reporting
EHHEEA

Dedicated reports

HE®RE

Examinations and inspections
BEREE

Safety Metrics

REET

Stakeholder conferences
F % B
Announcements
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Email, telephone communication and
company website

B BEABLARML
Dedicated reports
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ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (continued)

Stakeholders

Requirements and Expectations

Annual Report 2023
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Means of Communication and Response

B0E ERRIME BEREERE
Partners e Operation with integrity Discussion and exchange of opinions
BIERH SRS ARk RRE R
e Equal Rivalry Review and appraisal meetings
ATHP B R g
e Performance of contracts Engagement and cooperation
BITEH BARABE
e Mutual benefits and win-win result
EEENRERER
Customers ¢ OQutstanding products and services Customer communication meetings
5P 18 55 2 i K AR R PERSH

Environment
IRIE

¢ Health and safety
BENZE

e Performance of contracts
B1TE#

e Operation with integrity
K E

e Energy saving and emission reduction
IRE MR Bk

e Compliance with emission regulations
BTHERARE

e Ecosystem protection

RELRRES

Customer service center and hotlines
B P RRTE 0 R EVAR

Customer satisfaction survey
EFPWEERAE

Social media

AR

Collection of feedback

EEE

Communication with local
environmental departments
HEIRIREBFTE R

Reporting (e.g. ESG Reporting)
WEWRE - LG REBHE)
Investigations and inspections
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GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (continued)

Stakeholders

Requirements and Expectations
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Means of Communication and Response

B0E ERRIME BEREERE
Industry e  Establishment of industry standards e  Participation in industry forums
1% BMITRFE SHEITERIE
e Drive industry development
HETTRER
e Enhancement of industry development
BRITRER
Employees e Protection of rights e House journal and intranet
== IREEHER MED B 55 K A 49
e Occupational health and safety *  Meetings with employees
BEREERLE HESSE®
e Remunerations and benefits e Employee mailbox
B S 1 A B E 4

Community and the Public
S FN

e  Career development
FR¥R
e Humanity cares

A2

Enhancement of community
environment

HEHRRE

e Participation in charity

e  Transparency

BRE

e Training and workshops
IR TIEY

e Company website
NGIFED

o Announcements
neE

e Social media

IR



68 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)

Materiality Assessment

The materiality assessment was conducted by scoring the material
issues based on internal stakeholder surveys. With the aid of third
party professionals, we also gathered the material issues for the
industry addressed by two well-known external authorities'. We
further merged those material issues and finalised the representative
material issues as shown below:

Aspects
=]

Material Issues

EXREE
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D HET - ERE=ZFEEALTHOHH T - &K
TRUER T MEMAIMBEBEEIREMITEE
ZE  BME—FEHZFEARE  THEK
E NIIARKRMERNERERE

Corresponding Sections

HEEE

Environmental
IR

Employment and Labour
Practices

BREESTER

' The materiality assessment refers to the ESG industry materiality map
provided by Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) and the
materiality map provided by the Sustainability Accounting Standards

Board (SASB).

Energy Management
EERER

Waste Management

BEEYE R

Occupational Health and Safety
BEERETSE

Labour Management
BIER

1

. Excellence in Environment

RIRRITEH BRI
> Reducing energy consumption
P K REIRB#E
e Excellence in Environment
RIRRTHA S BRIR
> Sorting of waste
R DR
> Utilizing packaging materials
ERBEME
e Excellence in Our Workplace
RIERRT EAN S MR
> Health and Safety
(Ee= e

e Excellence in Our Workplace
RIERR T ENE MR
> Employment and Welfare

(EEPEER
> Development and training

R R IE

EZUFEINEERERTHFEARHE QA
(MSCHREMESGITEEE MBI Mok B2 ER|
ZEE(SASBIRIEMEZ B -
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Aspects Material Issues Corresponding Sections
Em EREE HESH
Operating Practices e Product Quality & Safety e Excellence in The Marketplace
BEER EnEEHELR RIS HN S BRI
> Product Quality
EnEE
e Materials and development e Excellence in The Marketplace
PR R B R RS ENEBRE
> Fair Treatment of Suppliers
N HEFHER
> Product Quality
EnEE
e Research and Development e Excellence in The Marketplace
fitgE ELFE B RT5 77 H A S HRIR
> Product Quality
mEE
e Anti-corruption e Excellence in Our Business
RES REBTEN S BRI

> Promoting Integrity

BEBIE
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT

Environmental Principles

The role of a responsible corporate citizen is largely defined by
the Group’s commitment to protecting natural resources and the
global environment. The Group strictly abides by the local laws and
regulations where it operates regarding environmental protection,
including the Act on Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control of
the Czech Republic, the Environmental Protection Law of Poland
and the Environmental Protection Act 1990 of the UK. The daily
operation of the Group is governed by environmental principles.
To ensure the Group’s sustainable growth and prosperity while
protecting the environment, it keeps on reducing solid waste and air
pollution, conserving resources and recycling materials by harnessing
technologies.

Our commitment goes beyond compliance with laws and
encompasses the integration of sound environmental practices in
our business decisions. Necessary permits were obtained under
applicable environmental protection laws for the operation of
production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK,
such as environmental permits in the areas of air emissions, water
discharge and waste disposal.

To further urge the Group forward for environmental sustainability,
the Group has declared several environment-related targets and goals
in its Sustainability Policy, governing the direction of the Group’s
development towards a more environmentally sustainable future.
The targets revolve around four main aspects, including greenhouse
gas emissions, energy and water resource consumption, as well as
waste production, mainly focusing on and aiming to use sustainable
energy and materials, generating less waste, operating more
efficiently and preserving the environment. The Group constantly
looks for alternative materials, processes, and disposal techniques
to reduce the strain on the environment during the development,
manufacturing and disposal of products.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Environmental Principles (continued)

For example, the production facility in the Czech Republic aimed to
keep updating any environmental impacts, risks and opportunities
during the production of automotive shock absorbers and chassis
modules produced and is committed to actively protecting the
environment primarily against the discharge of pollutants into the
surrounding environment.

The environmental management system was put into practice
to identify risk elements in corporate operations. Environmental
specialists on-site should perform the identification and evaluation
of the environmental factors in order to manage environmental risks
and reduce environmental impact. Environmental management
system procedure has been developed with clear responsibilities
of managerial staff from various departments. Our dedication
to implementing the environmental management system can be
reflected by the certifications of ISO 14001:2015 Environmental
Management System Standard obtained by the production facilities
in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK.

The Group endeavours to make contributions to the sustainability
of our businesses and believes that sustainability should be firstly
reinforced by employees, as employees are essential to the Group’s
overall success. To raise employees’ awareness of environmental
protection, the Group educates, trains and motivates them to
carry out tasks in an environmentally responsible manner. During
the Year, numerous environmental training sessions were held
in the production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland, and
the UK, as well as the technical centre in Poland to raise the
employees’ awareness for prevention of environmental pollution and
segregation of waste. Such environmental training courses covered
environmental policy, dangerous goods handling, waste segregation
and environmental targets of the year. Looking forward, we will
conduct an ongoing assessment of the impact of our production
facilities and products on the environment and the communities, in
an effort to achieve the goal of continual improvement.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions

We highly value the importance of sustainability and recognise
the importance of the environment to our businesses, therefore it
is our mission to strive to protect the environment and uphold the
principles of sustainability through a multitude of different actions.
By enforcing different measures in aspects like pollution and
emission reduction and resource conservation, we try our best in
reducing our footprint on the environment and operating sustainably.

(@ Minimizing air and water pollutants

Air and water pollution in our business operations are mainly
generated from the manufacturing processes of the production
facilities in the Czech Republic and Poland. Neither air
pollutants nor water pollutants are emitted from the production
facility in the UK. Our air emissions and wastewater discharges
are monitored on a regular basis to ensure compliance with the
relevant emission standards.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)
(@ Minimizing air and water pollutants (continued)
The following table shows the Group’s performance in relation
to air emissions and wastewater discharges in the Year.
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Emission Limit of

Production Facility Pollutant Unit Emission Amount the Standard
BRERTH
EERIE SR B BHE BFHRE
Czech Republic Air Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Requirements of Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control)
R ANE ERSRY - (RBARE - R 5R0 I REFHRTE)
Carbon monoxide mg/m’ 6.30 50
— &L 2R/ UK
Nitrogen dioxide mg/m’ 235 100
&R R/ MK
Total Organic Carbon mg/m’ 16.50 20
BHRIEE 2R/ IHK

Water Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Requirements of Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control)
KFRY) - GEEIRE : RS20 L RIEHIRE)

Aluminium mg/L 0.97-3.79 10
in ERn/7
Iron mg/L 0.46 - 6.01 20
2] 2r/7t
Nickel mg/L <0.02 - 0.08 0.2
i R/t
Sulphates mg/L 572-1,390 1,600

frfeeE Zn/7
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)
(@ Minimizing air and water pollutants (continued)
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Emission Limit of

Production Facility Pollutant Unit Emission Amount the Standard
BREREH
EERKE BRY B HHE BHRE
Poland Air Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Requirements of Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control)
K ERSRY - (RERE G580 RIEHRE)
Aliphatic hydrocarbons kg/h 0.003005 - 0.00347 0.08000
RERTIE T/ /e
Aromatic hydrocarbons kg/h 0.005679 - 0.00617 0.01013
FEL TR/ E
Chromium kg/h 0.001083 - 0.00264 0.00264
8 TR/ NE
Nitrogen Oxides kg/h 0.019351 - 0.02786 0.07800
A8IE T/ /e
Particulates kg/h 0.001083 - 0.00264 0.00264
R Tr/E
Water Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Integrated Wastewater Discharge Standard)
KBAY - (HERRE - A BKHRIRE)
Chromium mg/L 0.0060 - 0.0690 0.25
£ 2R/t
Copper mg/L 0.0060 - 0.0071 0.25
0] z2r/7t
Nickel mg/L 0.0020 - 0.0091 0.25
i2 Zr/7t
Zinc mg/L 0.0480 - 0.0920 1.00
# EZr/Tt
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)

(@ Minimizing air and water pollutants (continued)

In addition to the emissions from manufacturing processes,
air pollutants are also produced from the use of vehicles and
stationary combustion equipment. The air pollutants of vehicles
and stationary combustion from production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical
centre in Poland are as follows:

B ERRATRY ()
BT R A sERRM BRI BRTER
B R TR AT RS - KA
KRR R R 2 R BRI R
ek 02 B IR LR PR 3R 4 0 22 S5 S 1
m -

2023 2022
Air Emissions (Note 1) =R (A et 1) —B-=HF —F-—
Nitrogen oxides (kg) AELY(TR) 4,442 4,312
Sulphur oxides (kg) maty(Fr) 46 44
Particulate matter (kg) TR (F7) 41 39
Note: Htat -
1. Based on the emission factors according to the operating locations 1. REXBEEHUMOFRE TS - 2ER

of the business, including EMEP/EEA Air Pollutant Emission
Inventory Guidebook 2023 issued by the European Environment
Agency, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas
Inventories and Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors
2023 issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy of the UK.

The Group has set a reduction target for air emissions,
specifically on the vehicles involved in operation processes,
such as fork trucks. To achieve the target, the purchasing team
shall take into consideration new fuel types which emit fewer
pollutants. The Group has also set a reduction target for water
pollutant emissions by enhancing the technology of sewage
treatment plants. To improve sewage treatment, the production
facility has been dedicated to improving the ventilation system
and automating the control system of the plants.

MRBEBERH 2 (T - =ZFFNELBI AT
a8 BN AR R (EMEP/ EEA)ZE RS2
B ERE)  (CEEANERTRERIESE
{tEMZEGIPCOBRRAEREBE) RK
B EEREERBERH (=
=EREREREER  BRET) o

AEEERERDERFBYNEE - LE
W RREBRENER - fIES - RER
ZBR REEKKSEBHRRDERYH
R - REBIVEBRREISKEE
FREE - BRE IR AT R B B AR
REKRERE  AEREBNSERR R
7o TERTHIZH RGBS -
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)
(b) Minimizing greenhouse gas emissions
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(b) BLBEREHK

As a responsible enterprise, the Group understands the
importance of contributing to greenhouse gas emissions
reduction. The greenhouse gas emissions from the production
facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as

ER—HKEREENEE  AKEEELSLRE
REBHHEHSNEREE - UNFER KA
© OB R BB 2 A EE AR A K R B Al
DEENEEREBHRENTRET

technical centre in Poland are set out in the table below:

2023 2022
Greenhouse Gases BERE —EB-= —F-—
Total greenhouse gas emissions BERBYRE A
(tonnes CO,e) (W —&| L E 2 22,060 23,822
Greenhouse gas emissions per production S &EEXRBAERES
machine (tonnes CO,e/production mE MW _fiEE
machine) EERE) 18.54 20.21
Scope 1 — Direct emissions (Note 1) s — - AR AT
(tonnes CO,e) (MR —S|bikE 2 3,546 3,433
Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions s — - seIRMEEER
(Note 2) (tonnes CO»e) (Mat2) | bixE £ 17,870 20,086
Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions gls = - MR
(Note 3) (tonnes CO,e) (Hi#3) AR E & 644 303

Notes:

Het

1.

Based on the emission factors according to the operating locations
of the business, including EMEP/EEA Air Pollutant Emission
Inventory Guidebook 2023 issued by the European Environment
Agency, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas
Inventories and Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors
2020 issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy of the UK.

Based on the emission factors according to the operating locations
of the business, including a) Czech Republic Energy Efficiency
Report, b) Electricity Emission Factor of Poland by the National
Centre for Emissions Management, ¢) Intensification of the
Biomethanisation Process in Wastewater Treatment Plant by
the University of Warmia and Mazury and Water and Sewage
Corporation, d) 2021 Water, Wastewater Benchmark — Learning
from Internation Best Practices by European Benchmarking Co-
operation, and e) Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors
2023 issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy of the UK.

Calculated based on the International Civil Aviation Organization
Carbon Emissions Calculator.

The Group is dedicated to reducing greenhouse gas emissions
at every stage of the cradle-to-gate life cycle of our products. By
collaborating with our suppliers and implementing sustainable
practices in our operation process, we are making a significant
impact in reducing our carbon footprint. We believe that
through collective effort and innovative solutions, we can
create a more sustainable future. Besides, we have regularly
monitored and measured our progress towards our targets, and
we continue to disclose our emissions data transparently.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)

(c) Reducing energy consumption

The Group recognises that natural resources are scarce and
must be well managed and conserved so that they will not
be depleted in a near future. Therefore, the Group has put
in place various energy-saving initiatives, carried out regular
monitoring of energy consumption and annual surveys to
look for irregularities and areas of improvement in energy
utilisation, and set goals for further reduction of energy
consumption. During the Year, energy-saving programmes
such as modernization of the central heating system have
been introduced in the production facilities in both Poland
and the UK, as well as training sessions conducive to boosting
employees’ energy saving awareness were provided. Besides,
the employees also reduce energy consumption through manual
control of air-conditioning through heat saving and switch
off air-condition and lights when leaving meeting rooms. The
energy consumption from the production facilities in the Czech
Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical centre in
Poland is as follows:
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2023 2022
Energy Consumption BEIREAE —E-=F —_Zz_—
Total energy consumption (MWh) gEREEE QLR KR) 50,729 51,140
Energy consumption per production BRLEERBZRLRHER
machine (MWh/production machine) OKFLB EERE) 42.63 43.38
Non-renewable fuel consumption TR B AR ERE (B et 1)
(Note 1) (MWh) (JKELBE) 16,877 16,023
Purchased electricity and heating BEE S RERWHZE2)
(Note 2) (MWh) (JKELBS) 33,852 35,117
Notes: Hiat
1. Based on the actual fuel consumption for mobile vehicles and 1. BERAEERDHIEEHNETRERZ RN

stationary combustion sources of the Group. The unit conversions
for the consumption from mobile vehicles (litre) were calculated
with reference to EMEP/EEA air pollutant emission inventory
guidebook 2023 issued by European Environment Agency and
Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2023 issued by the
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy of the UK.

2. Based on the actual energy consumption record of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)

(c) Reducing energy consumption (continued)
At the beginning of the Year, the production facilities in
the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK decided on their
energy reduction objectives, focusing on optimizing energy
consumption. Several actions have been taken to achieve
the goals within the Year. For instance, by utilizing the waste
heat from the machine to reduce the temperature of the hall
air conditioner by 2°C during the winter which also can meet
the CSN EN 12831-1 requirements for thermal comfort in the
workplace. Additionally, reduce energy consumption per unit
of product through lean production processes and reduce use
of the same type of machine. The progress of those objectives is
closely monitored with the application of the Plan-Do-Check-
Act cycle and energy consumption versus production in units
also monitored once a month.

(d) Reducing water consumption
We are dedicated to reducing water consumption in the
manufacturing processes of our business operations and have
taken various measures to achieve the target. Analysis of water
consumption is conducted from time to time for better control
of water usage.

Details of water consumption from the production facilities
in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the
technical centre in Poland are as follows:
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2023 2022
Water Consumption (Note 1) RK&HE1) I —F_—
Total water consumption (m?) wBAKE (LK) 87,570 73,802
Water consumption per production BREERBIRAKE
machine (m*production machine) (ZFKEERE) 73.59 62.60
Note: Bt
1. Based on the actual water consumption record of the Group. 1. BREAREERAKCHAE -

2. The increase in water consumption was mainly due to: (1) the
growth in the employees number of the Group and the increase
in water demand. (2) the aging and leakage of water pipes in
some production facilities as a result of the deep burial of pipes
underground, which has been inspected and repaired to prevent
potential problems, and regular inspections have been carried out
in order to save water resources.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)

(d)

(e)

Reducing water consumption (continued)

Likewise, the production facilities also decided the yearly water
consumption objectives to optimise water consumption. Water
consumption is aimed to be reduced gradually through different
means, including disconnecting the same type of machine and
optimizing the condition of the machine such as checking one
of the dishwasher’s technical condition and ensuring that it is in
good condition and then shut down the other dishwasher. The
data comparison of water consumption against production is
monitored once a month.

Sorting of waste
The Group has established several waste management
procedures on sites, complying with corporate standards and
local legal requirements. We have a clear process for handling
the waste, from the generation of waste to the transfer of waste
to the contractor.

A waste sorting system that is applicable to waste like paper,
glass, plastic and metal is implemented in the production areas.
Waste is collected and stored in clearly labelled segregation
containers. Mixed storage of hazardous waste and non-
hazardous waste or hazardous waste of different types is strictly
forbidden. Thus, hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste are
collected and stored separately in distinctly different containers.
After the waste sorting, we cooperate with authorised waste
contractors to collect the waste. The waste is recycled to its
greatest extent before disposal. Non-recyclable waste, such as
municipal waste, is disposed of by an external service provider
via landfill or incineration.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)
(e) Sorting of waste (continued)
The hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste produced by
the production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland and the
UK, as well as the technical centre in Poland are listed in the
table below:

Annual Report 2023

RE  #HERELARE@®

REBRGENE 8RR (&)
BB R R R EROE 3 (&)

(e) BEEW7HEE
IRy AR - RE M B 2 A ERR I A
MEBEMTROELE 2B ERRYMEZE
BRI

2023 2022

Wastes (Note 1) BEEY (H1at1) —EZ= 2
Hazardous waste generated (tonnes) EEZBEEZEY () 213 195
Hazardous waste generated per production BE4ERBEEECEE

machine (tonnes/production machine) EEEW (B ERE) 0.18 0.17
Total non-hazardous waste generated B4 7 EEREREY AT (HE)

(tonnes) 4,715 4,128
Non-hazardous waste generated per BRLERBELEZES

production machine (tonnes/production BEZEY) (WE,/HE 2 %)

machine) 3.96 3.50
Note: Biat -
1. Based on the actual waste record of the Group. 1. BEASEEREZYVRHEAE -

During the Year, the Group has set several reduction targets
for specific operating locations and categories of waste, such
as contaminated cloth and cups. For hazardous waste. For
example, the production facility in the Czech Republic aimed
to reduce hazardous waste generation and optimise chemical
consumption by adopting a series of measures. The related
measures included utilising oil from waste mufflers to refill the
shock absorbers, reducing the amount of scrap produced from
under-pressurizing mufflers, and reducing the amount of metal
waste by using offcuts from pipe bundles. For non-hazardous
waste, the Group aims at increasing the proportion of secondary
raw materials in post-production and municipal waste. To
achieve our goal, we continued to recycle over 98% of non-
hazardous waste, including paper or cartons, plastic, wood and
metal, in the production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland
and the UK, as well as the technical centre in Poland during
the Year. By recycling reusable waste, we have minimised the
disposal of waste at landfills. In future, we shall keep updating
the waste management system in connection with the changes
in production or new projects that generate new types of waste
to achieve the long-term goal set previously.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimizing Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)
(e) Sorting of waste (continued)

®

The Group is also aware of the impacts on the environment
from paper consumption. The Group encourages the use of
electronic systems for information dissemination, especially for
office operations. By replacing paper documents with electronic
means such as emails, paper consumption and subsequent
disposal from the Group are greatly reduced.

Utilizing packaging materials

The Group acknowledges that the greater packaging material it
uses, the greater waste it produces, therefore the Group strives
to reduce the amount of packaging material used through
different measures, such as adopting collective packaging
instead of individual packaging for bulk products, as well as
making use of returnable packaging with suppliers.

Packaging materials used by the production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical
centre in Poland are as follows:
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(e)
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BREY 7 (&)
AEBIVIEZIRAMHROZE - AKH
DEERETRRFEEREN - BRI=ERA
FEF - BEUAETFHA(WER) RRAR
Xt AEBRARERNRERAC AR
D

EHERTH
AEERAERBLBEME - FTELMNE
HESBZ - Aitt - XAEEATREEES
BAERNBEME - I A EE S
NERBBERRBLBE A REHERE
AR B -

fIATE T FAANE - R R B 2 A A R A
FORBEAM R OMER 2 BEMENT

2023 2022
Packaging Materials (Note 1) aEHREF) —E-=F —EF-=
Total packaging materials used (tonnes) FTA 2 B R 4EE () 975 1,157
Packaging materials used per production ~ B & EEREMA 2 BEME
machine (tonnes/ production machine) (W8, ER ) 0.82 0.98
Paper or carton (tonnes) AR OR SX AR A (WR) 509 635
Plastic (tonnes) 28K} (WR) 35 37
Wood (tonnes) AR#F (WE) 429 484
Metal (tonnes) & B (Wa) 2 2

Note:

1. Based on the actual packaging material record of the Group.

et
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Response to Climate Change

The Group recognises that climate change poses risks and
opportunities to the Group and society as a whole, and understands
that it is infeasible to ignore. Due to climate-related issues, customer
preferences could shift towards the demand for more sustainable
products, which may induce increases in both the input prices of
resources and output costs of production; while capital investments
and operational costs may potentially rise due to increasingly stringent
regulations requiring more environmental-friendly technology and
posing more costly fines from cases of non-compliance. Regarding
extreme weather events caused by climate change that could lead to
a stoppage of production due to technical failures of equipment or
the building envelope, the Group has compiled contingency plans
specifying the procedures for the evacuation of workers for critical
situations. Recognising the more severe impact of ignoring climate
change on water resources, agriculture, natural ecosystems and
human health, the Group is willing to take action to alleviate the
deterioration of climate.

The Group understands that carbon emissions contribute to climate
change to a great extent, therefore the Group has developed the
Carbon Reduction and Carbon Footprinting Policy as well as
the Sustainability Policy for monitoring and managing its carbon
footprint. As aforementioned, the Group has set its own targets for
the enhancement of energy efficiency and reduction of harmful gas
emissions. Apart from minimising energy consumption, the Group
considers steps for the concept of carbon offsetting, including
planting trees within company premises and setting up car-sharing
schemes for employees. In the meantime, the Group has carried out
regular environmental audits, reviewed global and local government
policies and enhanced the resilience towards climate change through
the design, maintenance and execution of recovery plans.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN WORKPLACE

Employment and Welfare

Our employees are the most valuable asset to the Group and are the
foundation of our development. We continue to comply with national
and local labour laws and regulations relating to employment, as
well as the rights and welfare of employees, including the Labour
Code of the Czech Republic, the Labour Code of Poland and the
Employment Rights Act 1996 of the UK. The Group has developed
the Sustainability Policy which is adopted by all divisions to strictly
prohibit child labour, modern slavery including servitude, forced or
compulsory labour, human trafficking and any forms of harassment
and discrimination.

We believe that the key to success lies in talent attraction and
retention. We have commenced the internal and external hiring
process for relevant vacancies under the principle of fairness.
The Group, including the divisions covered in the ESG Report,
has developed human resources management policy to govern
the selection process. To ensure no child labour is recruited, the
dates of birth of all employees are checked during the recruitment
process. Whenever such practice is discovered, the Group would
investigate the case thoroughly and dismiss relevant employees
immediately. Furthermore, our employees enjoy equal treatment
in the establishment and termination of employment, conditions of
employment, promotion and access to professional development
trainings, regardless of sex, age, disability, race, religion, nationality
and mode of employment, etc. We treasure all opinions raised
by our employees and we have developed channels to enhance
communication with our employees, such as employee forums. For
departing employees, exit interviews are conducted to understand
the reasons for departure, and for our further improvement in
business operations.

The working hours are set in accordance with the relevant labour
laws and our internal regulations to ensure sufficient rest is provided
to employees. Employees required to work outside normal hours are
offered overtime pay. Otherwise, employees shall work only within
the agreed time frame stated in their employment contracts in order
to avoid forced labour. Apart from public holidays, employees are
also entitled to annual leaves subject to their length of service. To
attract, motivate and retain our talented employees, the Group offers
comprehensive and competitive remuneration, retirement scheme
and benefit packages to employees. The remuneration packages
of the employees are reviewed annually by the management with
reference to market conditions and individual performance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN WORKPLACE (continued)

Employment and Welfare (continued)

To appreciate the efforts of our employees, the Group has provided
different bonuses and awards during the Year. For example, the
production facility in the UK has provided excellent employees with
Passion for Excellence Awards and offered attendance bonuses,
quality bonuses and vacation bonuses to employees. Meanwhile,
the production facility in the UK has also organized an event “Donut
Day” for celebrating the absence of occurrence of accidents in
14 months. Moreover, the Group emphasizes the importance of
employees’” work-life balance and encourages employees to join our
leisure events.

The diversified experiences, backgrounds, ethnicity, lifestyles,
cultural orientation and beliefs inject vitality into the Group.
Reasonable accommodations are offered to disabled employees.
The Group upholds values such as anti-discrimination, fairness and
organizational justice. To maintain a positive working environment,
the Group has developed an employee code of conduct guide
to prohibit any sexual, racial or other harassment of or unlawful
discrimination against any person. All employees are obligated to
act in a manner that supports the policy and creates a comfortable
working environment. If any employee encounters a discriminatory
situation or bullying in the workplace, he/she can submit an
anonymous complaint to the Group via an external telephone
line. We will not tolerate behaviour that is inconsistent with the
mechanism and will take appropriate actions to prevent any
behaviour that violates the said values.
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The employment data of the Group are as follows: AEBNERSEOT :
2023 2022

Employment? & 1> —B-=H —F-—
Total Number of Staff STHAAH 2,194 2,068
By Gender gl B

Male S 1,526 1,452

Female oy 668 616
By Age Group RERARE D

Below 31 years old 31sRA T 305 217

31-50 years old 31-508% 1,184 1,220

Above 50 years old 505% A | 705 631
By Type of Employment RERERE S

Full-time 2% 2,173 2,059

Part-time and flexible shift e N OB 1 Em TE 21 9
By Geographical Location Ritt =&l 5

Poland B 1,858 1,694

United Kingdom e 7 90

Czech Republic e HAE 185 211

Others HAtb 144 73

2 The table discloses the employee data of all operations of the Group,
including the operations in Hong Kong, France, Germany, Italy, and
Luxembourg in the year.
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EXCELLENCE IN WORKPLACE (continued)
Employment and Welfare (continued)

“ECZFER REEIBEEARRAT 85

RE  #HERELARE@®

RIERRETENEBREGE)
EERER (&)

2023 2022

Employment EE =8== —F-_—
Total Staff Turnover Rate BETIRER=E 7% 17%
By Gender b2 qe ke

Male S 8% 19%

Female M 6% 10%
By Age Group RERARE D

Below 31 years old 31BRA T 25% 39%

31-50 years old 31-505% 6% 15%

Above 50 years old 505 PA & 2% 12%
By Geographical Location Ritt B85

Poland L 8% 19%

United Kingdom R 0% 13%

Czech Republic R A 0% 2%

Others HAtb 7% 1%

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of each
employee, and closely observes the local health and safety laws
and regulations, including the Act on Other Occupational Health
and Safety Conditions of the Czech Republic, the Labour Code
of Poland and Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 of the UK.
Employees should comply with all safety rules and policies at each
location of the Group. By implementing a management system for
health and safety, relevant risks are identified so that our employees
can be protected from foreseeable work hazards. We promote
safety awareness to our employees as they go about their jobs,
and managers are delegated to support safe work practices. Our
production facility in the Czech Republic has been certificated to
the ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System Standard.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN WORKPLACE (continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

To ensure safety at work, our employees are allowed to work after
undergoing and passing the initial check-up and periodic medical
examination. We believe that occupational injuries and illnesses
are preventable. For staff working at production lines, we provide
them with protective clothing and work clothing, as well as personal
protective equipment and measures for maintaining personal
hygiene. As regards the prevention of occupational diseases, we
arrange prophylactic or sanatorium treatment for employees working
in workplaces with potential harm. To pursue the ultimate goal of
creating an injury and illness-free workplace, the Group conducts
regular safety training for employees in terms of regulations, rules
and principles of occupational health and safety, such as general
instructions of basic health and safety regulations, safe operations
inside workshops, and information about potential risks regarding
health and safety.

Furthermore, hazardous material control programmes and chemical
material assessment procedures were adopted for safeguarding
employees’ health and safety. For example, hazardous and chemical
substances must be properly marked, placed in original containers
and stored at designated places, so as to prevent leakage of
hazardous and chemical substances. At the same time, equipment
and tools are kept in order, while materials, products and wastes are
placed in specific areas and containers, for the sake of maintaining a
clean and safe workplace. Clear guidelines for handling emergencies
were established to ensure prompt and effective control in case
of any accidental situation. The production facility in the UK,
the Czech Republic and Poland have set up a disaster recovery
plan illustrating the responsibilities of managerial staff, including
plant manager, operations manager, human resources manager,
engineering manager, quality manager and finance manager, etc.
The crisis management team and business recovery team are formed
to help implement the plan. During the Year, routine inspection of
fire safety was carried out to minimise the potential hazards aroused
by misuse or malfunction of equipment or improper material storage.
Fire-fighting equipment and fire alarms were regularly checked.
Emergency evacuation and fire drill were successfully held.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
EXCELLENCE IN WORKPLACE (continued) RIERBEFENEBRIE(E)

The health and safety data of the production facilities in the Czech ~ RER » REER LB « R E K& %E B8 4 & R i
Republic, Poland, and the UK, as well as the technical centre in  LAREEMEMTHR L ZBRERLEEEHENT ¢

Poland during the Year are as follows:

2023 2022 2021
Health & Safety RERZE —®=-= —g_— —E-—F
Number of work related fatalities HAISTAH 0 0
2023 2022

Health & Safety REREZR —EZ=F T
Number of work injuries TE#AE 3 1
Lost days due to work injury BT GEAN TIERE 63 1
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN WORKPLACE (continued)

Development and Training

The Group aims at creating an intellectually stimulating environment
which encourages employees to harness their talents and skills in the
pursuit of high-quality work. A clear career path is provided for every
employee. Our merit-based promotion aims to promote outstanding
employees to a higher level with regard to our evaluation of
employees’ performance and level description. To maintain the
fairness of promotion opportunities for all employees, the Group has
adopted several strategies applied to the production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical centre
in Poland. For instance, the personal “Business Plan process” is
adopted to provide consistent criteria for the evaluations of the past
performance and training experiences.

The Group provides various training to employees to enrich
their professional technical skills and job-related knowledge, as
well as to make continual improvements. New employees are
required to participate in orientation training, which is essential
for understanding their duties, the practice of a given position and
their fundamental rights. Professional training courses are also
tailored to the needs of different positions. Examinations may be
required for verifying the knowledge and skills acquired during the
training, subject to the types of courses. Upon the completion of
training courses, course evaluation, including lagging indicators
and questionnaires, will be taken place in order to ensure the
effectiveness of training. To recognise the skill levels of employees,
the Group has developed a skill matrix illustrating employees and
their current and desired levels of multifarious skills respectively.
The Group could be assured that the employees are well-educated
and experienced and provide additional skills enhancement training
courses to employees who have yet to reach their desired skill level
according to the skill matrix.

During the Year, employees in the production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical
centre in Poland have participated in various training courses with
order to broaden their knowledge in the Group and help them in
personal development. A wide range of training courses in terms
of different aspects of development was provided, such as personal
skill development, cross-functional training and training related to
technical knowledge, in order to keep employees up-to-date with the
latest working techniques and knowledge.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN WORKPLACE (continued)

Development and Training (continued)
The training data of the production facilities in the Czech Republic,

E9EYSEE Y

Poland and the UK, as well as the technical centre in Poland during
the Year are as follows:

2023
—EC-=F
Percentage of Average
Staff Trained Training Hours

RAFE - iR KB
AR KR B AT R D B I BRI T

RIFRBHENEBRR(E)

CRMREREEE

2022
—ToCF
Percentage of Average

Staff Trained ~ Training Hours

(%) (hour) (%) (hour)
BT AEIER BIHI  ABHEIREK
Development and Training B R BER(%) (/NBF) BEE(%) (/)NB5)
Total st 86% 8 67% 4
By Gender R RIE 2
Male B 86% 9 65% 5
Female 43 87% 6 70% 3
By Employment Department G SUSE P
Production, Control & Logistics EE - EHIRIR 92% 7 57% 2
Quality mE 100% 16 82% 5
Operations LB 93% 6 81% 6
Finance L 63% 7 64% 3
Human Resources ANER 87% 15 65% 2
Purchasing R 41% 5 78% 5
Engineering IR 73% 11 46% 4
Continuous Improvement FENHE 0% 0 72% 8
Sales Support and New Projects HE X R EIAR 14% 1 0% 0
Information Technology BARHR 43% 6 30% 2
Program Management TERER 20% 2 62% 3
Administration T8 67% 5 0% 0
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN OUR BUSINESS

Promoting Integrity

The Group complies with local laws and regulations in regard to
anti-corruption, including the Criminal Code of the Czech Republic,
the Polish Penal Code of Poland and the Bribery Act 2010 of the
UK. The Group and its business partners are not allowed to engage
in, endorse or tolerate any form of bribery or corruption, directly
or indirectly. They shall not offer nor accept any form of improper
benefit to or from a third party, private or public, with the purpose
of obtaining or retaining business or any form of preferential
treatment. Employees are required to sign the online declaration
of acknowledgement regarding the non-disclosure of information.
Through our consistent effort in promoting open communication,
employees are strongly encouraged to immediately disclose any
possible conflict of interest, suspected misconduct and misbehaviour
committed by individuals on behalf of the Group. If our employees
have a concern about any unethical, illegal or irresponsible activity,
they may seek assistance from their supervisors. They may also report
any breach of the code of conduct through the online reporting
system or by telephone through the confidential reporting line
anonymously. We shall handle and investigate all whistleblowing
matters promptly and effectively. We are always dedicated to
promoting integrity through our business practices.

To maintain our reputation of operation integrity, concrete efforts
have been made to educate our employees to avoid acts and
relationships that violate or conflict with their duties or the interest of
the Group, for example, the production facility in the UK issues an
“Anti-corruption reminder” annually as a refreshment of knowledge
for employees regarding anti-corruption practices. In order to
inculcate anti-corruption norms into our employees and directors,
we are dedicated to providing regular anti-corruption training, such
as training on the code of business conduct, bribery, and gifts and
hospitality. During the Year, we have provided anti-corruption
training for around 0.5 hour per session to all levels of employees in
the production facility in Poland. Meanwhile, all employees in the
production facilities in the Czech Republic and the UK are requested
to read and sign the code of conduct and complete a conflict of
interest survey.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents regarding
non-compliance with laws and regulations related to anti-corruption.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Respecting Intellectual Property

The Group continually strives to maintain its competitive edge in the
manufacturing industry and abides by the relevant local laws and
regulations, including the Copyright Act of the Czech Republic, the
Act on Copyright and Related Rights of Poland and the Patents Act
2004 of the UK. We respect and protect intellectual property, such
as company patents, trademarks, copyrights, and trade secrets. We
will take measures to protect new works of authorship, technological
advances or unique solutions to business problems, if there is any
suspicion of infringement of company patent, trademark, copyright
or trade secret. It is our ongoing effort to safeguard our confidential
information, as well as respect the proprietary and confidential
information of others.

EXCELLENCE IN MARKETPLACE

Fair Treatment of Suppliers

Suppliers of the Group are the valued partners in the success of our
business. As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed
to protecting human health, natural resources, and the environment.
We encourage and promote responsible environmental and social
management to the suppliers and encourage them to achieve
environmental and social certification, so as to mitigate the ESG risk
of our supply chain.

Suppliers are selected on the basis of price, timeliness, quality,
references, safety and environmental requirements, etc. We place
quality and after-sales services with respect to the raw materials and
components as the primary criteria, that ensure the quality of the raw
materials will not affect the quality of our products. We also take
priority to choose suppliers in the regions and countries where we
operate to lower the greenhouse gas emissions from transportation.
Suppliers” performance is monitored through their delivered product
quality, delivery schedule performance and the special status of
customer notifications related to quality or delivery issues. We
will maintain stable and fair relationships with our major suppliers
and avoid relying on any single supplier for any given type of raw
materials and components.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN MARKETPLACE (continued)

Fair Treatment of Suppliers (continued)

The ESG performance of our business partners or suppliers is
governed by the Group’s supplier sustainability policy, in order
to ensure that the ESG and sustainability direction of business
partners and suppliers are aligned with the Group. Furthermore,
the purchasing department of the production facility in Poland has
appointed a crisis team to determine the risk within its supply chain
and the potential emergencies that may emerge, and develop a plan
to secure the continuation of production.

Our business partners and suppliers are required to comply with
all applicable environmental laws and regulations in all countries
in which they operate. Suppliers and business partners are
expected to minimise the consumption of resources and manage
the environmental impact of emissions, pollutants, and waste.
They shall develop environmental strategies that meet the Group’s
environmental objectives. Supply chain due diligence at the Group
is observed based on the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD) Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible
Business Conduct. Suppliers shall implement a due diligence process
themselves to comply with all rules set out by the Group. They shall
also map their supply chain to identify, analyse and prioritise ESG
risks and take appropriate measures for mitigation. Collaboration
between suppliers and sub-suppliers is required to obtain maximum
transparency in relevant high-risk supply chains down to the source
of origin.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN MARKETPLACE (continued)

Fair Treatment of Suppliers (continued)

Our business partners or suppliers shall have excellent capability to
handle social risks. We have signed a statement of undertaking with
certain suppliers for the management of the social risk in the supply
chain. All suppliers are expected to follow the Code of Conduct
Guide developed by the Group, especially for the prohibition of child
labour and modern slavery. We strongly encourage our suppliers to
promote free competition and adhere to anti-corruption principles
while trading. We also request our suppliers make every effort to
prevent counterfeit parts and materials from entering our supply
chain. Our business partners shall comply with all applicable fair
trade, competition and anti-trust laws and regulations and shall not
have any competitive discussions or enter into any anti-competitive
agreements, including illegal price-fixing, market sharing, customer
allocation or other illegal restrictive practices, at any level of the
production or distribution chain.

The number of suppliers of the production facilities in the Czech
Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical centre in
Poland during the Year are as follows:
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN MARKETPLACE (continued)

Product Quality

In the manufacture of products, the Group adheres to the local laws
and regulations in regard to product quality, including the Act on
General Product Safety of the Czech Republic, the General Product
Safety Act of Poland and the Consumer Protection Act 1987 of the
UK. On top of regulatory compliance, we strive to communicate with
our customers on any potential issues at every step of the product
launch, from product design to the provision of service. Moreover,
with our customer-oriented operation and enthusiastic attitude, we
aim at enhancing customer satisfaction through advanced method
and achieving perfection at each step.

To provide high-quality products to our customers, the Group has
also set up a comprehensive quality management system with
rigorous production control plans, for the purpose of implementing
and supervising the operating procedures to assure the quality of
products. The manual of the quality management system clearly
states the roles and responsibilities of different management levels
and employees in safeguarding product quality, as well as the
specific procedures to execute quality management. The production
facility in Poland has performed random inspections in order to verify
the correctness of the production process on an ongoing basis. The
quality management systems of the production facilities in the Czech
Republic, Poland and the UK are certified to the IATF16949:2016
Quality Management System Standard.

Various quality checks are carried out before, during and after
the production process. For example, to assure the quality of
our products, the Group handles raw materials properly with the
following actions:

i.  Upon the arrival of the deliveries, the initial verification is
performed. If the raw materials fail to meet the verification
requirements, they will be rejected and returned to the carrier.

ii. After passing the preliminary approval, the materials are
labelled with a unique tracking number for traceability and
stored in a closed area in the warehouse with restricted access.

iii. The materials are stored according to manufacturers’
instructions on storage condition and shelf life.

iv. The condition of the materials stored is assessed periodically to
ensure no damaged or deteriorated materials are used.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN MARKETPLACE (continued)

Product Quality (continued)

Procedures for handling unsatisfactory goods have been implemented
as well. To ensure product quality, all unsatisfactory raw materials,
finished goods and products are stored separately and are not
allowed to proceed to the next production step without permission.
For consistent improvement of service quality, designated procedures
for complaint handling are also implemented to timely address and
prevent potential issues. In case of receiving any complaints from
customers, we will first identify the issue regarding the complaint
and implement containment procedures as necessary. Internal
communication regarding the complaint will be carried out with a
problem-solving process for further implementing corrective action
and dealing with the identified issue.

During the Year, the Group was not subjected to any product
recalls due to safety and health reasons, and has received a total of
108 complaints (2022: 65 complaints) with regard to the Group’s
products. All complaints were resolved via various methods,
including increase the frequency of product inspections, provide
operational training to staff and update operational practices.

Data Protection and Security

For securing the privacies of both our clients and the Group, we
have developed data protection policies and strictly obey the laws and
regulations of data protection, including the Act on the Protection of
Personal Data of the Czech Republic, the Personal Data Protection
Act of Poland and the Data Protection Act 2018 of the UK.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN MARKETPLACE (continued)

Data Protection and Security (continued)

Suppliers are prohibited to manufacture goods for their own use
or selling to third parties by using our information, without prior
and explicit written consent from our authorised personnel. As for
employees, stringent procedures are put in place for handling and
managing internal documentation. Employees should save, store and
communicate personal data only via internally authorised information
and communications systems. Furthermore, the disclosure of any
confidential information to a third party and the use of our computers
to browse, download or transmit illegal materials are not allowed.
The removal of any materials or items from the working premises
without proper prior authorisation is also prohibited. At the end of
a workday, documents of confidential nature are not allowed to be
left on desks or in other generally accessible places. Such documents
shall be placed in drawers or special locked file cabinets. To ensure
the understanding of employees on the Group’s firm practice in terms
of confidentiality, training on handling confidential information was
provided to employees in the production facility in Poland during
the Year. For all resigned staff, they shall be reminded not to disclose
any confidential information beyond termination through the exit
interview.

EXCELLENCE IN SOCIETY AND COMMUNITIES

The Group adheres to its commitment to implementing a global
philanthropy scheme that benefits the society and community in
the pursuit of business growth. As a corporate citizen, our effort in
community relations seeks to ensure the presence of the brand image
in our local communities in such a way that the Group is viewed as
a “neighbour of choice”. Contributions are tailored to local needs
and priorities as well. During the Year, the Group has participated in
the following charitable activities and other community events.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN SOCIETY AND COMMUNITIES
(continued)

Support on Education

We have set a goal aimed at helping the youth to unearth the greatest
possible potential through creating education opportunities and
supporting mechanisms, with an emphasis on technology education.
Furthermore, our primary focus resides on programmes which are
in alignment with our business vision and orientation, including the
ability to measure effectiveness, innovative approach, customer-
driven, and global programmes that encourage international reach
and involvement.

Participation in Charity and Activity

To create a positive corporate culture, we are eager to join charitable
events and make contributions to the local society. Various
charitable events participated during the Year are as follows:

Production Facility in the UK
¢ Made clothes and food donations to a charity organization to
help the homeless in the local community.

Technical Centre in Poland

e  Participated in the Krakow Business Run by Poland Business
Run Foundation to provide support to handicapped people
who experience limb amputations. The amount of donations by
employees was around PLN2,900.

e Actively participate in the football tournament organized by
Cracow City Council, which is available to those who have
signed the City Climate Pact, interacting with and learning
from other companies, and raising community awareness of
environmental protection through the tournament.

e Participated in “Nobel Gift” which is one of the largest social
programmes in Poland to donate money for buying and
providing all the goods requested by the family in need. The
amount of donations by employees was around PLN10,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board herein present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1
to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 129 to 239 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend in
respect of the year (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 14 and pages
15 to 25 of this annual report respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 240 of
this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group has no outstanding bank loan and other borrowing as at
31 December 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
are set out in Note 27 to the financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
(2022: Nil).

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Dong Xiaojie

Chang Ket Leong

Zheng Jianwei

Tam King Ching, Kenny*
Chan Pat Lam*

Wong Foreky*

(appointed on 28 July 2023)
(appointed on 2 August 2023)

(appointed on 18 March 2024)
(resigned on 13 July 2023)
(resigned on 2 August 2023)
(resigned on 10 February 2024)

Chen Zhouping
Li Zhi
Yip Kin Man, Raymond*

* Independent Non-executive Directors

In accordance with clause 85(3) of the Articles of association of
the Company, Messrs. Chang Ket Leong, Zheng Jianwei and Wong
Foreky, will hold office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after their appointment on 28 July 2023, 2 August 2023
and 18 March 2024 respectively, and shall then be eligible and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with clause 86 of the Articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Dong Xiaojjie will retire by rotation. Mr. Dong Xiaojie
will be eligible and offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the articles of association of the Company, every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profit of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

(continued)
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officer’s
liability coverage for the directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company, or their respective associates had any personal,
family, corporate and other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of its parent
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Company’s
Directors or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of
age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that is significant in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of its parent
company was a party and in which a Director of the Company or
his/her connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the following Directors
have declared interests in the following businesses (other than those
businesses where the Directors of the Company were appointed
as directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or any
member of the Group) which are considered to compete or are likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group during the year:
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EENRS - RGNz ER

AARSEEMMBELAR - HBARSIHG QA
B 10T B JBB 2 R FE 7R 67 [ 4 SR B sl AR 4R 2 R AT
BA - BERITTAEAAREXBEAH I EMNE
BRP  RHFREH BHARRERNERE
ERERIMEESEANES -

EERBFEXRB 2ED

BB FTHRAES10ME  WTEECEBABSER
NTEBEHEESATBEARREEELZTE
BRARIZEEURKRAAR R, SHAEE T
B RARERZER)  MASEEBFERANAE
EREAEEESENEZSHERFRATEHR
RERE

Name of entity whose
businesses are considered
to compete or likely

to compete with the

Description of businesses
of the entity which are

considered to compete or
likely to compete with the

Nature of interest
of the Director

Name of Director businesses of the Group businesses of the Group in the entity
EBWRRESREMER EBPRRELTKREEHR
BREFRAEBRET BREFRIEBRRT EERNEREEZ
ExpS ZERCER 2BRzEH S oME
Dong Xiaojie BWSM, BWI and BWI HK Sale and manufacturing of Director
RR RAET REEIR auto parts, machinery and ~ Z %
RAET(EH) equipment
HEREETETEM
W28 KR
Chang Ket Leong" BWSM, BWI and BWI HK Sale and manufacturing of Director
R0 REZT RAEEIK auto parts, machinery and ~ E=H
RAET(HE) equipment
HE RBUETETEMS
2SR R
Zheng Jianwei® BWI HK Sale and manufacturing of Director
e RAEETI(HE) auto parts, machinery and &=

equipment
HE REETETEMS
He2s R R



102 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2023

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESSES (continued)

Name of entity whose
businesses are considered
to compete or likely

to compete with the

EEEHE

EERNHFER 2 Em (&)

Description of businesses
of the entity which are
considered to compete or
likely to compete with the

Nature of interest
of the Director

Name of Director businesses of the Group businesses of the Group in the entity
EBWRRESRWMER EBWRRESTRMER
BB ER ARG E BRBFHTRERHRFE ExsREREAZ
BEEnS ZERZER ZEBER i HE
Chen Zhouping® BWIland BWI HK Sale and manufacturing of Director
BRAFF® RASEIR auto parts, machinery and ~ EH
RAET(HE) equipment
HE REUETETEMS
W25 KR
Li Zhi® BWI and BWI HK Sale and manufacturing of Director
F & RASEIR auto parts, machinery and ~ EH
RAETI(HE) equipment

M Appointed on 28 July 2023.

@ Appointed on 2 August 2023.

© Resigned as Director with effect from 13 July 2023.
@ Resigned as Director with effect from 2 August 2023.

Notes:

BWI HK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI.

The relevant information is disclosed on a group basis. The businesses of such

HE RBUETETEMS
He2s KR

M — =
=
z

n=
@ RA-E

“=FEA-+NBEERE-
—=FN\AZBEZE -

O BIE_=FLAT=ZHEHEES-
W BZEB_=FN\A_BREBEES-

Kt

REETL(EB)RRAEIZ2EWMBERR -

BRBEHZBERA—RBEELAEE - ZBRBIZEHBA

entity may be carried out through the subsidiaries or associates of the entity £ 23E BE B A R sk 4 A RS AT EH T -

concerned or by way of other forms of investments.

The Board is independent from the board of the above-mentioned
entities and is accountable to the Company’s shareholders. Coupled
with the diligence of its Independent Non-executive Directors whose

EXeBYRLLIERBZESTS  YERAR
BRREE - ZJS%‘%Z%%Q%%M?%%%EEE@%
HEFTGIRRREHBTEEZER  AtA%

views carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions, the Group is B A FRAEZSERRORERG 2 ¥
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s 7 ©

length from, the businesses of that entity.



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following companies
had interests in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company
which fell to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3

of Part XV of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the

Company
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EEEHRS

BREESFRBE
*Eﬁﬁ&/*)%

=10 )

SR BIAE T E 2 IRR

REZFB-_=F+-A=1t—8 REARFLRZE

%&H&ﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ%?»%ﬂx

RfF 2 BErCMATSEL - T’ilJ

RERARRA K,/ BRI 56 s
/JE%? & 75 S 8 fﬂﬂﬁﬂ%XV*B%NSZ%?‘*BF?K

NGB

RARBREG, MHEARGDZFR

Interests as
to% of the

Number of issued share
shares/ capital of the
Capacity in which underlying Company as at
Name of shareholder interests were held shares 31.12.2023 Notes
2L NN
+=H=+—H
i1 1 ER BEITRE
BRERERE BEERZEH v gE| ZEL HtaE
BWI HK Beneficial owner 301,842,572 52.55% 1,45
RAET(EE) EmnfAA
BWI Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1,4,6
RAET corporation
BNl £
BWSM Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1,46
RPEET corporation
SPEEB
Zhangjiakou Holding Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 2,45

KRR A&

corporation/Person
having a security
interest in shares

RyERE 2w TR

BREMEROA
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

(continued)

Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the

Company (continued)

Capacity in which

Number of
shares/
underlying

EEEHREE@

RAD AR HERD TR (&)

Interests as
to% of the
issued share
capital of the
Company as at

BEFZRPERAETHREZRR
e MoK A (E)

Name of shareholder interests were held shares 31.12.2023 Notes
REFEARDT
R=ZBZ=F
+=—A=+—H
B 15 1HER B2EITRA
BRRERB BEEZZEH v gE| pA=L e Htat
Zhangjiakou Guokong Asset Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 3,4
Management Group Co., Ltd.* corporation
(“Zhangjiakou Guokong”) REUEE 2
RRABZEEEEESEEGR AR
EE=0EE )
ZJKF Holdings International Limited Person having a security 301,842,572 52.55% 5

(//ZIKF//)
REBEREREARAA (RSB

*  For identification purpose only

interest in shares

R BB IR A
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INT

ERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
(continued)

Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

Notes:

Save

BWI HK was a wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI. More than one-third
of the issued voting shares of BWI was held by BWSM, thus BWSM is
deemed to be interested in the 301,842,572 shares of the Company
held by BWI HK.

Zhangjiakou Holding is deemed to be interested in the 301,842,572
shares of the Company held by BWI HK as mentioned above as it holds
more than one-third of the issued voting shares of BWSM.

Zhangjiakou Guokong is deemed to be interested in the 301,842,572
shares of the Company held by BWI HK as mentioned above as it holds
more than one-third of the issued voting shares of Zhangjiakou Holding.

The interests held by BWI HK, BWI, BWSM, Zhangjiakou Holding and
Zhangjiakou Guokong were the same block of shares of the Company.

On 31 October 2022, BWI HK has pledged the 301,842,572 shares
of the Company held by it, representing approximately 52.55% of the
issued share capital of the Company, in favour of ZJKF as security for
a loan lent by ZJKF to BWI HK. ZJKF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Zhangjiakou Holding, which is also a controlling shareholder of the
Company.

On 26 April 2023, BWI has pledged 100% interest of BWI HK; in favour
of BWSM as security for a loan provided by BWSM to BWI.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company

has not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors
and chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short

posit
whic
Divis

ion in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company
h fell to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
ions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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EEEREE@
RESER SR ETHESRE
BB R AR ()

RAD AR HERD TR (&)

1. RAEI@EBARAEIZ2EMBAR - =
PZ—UNERAEICETAREERG B RA
BOHE AUNRAETHEASERREL(R
) 2301,842,572 AR D BIRAD ©

2. HRERROSEFARART=S22Z2—UEEEH
TERZERD  AEEROSE %&ﬁz%hﬁi
MR PEE T (HB)FE2301,842,572 AR

1/\ o)

3. BARRROBZEFERROSEZE=S2—UNUEE
BOTHERERERG  ARRORE %Bzﬁﬁm*ﬁ
LR PRE T(BH)IFHE 2301,842,572 AR
BE1p o

4. FAETI(HFE) REET  ®AEY %E%D
SEERR OB ﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁéﬁnﬁﬁﬂ—ﬁtﬁ
HX{/\

5. R-—_E-_—_#+A=+—8" ?ﬁil(%f’é)
EEFEM301,842, 572 ARAIRE - RELY
52.55%Z A Bl AR AE ?&?ﬁ%%ﬁ%lw’ﬁﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁ
BETRAZEL(ES) —BERZERY - Rke
BERTRRASE22EMBAR  MRROS
BEIMAARRRZIERARE -

6. R—T——&#mA—+~A8- Tﬁﬁiﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ
RAEZET (BB M100%ER KR TFTRALT - 1E
ARASTRETFRAAS THEITEEY -

B EXFBEEIN  RZBE-=F+-A=+—
A ARAWEEETAEMA LR ﬂi%&
BRTRABRINEN  RRERAQFR

R /SABRND P BEEIAE Ffﬁ/JETFm
5 MG EFIEXVERE2 R E 35 BB IE AR 7
Wz -
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, at no time during the year had the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries entered into any
contract of significance or any contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, there is
a sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 6 June 2014, the shareholders of the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Company and/or any of
its subsidiaries and/or any of the entities in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entities”). The Scheme
shall be valid and effective from 18 June 2014, being the date on
which the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange granting its
approval to the listing of, and permission to deal in, the shares of the
Company which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
to be granted under the Scheme, and ending on 6 June 2024, being
the tenth anniversary of the date on which the Scheme was adopted
by the shareholders of the Company (both dates inclusive).

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer full-time
or part-time employees, executives, officers or directors (including
executive and non-executive directors) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any of the Invested Entities, and any advisors,
consultants, agents, suppliers, customers and distributors, who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or any of the Invested
Entities, share options to subscribe for shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share option has been granted under the Scheme. The maximum
number of shares of the Company available for issue upon exercise
of all share options which may be granted under the Scheme is
25,189,232, representing approximately 4.39% of the shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of this annual report. The total
number of shares of the Company issued and which may fall to
be issued upon the exercise of share options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this 1%
limit shall be subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The period during which a share option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than ten years after it has
been granted under the Scheme. There is no requirement that a
share option must be held for any minimum period before it can be
exercised but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any
such minimum period at the time of offer of any share options.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be determined
by the Board at its absolute discretion and shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
offer of share options; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of offer of share options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the
Company on the date of offer of share options. Each of the grantees
is required to pay HK$1.00 as a consideration for his acceptance of
the grant of share options in accordance with the Scheme. The offer
of share options must be accepted within 30 days from the date of
the offer.

Share options to be granted under the Scheme do not confer rights
on the holders to dividends or to vote at general meetings.

No share option has been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2023, there was no share
option outstanding under the Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Other than the Scheme as disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreement that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (whether on the
Stock Exchange or otherwise) during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, as calculated in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (the
“Cayman Companies Act”), amounted to approximately HK$975
million. Under the Cayman Companies Act, the amount in the share
premium account of the Company as at 31 December 2023 was
distributable to the Shareholders (subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company), provided that the Company
will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business immediately following the date on which the dividend, if
any, is proposed to be paid.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from sales of goods
and rendering of services to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 57.9% of the total revenue from sales of
goods and rendering of services for the year and revenue from sales
of goods and rendering of services to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 17.7%. BWI (a substantial
shareholder of the Company), together with its subsidiaries (exclude
the Group), was one of the five largest customers and account for
approximately 11.0% of the total revenue from sale of goods and
rendering of services during the year. Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 36.7% of the total
purchases for the year ended 31 December 2023 and purchases from
the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
13.5%. BWI, together with its subsidiaries (exclude the Group), was
one of the five largest suppliers and account for approximately 4.9%
of the purchases during the year. Other than disclosed above, none
of the Directors of the Company or any of their close associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company)
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following continuing connected transactions were recorded
during the year and up to the date of this annual report:

BWI is a controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions under the agreements as set out in (a) to (d) below would
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company.

(@ Mutual Technical Services Agreement
A mutual technical services agreement (the “Mutual Technical
Services Agreement”) was entered into between the Company
and BWI on 19 October 2022 for a term of three financial years
ending on 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the Mutual Technical Services Agreement, BWI and/
or its associates would provide technical services to the Group
(the “BWI Services”) and the Group would provide technical
services to BWI and/or its associates (the “Company Services”).
Such technical services comprise engineering services and
manufacturing services.

The basis of determining the technical services fees for the
transactions contemplated under the Mutual Technical Services
Agreement would be: (1) cost plus 5% for engineering services;
and (2) cost plus 1.5% for manufacturing services.

The cap amounts of the transactions under the Mutual Technical
Services Agreement for each of the three financial years ending
31 December 2025 are as follows:
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For the financial For the financial For the financial

year ended year ending year ending
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2024 2025

BE-Z-=F BE-ZT-NF BHE-Z-IF
t=A=t-A +=A=+—-RA +=A=+-H

IR BEE ERBEE I BB

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

AEAE AEEE BEBE

Cap amounts for the BWI Services ROAEIREZ LRERE 137.9 165.5 198.6
Cap amounts for the Company Services AR fRH 2 LR& %8 165.1 198.1 237.7
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(@)

(b)

Mutual Technical Services Agreement (continued)

The Mutual Technical Services Agreement was entered into to
facilitate the continued provision of technical services between
BWI and/or its associates and the Group. The arrangement for
the mutual provision of technical services would allow both
parties to save and pool their resources in providing a total
solution to their customers. Details of the Mutual Technical
Services Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 19 October 2022 and in the circular of the
Company dated 17 November 2022. The Mutual Technical
Services Agreement was approved, confirmed and ratified by
the independent shareholders of the Company on 13 December
2022.

Parts and Components Supply Agreement

A parts and components supply agreement (the “Parts and
Components Supply Agreement”) was entered into between
the Company and BWI on 19 October 2022 for a term of three
financial years ending on 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the Parts and Components Supply Agreement, the
Group would supply auto parts and components to BWI and/or
its associates (the “Sales”).

The prices for the transactions under the Parts and Components
Supply Agreement would base on the cost plus approach at
margins within the range or no less favourable to the margins of
the other products of the Group supplied to independent third
party customers for the prior financial year, and the pricing
policies for continuing connected transactions of the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HEREX S (&)
(continued)
(b) Parts and Components Supply Agreement (continued)  (b) T B4 & o it FE 175 3 (&)
The cap amounts of the transactions under the Parts and REZHELTHREHBZETIISNE
Components Supply Agreement for each of the three financial E_ER At _A=+t—HI=ERKF
years ending 31 December 2025 are as follows: BEEFZ LRESBEWT :
For the financial For the financial For the financial
year ended year ending year ending
31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025
BE-T—= EE-TomEF BE-F-0F
t=A=t+t—-Hit +tZA=t+—-Hi +t=A=t+—-H1t
MBEE MERFE MRFE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BERE A=) BAHEE
246.2 272.4 319.6
The transactions under the Parts and Components Supply TR RTHHERZETETNRSIRR
Agreement are a continuation of the already established AEIRIHBEARKNEEZHERAR
purchasing and supplying business between BWI and/or its RAZRBREEEBHITEE - ST L TEM
associates and the Group. The Parts and Components Supply &ﬁ#f?ﬁﬂgﬁ% ZADASEEERNRAETL
Agreement was entered into to facilitate the continued supply & /SREH ARERETHERTH -
of auto parts and components from the Group to BWI and/ 1#&%#1?—‘&}_’5%’3 HBEEBRERALRGFH
or its associates. Details of the Parts and Components Supply HA_ZT-_—_F+ATNBZAERBHA
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the “E_HF+—ATEBEZBHA - TEHHF
Company dated 19 October 2022 and in the circular of the MR EER T _F+_-_A+=
Company dated 17 November 2022. The Parts and Components HERRFEIB R AE - BRNER -

Supply Agreement was approved, confirmed and ratified by the
independent shareholders of the Company on 13 December
2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(c) Parts and Components Purchase Agreement
A parts and components purchase agreement (the “Parts and
Components Purchase Agreement”) was entered into between
the Company and BWI on 19 October 2022 for a term of three
financial years ending on 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the Parts and Components Purchase Agreement, the
Group would purchase auto parts and components from BWI
and/or its associates.

The basis of determining the prices for the transactions under

the Parts and Components Purchase Agreement would be in

accordance with the following principles:

(i)

(i)

by reference to the prevailing market prices of the same or
substantially similar products, taking into account of the
prices of the same or substantially similar products with
comparable order quantities and quality offered by other
suppliers; and on terms which are no less favourable to the
Group than prevailing market practices; or

if (i) above is not applicable, by reference to the average
price of similar products previously supplied or provided
by a party, and on no less favourable terms comparable
to those offered by the relevant party to independent third
parties; and on normal commercial terms comparable to
those received from independent third parties in respect of
the same or substantially similar products with comparable
quantities.

EEEHRS
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued) =B 8|EE @)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HEREX S (&)
(continued)
(c) Parts and Components Purchase Agreement () ZHHRTHERBHRE)
(continued)
The cap amounts of the transactions under the Parts and *ETF*M#&TEW%E%WJ RETZRHREE
Components Purchase Agreement for each of the three financial TECAF+T A=t HIE=EMRFE
years ending 31 December 2025 are as follows: BFZ FRESB|HAT
For the financial For the financial For the financial
year ended year ending year ending
31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025
BE-ZT-=F% BE-_Z_MmF BZ-Z-afF
t=ZA=+—Hi +t=ZA=+—HL tZA=1t—Hi
MHRFE MRFE MRFE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEES BEES BERS
10.0 10.0 10.0
The transactions under the Parts and Components Purchase ERHRTHRBHRETETORS/R
Agreement are a continuation of the already established %liﬁi/‘?\ﬁﬁiﬁ/jﬁﬂﬁv%J\ZﬁE&ﬁ@
purchasing and supplying business between the Group and RAZRBREEEBHTERE - ST TEM
BWI and/or its associates. The Parts and Components Purchase RTHREREEDASEEEIRBEL
Agreement was entered into to facilitate the continued purchase R/SEHBBEARBTETHGRTE T
of auto parts and components by the Group from BWI and/or BUHRTHRBR R FEEREREAF]
its associates. Details of the Parts and Components Purchase HA-_Z_—_F+ATNBZAER -

Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 19 October 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS REEERS (&)

(continued)

(d) Patent License Agreement d) EFREHFH=R
A patent license agreement (the “Patent License Agreement”) RABT (ERFEFHERT ) BARRFES
was entered into between BWI as licensor and the Company as BHEARAR-_ZE__F+AT+ILA%E
licensee on 19 October 2022 for a term of three financial years A ENETE(ERNSTFBRD - F
ending on 31 December 2025. HABE T _RAF+_A=+—HIL=A

PAEFE o

Pursuant to the Patent License Agreement, BWI would procure RIEFFENFFT S RAELREEEEE
its wholly owned subsidiaries which are the registered holders MBAR(RAETHREBBERERE T
of certain patents (the “Patents”) related to automobile EM(EFDOVFMHEA) MAEER T —
controlled and passive suspension products to grant to the TEIEBR LT AT EENTTE - UEREE
Group a non-exclusive and non-transferrable license to use the MBS X ERER o

Patents in the Group’s manufacturing operations.

The Company would pay an annual license fee representing RRBEAAEBEERENARENERS
0.5% of the net sales of the licensed products of the Group, NEERTESE  AERAEBSTERH
which would be the products manufactured by the Group using EIFRER0.5% © HEFRK BIFTE M E
the Patents. The net sales would be the total invoiced amount REBREMHEENE  ERPITNLERE
of licensed products less any sales allowances, customer iR [B1R7 7T E mm i 1 L B3R K -

discounts, and refunds for licensed products that were damaged
or returned.

The cap amounts of the license fees for the Patents under the REZENSF S REE-_T-_AF+=
Patent License Agreement for each of the three financial years R=+—B =R RFERFENFITE
ending 31 December 2025 are as follows: ENLRESBWT :

For the financial For the financial For the financial

year ended year ending year ending

31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025

+=ZA=+—AHL '|'—H_'|' EIJJ: '|'—)EJ_'|' =Nl

MHRFE MHRFE MERFE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

BEES BEES BHES

13.5 13.5 13.5

The transactions under the Patent License are a continuation NS HEE TETHORS R RAETR

of the already established arrangement for the use of Patents AEBEZEERRRAZENERRIHIE

between BWI and the Group. The entering into of the Patent BN ENERHHRADAEEEERH

License Agreement would enable the Group to continue to R - AR R ONRAR B )TETISH B

use the Patents which maintain and strengthen the competitive FA - ENFHFHRZFBERERAR
position of the Company in the automotive market. Details AR ZE__F+ATINBZRER -

of the Patent License Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 19 October 2022.



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The continuing connected transactions as set out in (a) to (d) above
which took place during the year ended 31 December 2023 have
been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company who have confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has provided a letter to the Board
confirming the matters stated in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules in
respect of the continuing connected transactions as set out in (a) to (d)
above which took place during the year ended 31 December 2023.

As far as the transactions took place during the year as set out
in Note 32 to the financial statements under the heading of
“Related Party Disclosures” are concerned, the transactions were
continuing connected transactions which had been approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company.

As regards the transactions took place during the year as set out in
Note 32 to the financial statements under the heading of “Related
Party Disclosures”, the provision of loan to the Group by a holding
company was connected transaction which was exempt from any
disclosure and shareholders’” approval requirements under the
Listing Rules. The remaining transactions were incidental to the
continuing connected transactions which had been approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company.

As far as the transactions took place during the year as set out in
Note 32 to the financial statements under the heading of “Related
Party Disclosures” are concerned, the remuneration of the Directors
as determined pursuant to the service contracts entered into
between the Directors and the Company was connected transaction
which was exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING WITH

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 5 August 2014, Billion Million (HK) Limited (“Billion Million”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company,
BWI HK and BWI entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”)
pursuant to which BWI HK conditionally agreed to sell and Billion
Million conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued share
capital of BWI Europe Company Limited S.A. (“BWI Europe”) (the
“Acquisition”). BWI Europe and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the design, research and development and manufacturing
of suspension products for premium passenger vehicle manufacturers
and the provision of engineering services for suspension products.
Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 5 August 2014 and in the circular of the Company
dated 27 November 2014. The Agreement was approved, confirmed
and ratified by the independent shareholders of the Company on 19
December 2014. The Acquisition was completed on 23 December
2014.

As a condition precedent to the Acquisition, a deed of non-
competition was entered into between the Company and Shougang
Group (formerly known as Shougang Corporation), Beijing Fangshan
State-owned Assets Management Co. Ltd., BWI, BWI HK and Success
Arrive Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”), on
11 December 2014 (the “Deed”), which became effective on the
completion date of the Acquisition. Pursuant to the Deed, each of
the Controlling Shareholders will not, and will procure any of their
respective associates not to, directly or indirectly participate in, or
hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved in any business
which may be in competition with the businesses of the Group; and
if any future business opportunities that may arise from their existing
customers and insofar that they are unable to supply the necessary
products to such customers, they will consent to the Group in
supplying such products. Details of the Deed are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 27 November 2014.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

The Company has received annual written declaration from the
Controlling Shareholders (except for Success Arrive Limited,
Shougang Group due to Success Arrive Limited was dissolved in
2020 and Shougang Group ceased to be the Controlling Shareholder
since 20 September 2022; thus each of them was no longer a
party to the Deed on their compliance with the undertakings
under the Deed). Based on the declaration, the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company considered that the Controlling
Shareholders had complied with the terms set out in the Deed during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 26 to 61 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company’s compliance with the relevant provisions set out
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules for the financial year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 62 to 97 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

These is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Group after
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

EY acted as auditor of the Company and audited the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each of the financial years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. EY resigned as the auditor of
the Company on 10 November 2023 and PwC was being appointed
to fill the casual vacancy on the same date as disclosed in the
announcement dated 10 November 2023.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
audited by PwC, who will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Dong Xiaojie
Executive Director

27 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEIJINGWEST

INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of BeijingWest Industries
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 129 to 239, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023;

¢ the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

¢ the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

¢ the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
e Impairment of trade receivables

e Impairment provision for inventories
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREEER
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BIRERHRE @

BARETEERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANESFNAEERARETSR

Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 EWERRE

Refer to Notes 2.3.1(0), 3(e) and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.
2EERE T HREME2.3.100) ~ 3(@) 19 °

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gross amount of
trade receivables was approximately HK$626 million,
against which an expected credit loss allowance of
approximately HK$6.6 million was recognised.
R-ZF-_=F+-"A=+—0 > BEKENZEZREFRA
RN R626B BT - U ERAMEEBEERED
6.6 B BB °

Management recognised a loss allowance based on lifetime
expected credit losses.

EREEERBEFENBHNEEEREABREE -

For trade receivables with significant credit risk, they
were identified and individually assessed by comparing
the present value of estimated future cash flows with the
carrying amount.

REAEERRNESEEFAEMS - BBRMEFRIR
i8R EEMRE L B MmAETTHE A M AR RIFFE

For other trade receivables, they were grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed
for the likelihood of recovery and applying expected
credit loss rates to the respective gross amounts of the
receivables. The expected credit loss rates are determined
based on the historical credit losses experience and are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on economic indicators, scenarios and the underlying
probability weightings.

REMEZREFANE - DERRREERREED
A U R BEEYKKIBARERRBEEEEXM AR
METKREYE - BREEBEEXRDIDEEEEFRLRE
iE o WEHAREARRABGEER - SRS XL
ENERIKATEER

In response to this key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

REHURERETFE  RAICETATRF

e Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors.
BBEREMFNIEEUREE REMESREREAEE
KT - FHEE RS R A E A R o

e Obtained an understanding of management’s internal
controls and assessment process of impairment of
trade receivables.
TREEREEE 5 R MGIR R E R A #BE I KT
R e

e Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of expected credit losses of trade receivables to
assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation
process.

HEE SR FERBEEEBNR RS
AFHE B IR EMFTBIERE AL °

e Involved the valuation specialist to assess the
appropriateness of the provision matrix used by
management in the assessment of expected credit
loss for trade receivables, including the grouping of
customers with similar credit risk characteristics, the
analysis of historical payment pattern of customers
and historical loss rate.
MABEERFEERERNE SREFIBRYREE
BREERCAERUGERRERENETFP A
IMEPBENNKEXLBEBEEX) R KA
MEEEEEEAME

e Involved the valuation specialist to assess
management’s forward-looking information and
factors in adjusting the rates of credit loss by
reference to external market data or industry
information.
MABEERE2ZHNEMSBEBEHTEERNMY
EEEMNAEENMARGEERXARETH
flr o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREEER

BB RS @

BREFTEEHGER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANESFNAEERARETSR

We focus on this area because of the magnitude of the
trade receivables balance to the consolidated statement
of financial position and the significant management’s
judgement and estimates were involved in assessing the
expected credit losses.
BIVEEZBE I HRE 5 B FRRE L RS W HHIRR
X EEEEXHAHENFEEREERERSIMNGEES
ZEZE-

e Discussed with management to understand the

reasons and justifications for trade receivables
assessed individually. Corroborated management’s
justification through inspecting relevant underlying
supporting documents, such as historical payment
record, financial information of the customers, etc.
and compared the present value of future cash flows
estimated by management with the carrying amount
of respective balance of trade receivables.
TR A T R ER 2 R IRNIE S
KRB o BB RE MBS X (1208 & 30
BREFPHMBEMSE)  LHEEEMGFTAAREK
BenERERSAESREFENREELE
BB IR EHIRE

e Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy
and completeness of the data being used in
management’s assessment, such as balance of
trade receivable and ageing of trade receivables;
tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s
calculations of the expected credit losses.
EHREEEAGDEEENTESMRAEBNES A
MR EE - PIINE 5 R R K B 5 I8 WK
ENRE AR EEENBREEBRENAERS
R -

e Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
expected credit losses of trade receivables.
AHEEEZERKRREREEERAHENBERS
B o

Based on the procedures performed above, we found that
management’s judgement and estimates applied in the
assessment of impairment provision on trade receivables
were supported by the evidence obtained.
ERALETOREF - RMARSEERENHE KRG
B 5 RSB E R AR EANMAA D ESEESR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREEER
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BIRERHRE @

BARETEERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANESFNAEERARETSR

Impairment provision for inventories

FERERSE

Refer to Notes 2.3.1(h), 3(f) and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

2GR T HRERME2.3.1(h) ~ 3O %18 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s balance of gross
inventories was HK$198 million, against which a provision
of approximately HK$18 million was recognised.
R-ZF-_=F+-"A=+—HB  EXENETERES
198EEBTL - WL R EEQ18EHET °

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
FERKRAENZHEFENREREINR - AIZRFEER
ERFEEBEA G TR AT BB LKA RETTHER
PR ANGE -

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories
involves significant management’s judgment and estimates
based on the consideration of key factors such as future
sales projection, estimated future selling prices, estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses of the respective
inventories.
FERERGGT S REREEARHE R - ARG
&S DERERFBFENRKHEET » et RKE
B RAEt KA RHER FHRAE -

In response to this key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

REHUERETFE  RFACATATREF

e Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors.
BBEREMEFN T REE RAME R EREAEE
KIE - FHEEREERFRAL A E A R o

e Obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal controls and assessment process of
impairment provision for inventories.
THREEENFERERENAIES RTEE
=2

e Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment provision for inventories to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;
HEFERERBENRHFEER - UHEEERE
EFFBRERE A -

e Tested the accuracy of provision calculation by
examining inventory ageing schedule, testing
inventory movements on a sample basis and
performing mathematic recalculation.
BREESHFERERER  RBEEENATEEP R
EMETHE - NARREAER S LR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BB RS @

BREFTEEHGER

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEETER BRNBESNIEEFAEETEE
We focused on this area given the magnitude of the related ¢  Compared the estimated selling price and selling

balances of inventories to the consolidated statement of
financial position and significant management’s judgment
and estimates were involved in the inventory impairment
assessment.
ZIVEEZBEEREBEEFERBEYRE PR -
EREEAHEBRNHEFERESENEERZER -

expense used in the determination of net realisable
value of inventories to actual selling price subsequent

to year end.
HARBEFEA SR FENBTEERBEERX

HERRENEREELEK -

Observed the physical condition of inventories
during stocktake to identify if any inventories were
damaged, or obsolete and assessed if appropriate
inventories provision has been recognised.
REERHBERFENYIENNL - UMEEFER
BHRBESRE - UHAREEEERRTFER
B o

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
impairment provision for inventories.

HEEFEREREEENRERSEM -

Based on the procedures performed above, we found that
management’s judgement and estimates involved in the
inventory impairment assessment were supported by the
evidence we obtained.

ERALETOREF - RARSEERENHE KRG
FERER S ENEFCRGEEXS -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

“ECZFER FEEIBEEARAT 125
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Hibfs 2

ERRESAYUEMELAE - HLEL RS
BRANFARE - BTREGEHERR LA
BT R o

BPUGREMBHREANERLTREELMES
BT HZEEMEERRTANANERS

o
BARMYRAMBREANET  BANEEE

BERMES  Hit@iEd  ZEREMEEER
B AP BHRRARMERTBETRTHENIE
MEEBABBEAEUTFEEAHERBBAIT

ERBRMEATHOIE  MREMRBREMER
FHEBABRRL  RPFTEREXFE - &£E

I BPEAERRS -

ESRERZEERGEMBREREA
AENEE

BERREZAAERBBE B EHEM K
(BAMBHRE L) RBE(RBAGIDHRER
EREEEMTENRAPBRER  XHERR
REFEMBERROBE T FAE BN REFHER
MEBHHEAERRAFTFNAEHNEE -

EREFAMBERERE  EFAEME E5E
SELEEN > YHEERBRL T REEFEL
LEBENTEER UREAFELLRSER
RIFEEERER BESEBRIELLE - %5
BHOERNERSE -

EXRBENMBHRES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BB RS @
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B

BAMBER RUGAMBHRABEBEL TR
MR AR BRMERMEAERRANEG A E
RiE - WHABRHEMERLNZBE®RSE - M
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee of the Company with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to

bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee of
the Company, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Cheuk Kay.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2023

“—EC=EER

S
i
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rRRRR
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BE - FE_=Ff+ _HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —EBE-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FHxT FHET
REVENUE W 5 2,708,861 2,478,380
Cost of sales SHE KA (2,310,143) (2,044,288)
Gross profit EF 398,718 434,092
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (38,945) (50,376)
Administrative expenses TR (172,173) (154,510)
Research and development expenses HER (275,546) (237,437)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment eRMEEREERE
losses on financial assets (B ) /B [ml 6 (2,070) 132
Other income H A 7(a) 30,627 23,863
Other (losses)/gains - net H A (E518), Uz F 58 7(b) (15,673) 22,483
Other expenses EAY (445) (13,022)
OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT K (FE),wR (75,507) 25,225
Finance costs B TSR AN 8 (12,032) (15,054)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRES AT (B 18), s F 6 (87,539) 10,171
Income tax benefit/(expense) Fis®iEa/ (Ax) 11 32,219 (15,056)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (55,320) (4,885)
Attributable to: AR AL -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE F DN (55,320) (4,885)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AAFEBERBREMN
ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE BREE
COMPANY
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) ER RS (BB 13 (9.63) (0.85)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PA & Bas R & RIBE Y i —

BFBIE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2023

Annual Report 2023

HERHEKWAR

BE - FE_=Ff+ _HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T

LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (55,320) (4,885)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Htv2EBRA(ER)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may A2 ERA - (E1E) ERE1EH

be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EIE SR ER -

periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign BMEBINER 2 BN

operations 71,794 (55,159)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not B ftt 2 H (E518) WA NG T &

be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent RIEEBE B SR E R -

periods:

Remeasurement (loss)/gain on defined ERENEal s ENAE

benefit plans - net of tax (B518), Uezs - MERFTISRL (10,488) 11,054

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FREMEERA(BR) - 1K

FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX e 61,306 (44,105)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FRXERA(BE) AR

FOR THE YEAR 5,986 (48,990)
Attributable to: AT AL :

Owners of the Company EA/NCIEZ 2PN 5,986 (48,990)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PA b 2R a5 FESE (R BE P B o — G B RE -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2023

—EC=EER FEEIBERER2T 131

GEMBRRK

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= B F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FHExT FHIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ B KRR 14 430,865 403,853
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 15(a) 283,198 299,268
Goodwill EES 16 668 896
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE B 26 2,616 66,833
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 17 187,619 193,746
Total non-current assets FEREEELRE 904,966 964,596
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories BB 18 180,359 177,083
Trade receivables from third parties BPRWHIE-F=F 19(a) 344,038 339,823
Trade receivables from related parties B 5 EWGRIA - BB 19(b) 275,125 242,137
Income tax recoverable AR E TS B 17,041 10,167
Prepayments, other receivables and other ~ AT FRIE - E i FEUCRIE 2
assets HEm&EE 20 94,826 80,002
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 21 135,964 122,780
Total current assets REEEMEE 1,047,353 971,992
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables to third parties BORNFIE-F=7 22(a) 362,667 322,777
Trade payables to related parties B S FIE - BT 22(b) 133,833 97,549
Contract liabilities, other payables and BHaE - HtEARIER
accruals EEER 23 93,096 117,848
Income tax payables JEN RIS 20,859 20,635
Defined benefit obligations EEEMET 24 4,191 3,406
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 38,278 33,610
Provision BiE 25 35,301 27,798
Total current liabilities REAEAE 688,225 623,623
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFEE 359,128 348,369
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBEE
LIABILITIES 1,264,094 1,312,965
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

31 December 2023

mEMBMRR R @

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= B F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ks FER FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Contract liabilities, other payables and BHWAE - BEEAIAR
accruals FEETE R 23 34,813 24,971
Defined benefit obligations EREMNEE 24 99,193 77,829
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 261,655 272,589
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIAEE 26 14,068 89,213
Loan from a holding company ke —FEERA RAIERK 32(b) 431 415
Total non-current liabilities kRBAEEARE 410,160 465,017
NET ASSETS EEFE 853,934 847,948
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the ARAEEEAELES
Company
Issued capital BEEITRA 27 57,434 57,434
Reserves et 28 796,500 790,514
TOTAL EQUITY M EE 853,934 847,948

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 239 were
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 27 March
2024 and were signed on its behalf by:

Dong Xiaojie
RAAR
Director

EF

A B4R & RIS ARR R B R BE P MY 5E — GFBIAE -

FI129E 239 2R AN EHREREN S WF =
A-ttH&ARRRESFTSHME THATAL
REEE

Chang Ket Leong
B2
Director

EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2023

TECC=FER mZEEIEERARAE 133

MEERBHR
P E AT —HIEFE

Atiributable to owners of the Company

ARARAARE
Share Defined
Issued premium Merger  benefitplan  Exchange Capital Retained Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
EERH EX
BRTRE  ROEER  AHEE  HERR % ReR&E  RERN  BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tén Thn Tix Tén Tin Tin Tén
(Note 27)  (Note 28(ii)
(Wet2r) (W2
A1 January 2023 W=E-=%£-A-H 57434 1037745 (77233) (14825 (211,060) 4132 706854 847,948
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (553200 (55,320)
Other comprehensive incomel(loss) for ~~ FAEHZ ARG/ (B
the year: B):
Exchange differences related to REENZHLELE
foreign operations E - - - - 71,79 - - 71,79
Remeasurement loss on defined TRRENGT 8 BN E
benefit plans B - - - (10,488) - - - (10,488)
Total comprehensive income/(oss) EnrENE/ (BB)E
for the year e - - - (10,488) 71,79 - (55,320) 5,986
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=H+-Azt
—H 57434 1,037,745 (772,332) (25,313) (139,266) 44,132 651,534 853,934
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
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HEREZEHR@®

Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_F_=—F1_A=1—HIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
LONGE 2PN
Share Defined
Issued premium Merger  benefitplan ~ Exchange Capital Retained Total
capital account feserve reserve feserve feserve profis equty
EREA EX
BRIRA  RIDEEER  AkEE  FIRG BE  BARR  REEN  BRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TEn TEn TERL TEn TEn TER TEn
(Note27)  (Note 28ii)
(i27)  (Reosii)
At 1 January 2022 R=F-#-A-H 57 434 1,037,745 (772,332) (25,679) (155,901) 44132 711,739 896,938
Loss for the year EnER = = = = = = (4,885) (4,885)
Other comprehensive incomelfloss) for ~ FREHZ2ENE,/
the year: (B%):
Exchange differences related to REBNEH LN
foreign operations =% = - S S (55,159) S S (55,159)
Remeasurement gain on defined RN B E
enefit plans e S = = 11,054 = = = 11,054
Total comprehensive incomel(loss)for M2 EYE/ (B8
the year EE - - - 11,054 (55,159) - (4,885) (48,990)
At31 December 2022 W-F-=f
tZA=1+-H 57434 1,037,745 (772,332) (14,825) (211,060) 44132 706,854 847,948

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be  LA_E4R#& #e 2 5 & 7k e 2 R B MY B 5 — OF B RE o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2023

—EC=EER FTREEIBEERAT 135

GERERER

BE - FE_=Ff+ _HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —F==
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
LiEsd FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBHNRATKE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEi A (E518) m F (87,539) 10,171
Adjustments for: HIATIEBELAZE
Finance costs B 7% A AR 8 12,032 15,054
Interest income A EWA 7 = (322)
Defined benefit obligations expense TR B ER 6 2,016 3,915
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME - BEREREER
plant and equipment olén 6,7 (10,738) (5,475)
Impairment of goodwill EERE = 3,742
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB RRETE
equipment 6 68,235 67,265
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets CREEENE 6 37,359 33,323
Impairment of property, plant and Mm% - BB RRERE
equipment - 3,212
Written off contract fulfilment costs BHE R A SE = 5,051
Impairment loss/(reversal) of financial SREEREREE(BE)
assets 6 2,070 (132)
Provision for obsolete inventories BREFERE 6 11,310 2,738
Warranty provision RIER R 6 14,039 19,368
48,784 157,910
(Increase)/decrease in inventories e CEm, wmd (10,801) 16,514
Increase in trade receivables EWE =78 SHIBEM
from third parties (4,502) (10,812)
Increase in prepayments, other receivables TEJFIE « H b FEUFIE K&
and other assets H Ath & EE &N (5,420) (783)
Increase in amounts due from fellow JE L2 [ 24 B JB8 X R RIBE N
subsidiaries (14,499) (82,682)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from FEUIE R A B FRIE (3L 00), R
holding companies D (13,922) 20,396
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B E =78 5HKBLM,
to third parties CR A 45,972 (13,193)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities, &#B&E « HibEAZIER
other payables and accruals FEETE MR O /180 (22,175) 11,055
Increase in amounts due to fellow FEASS [R) 2 Bt A RIRIESE N
subsidiaries 16,123 49,140
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to FEAT AR A RIFRIBIG A0,
holding companies O’ ) 25,693 (5,512)
Decrease in defined benefit obligations ERER A B EFER (3,731) (3,621)
Decrease in warranty provision RIS R D (8,683) (20,455)
Cash generated from operations REXEBNHRERA 52,839 117,957
Income tax refunded FriStiiR Fi 32,722 -
Income tax paid PR1S B SAS (14,820) (3,939)
Net cash flows from operating activities  EEEEHFHELSRA 70,741 114,018
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= R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF GEBERER®
CASH FLOWS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BHE—E_=F+_HA=+—HIFFE
2023 2022
—E-= —ZF==

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Lz FER FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHNRSKE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received EFE = 322
Purchases of items of property, plantand ~ BEE¥Z - BFE RH&HIE R

equipment (48,806) (55,101)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, &Y - HE MR EHEE T

plant and equipment 1§38 17,282 7,463
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZEBWFRESR (31,524) (47,316)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETHNRSRE

ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bank and other loans EBIRIT REAMAE T = (65,215)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENRBEDMAFE)

(including interest paid) (32,679) (32,524)
Interest on bank loans IRITIERF B - (5,920)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEFEHNFRESRH (32,679) (103,659)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERRSEEBE MM

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS () FE 6,538 (36,957)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F¥ 2R & kA EEIEE

year 122,780 184,565
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ 5 & &) 52 25 58 6,646 (24,828)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATEND X zHERBESEEEEB

OF YEAR 135,964 122,780

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LA F4R& IR 47 & K FEE RIFE M B sF — OFBIRE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
BeijingWest Industries International Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands. Its registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands and the shares of the Company are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) were principally involved in the manufacturing,
sale and trading of automotive parts and components, and the
provision of technical services.

BWI Company Limited (“BWI HK”) and BeijingWest Industries
Co., Ltd. Gt RAE I AR A A]) (“BWI”) are immediate
and intermediate holding companies of the Group, which are
incorporated in Hong Kong and Mainland China with limited
liability, respectively.

On 5 September 2022, Shougang Group Co., Ltd. (Bl &
EHPR A7) and BeijingWest Smart Mobility Zhangjiakou
Automotive Electronics Co., Ltd. (AR TEREROSEEF A
[RA7]) (“BWSM”) signed an equity transfer agreement for the
transfer of 55.45% equity interest in BWI. Upon completion of
this transaction on 19 September 2022, BWSM indirectly held
52.55% shareholding interest in the Company through BWI.

In the year of 2023, Zhangjiakou Financial Holding Group Co.,
Ltd. ((RX A& @ZEMR & E AR 2 ) (“Zhangjiakou Holding”),
the controlling shareholder of BWSM, made a series of direct
and indirect capital injection into BWSM, which then made
capital injection into BWI. After these capital injections,
Zhangjiakou Holding directly and indirectly held a total of
approximately 62.89% shareholding interest in BWSM and
BWSM directly held 84.34% shareholding interest in BWI.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Zhangjiakou Holding,
which is a state-owned enterprise established in the People’s
Republic of China
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
1.1 Information about subsidiaries

FEMBRRM T @®

e e
1. XAREEEFR (R

1.1 EENREQRANESN

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

ARREEMBABZFBEMOT

follows:
Date and place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered share equity attributable
Name place of business Kind of legal entity capital to the Company Principal activities
EaLIA
B AR BRITEER/ KA RELRE
1 NREEDLY ERERER EMBRA L4 IRRE
Direct  Indirect
EE S
BWI France SAS.  France Limited liability EUR2,002,500 - 100  Provision of research
A company 2,002,500 7 and technical
13 August 2009 BRART services
“ZENFNAT=R RETTE LR MRS
BWI UK Limited United Kingdom Limited liability GBP5,938,975 - 100 Manufacture and sale
HE company 5,938,975 54 of automotive parts
16 June 2009 BR R and components
“EENEAATAR RERBENETHMR
it
BWI Poland Poland Limited liability PLN55,538,150 = 100 Manufacture and sale
Technologies it company 55,538,150 of automotive parts
$.2.0.0. 12 March 2009 ARAR KRLER and components
(“BWI Poland") “ETNF-AtZH RERBEETHHR
it
BWI Czech Republic ~ Czech Limited liability CZK140,000,000 = 100 Manufacture and sale
5.1.0. BR company 140,000,000 of automotive parts
(“BWI Czech”) 20 May 2015 BRART Rrri and components
“E-nFRAZTH

RERBEETHHR
Tl



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2.

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY
BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:
e Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
e Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”)

e Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “Interpretations”).

These consolidated financial statements are prepared under
the historical cost convention and are presented in Hong Kong
dollars. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in Note 3.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(@ New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has adopted the following new and amended
standards for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 17

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and Policies

HKFRS Practical
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

The new and amended standards listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.

Amendments to HKAS 12 “International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules” have been issued on 23 May
2023 and are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Group has
adopted the amendments and applied the temporary
exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from tax
law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two Model Rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development. The Group
has engaged tax expert to evaluate and would continually
evaluate the impact of the Pillar Two income tax exposure
on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED g E T E L IERAC )
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 —E-=Ff+-H=+—H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. RBEEREFHRETEE)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 B BRER 2B RKEGE)

(continued)

(b) New and amended standards and interpretations (b) ie RERAHYHTR] RRARMERT AR
not yet adopted 2
The Group has not applied the following new and REB R ANLFFA M BHRRER
revised standards, that have been issued but are not yet TEEME B RAEBBFE] RIS
effective, in these consolidated financial statements. These Bl - THHAZF ST A RRENE AT SR
amendments and interpretations are not expected to have RBEMATSGHAEEL AR 2K
a material impact on the Group in the current or future RRXGELEATE o

reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on

or after
RUTEBERA
®EKRHETHE
X
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
B G ERFBIRUERI N - HRESEBRE A IFTBE D —ZE-_WFE—-A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
FR GRS IRUER]A)- WHEZAENIERE R IE —E_MFE—-A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
EEMBRELENF1RIERTA) - EL MO WHEERE —ZE-_WFE—-A—H
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
ERGAERE7RLRBEBYBRELRNE7R BTN - HEFHELH —E_MFE—-A—H
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) — Classification by the Borrower of a 1 January 2024
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause —ZE_mMFE—-HF—H
BEREBESRUERTA) - EAN LW ER B EERAZ EHENZ 7 HE
Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
ERGEENRUETN) - B AT LA “ZE-RF—-H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture FE

BV BHRESEF 10 RBB ST ERE 28R IEFTN)- KRELZHAB LN A]
AR ETRZANEELEHTA
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are for the
Group consisting the Company and its subsidiaries. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

i.  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

ii. rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

iii. the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

@

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information

(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any
gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED g E T E L IERAC )
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 —E-=FF+=ZA=+—H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. RBEEREFHRETEE)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 B BUREE (8])
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information LBIEESTHRERE)
(continued)
(b) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (b) Y¥ - BERREURITE (&)

(continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis EWX - BERRERB ZFETD
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant RELF A A F H A B AR M
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated HERANEERSREERE - BLicAr
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this KA EBFTEFRMOT -
purpose are as follows:
Building 3.33% ~ 5% B 3.33%%5%
Machinery and equipment 9% — 20% Hees KR 9%%20%
Motor vehicles 9% — 20% A 9%%20%
Special tools 20% FRITA 20%
Computer equipment and BRI R

others 18% —33.33% Hpt 18%%E33.33%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and H—EYE  BERRESHLLZ
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of A AFEEBIWAER - ZEBZ
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among ARG BERREH D WD
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Bc - MEED HIERERIFTE - FER
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation BE  AEAFHRFETEED
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at REMBFEHRKRT - EEE
least at each financial year end. R EH A% ©
An item of property, plant and equipment —IEYE - BEREE(BEER
including any significant part initially recognised BEFERNERLD) N HEX
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future BT EERARHERTBEERLE
economic benefits are expected from its use or Ml - B ILHER - REERK
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement IFHER Y F R R R R FER A (A
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year HESRE W EE - AR
the asset is derecognised is the difference between BEZHEMSFUAFRERAE
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the Rl ZH °

relevant asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

(b)

()

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents building,
machinery and equipment, special tools, computer
equipment and others under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually
to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and transferred to intangible assets
when completed and ready for use.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. REEERSTBRERE (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
(e) Leases (continued)

2.3 St BERBE R
WIEEETBRERN &)

(e) HEHE)

Group as a lessee (continued) KEEEREKTEN (&)
i.  Right-of-use assets . (EREEE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets

as follows:

Land 99 years
Building 10 to 20 years
Machinery 3 to 5 years

Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. MEEERETBRBE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
(e) Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

2.3 B BERBIE (])
NEESTHEER (|

(e) HEHE)
AEEERAHAN (B)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

HEAE

HERAERHERK A%
HEAE LB EN R
EER - HENREREEE
N (BREEREE N BT
fo] & W 1H B 22 R ~ AR TR 8K
X b 3 i JE #9 R 2 AR B R
R AR R 64 B (B (R 78 M 78 2
# ARV BR o M B R R
AEETEEREARLER
g RABEENFKTEREARE
BESBAEEITENEER
BEENTEERKILES
MENRI » TEURR 8 83kt
e ] AR B S R AE A
TR S 3 M5 1 3 A R R
RBF °

EERENFNEAER -
T E RS 8 R EAB
BT AAEEESERAER
HER S A H I8 8 ERA
Ko HIBEHE HEA
BENESRAESEM - ARBR
FMEREmE e A E R
BB D o eoh - fi IR &
R HHIE®  HENRE
B (fIanis Bt X EHEH
ARBERRE) KB E
HEEEMNRERNTGHE
B AEFFEEAEREN
fREE -



150 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
(e) Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
iii. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office equipment that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

®

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

®

2

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of
an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the
sale of certain industrial products for general repairs
of defects occurring during the warranty period.
Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted
by the Group are recognised based on sales volume
and past experience of the level of repairs and returns,
discounted to their present values as appropriate.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information

(continued)
(h) Inventories

(i)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

¢ when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not arise equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences in a single
transaction; and
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

(i)

Income tax (continued)

e in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not arise equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences in a single transaction;
and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information

(continued)

(i)

G

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Employee benefits

i.  Defined contribution plans
The employees of subsidiaries of the Group
which operate in the United Kingdom and
Czech are entitled to defined contribution
pension benefits. Contributions are made by
such subsidiaries based on certain percentages
of the participating employees’ salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the relevant
pension schemes. The employer contributions
vest fully once made.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
() Employee benefits (continued)

i

if.

Defined contribution plans (continued)

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Defined benefit plans

The Group operates defined benefit pension
plans which require contributions to be made to
a separately administered fund for employees of
the Group’s certain subsidiaries which operate
in Europe. The benefits are unfunded. The cost
of providing benefits under the defined benefit
plans are determined using the projected unit
credit actuarial valuation method.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. RBEEREFHRETEE)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 B BERBIE (])

WIEEETBRERN &)

2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
() Employee benefits (continued)

ii.

Defined benefit plans (continued)
Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
pension plans, comprising actuarial gains
and losses, are recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position
with a corresponding debit or credit to the
remeasurement gains and losses on defined
benefit plans through other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

Service costs comprising current service
costs, past service costs, gains and losses on
curtailments and non-routine settlements are
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss by function.

Interest expense or income are recorded under
finance costs in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss
at the earlier of:

e the date of the plan amendment or
curtailment; and

e the date that the Group recognises
restructuring-related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate to the net defined benefit liability
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iii.  Termination benefits iii.  ARIFEREF

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

k)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

i.  Sale of automotive parts and components
Revenue from the sale of automotive parts
and components is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the
automotive parts and components.

ii.  Provision of technical services
The Group recognises technical services revenue
when it transfers control of the services to the
customers, which can occur over time or at a
point in time.

If the technical service is distinct, the Group
accounts for the technical service separately
from the production of automobile parts and
recognises revenue when service is delivered
to the customer. Revenue shall be recognised
over the production period if the service is not
distinct and considered to be combined with the
production.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

M

(m)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as
inventories, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

i.  The costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify.

ii. The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future.

iii. The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and
charged to the statement of profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates.

Non-refundable performance deposits paid to
customers are amortized on a systemic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the
goods or services to which the asset relates over the
expected duration of the contract and are recorded as
deduction of revenue.

@

(m)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
(n) Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is also the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss with the exception of monetary
items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until
the net investment is disposed of, at which time the
cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of
profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are
also recorded in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

(n)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries
are mainly currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss and statements of comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing
at the dates of the transactions.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)

(n)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the foreign operations are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of the foreign operations which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
(o) Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

i.  General approach

ECLs are measured at either 12-months
expected credit losses, or lifetime expected
credit losses, depending on whether there has
been a significant increases of credit risk. For
credit exposures for which there has not been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

TEC=FER ZAEEIBRERARAE 163

fR e B R R B & ()

—E-=Ff-HA=+—H

2. WMAEEREHHERE(E)

2.3 BETEHEMEE)
WIEEGHBERER(E)

(o) THEERE

AEBRRE W IFEAFEFAR
HNAEBEBIARMEEER
B - BHEREEBRERRE
BRIMNESRERAKEEH
WEHMARSRE A EREM
BE - WARBERF R LUER
B BHRERESBEOEMRF
BRI ER A DR —F DR E
EEEEMENRERE

i —AEE
BHEEEBBREZT_@AE
HEEEBERRERAEFEESRE
HEEEBEBIE RTEE
BB S AEIEM - 581
IRIEREBARABEZIENNE
ERkmE  BHEEERA
TIgh R+ @A AE A 8
BEMENEHMERNE
BEEXIREG+ _EAE
HEEER) - EVHEER
BEDAZENNEERR
mE @ THmAREEELD -
PR T B9 R R S HA R A 78 B
EEBBYAENREBERE
(BEFERBHEEEE) -

RERSEHE - AEBEFG
EMTAZEERRANN
BERARELHBEZLM -
RIEFER - AEELERE
MIARBEAHELEY
MR AR &/ T ARG
EREHPBELEHNER -
RS2 8 A 2 M AR m &
BENHTLBEZRAREN
IR ERZEN  BREESL
RATEIEER -



164 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
(o) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
i.  General approach (continued)
The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach
and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but that
are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.1Material accounting policy information
(continued)
(o) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
ii.  Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant
financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. WMAEEREHHERE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies
(@) Business combinations and goodwill

2.3 B BERBIE (])

232H T HERME
(@ EXESHRBEE

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED g E T E L IERAC )
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 —E-=FF+=ZA=+—H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. RBEEREFHRETEE)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 S HREBME(E)
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued) I 2HMEHBEME (S
(@) Business combinations and goodwill (continued) (a) EXBESHREE(E)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being
the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
(@) Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

(b)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments.

The Group’s all assets and liabilities for which fair
value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
(b) Fair value measurement (continued)

Levell -

Level 2 -

Level 3 -

based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by

reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement

as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

(c) Financial assets

e

Initial recognition and measurement

With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. RBEEREFHRETEE)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 S HREBME(E)
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued) 232EE ERE (8
(c) Financial assets (continued) (c) LHEEGE)
i.  Initial recognition and measurement (continued) i. RN EE (&)
The classification of financial assets at initial RYTHERE 2B ED
recognition depends on the financial asset’s HEARSREENAS DR
contractual cash flow characteristics and the S hRERELAANEREEZ
Group’s business model for managing them. ELMEENEBER -
In order for a financial asset to be classified and BF 4 ph & E al IR i Ak AR
measured at amortised cost or fair value through kIE AN FEEAAEMETE K
other comprehensive income, it needs to give HETHELEE  EEAL
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of M AYTNKRERLSRIEY
principal and interest (“SPP1”) on the principal ReERANENRERE © BT
amount outstanding. Financial assets with EEEeRETIEMAEAST
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and MRS EANENEREETY
measured at fair value through profit or loss, HABHZSELASE W4
irrespective of the business model. SmEE&E A -
The Group’s business model for managing AREEEESHEENER
financial assets refers to how it manages its BREENMAEEESHE
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. ENELRESRE - £/%8
The business model determines whether cash NEETRERESES XA WK
flows will result from collecting contractual e zHESRE  HES
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. FIEEAMEBEFS - R
Financial assets classified and measured at BRADBELAENESHEE
amortised cost are held within a business model BULEEEESREE K
with the objective to hold financial assets in AN ZHERENEBE
order to collect contractual cash flows, while XA MEAFEESFAE
financial assets classified and measured at fair meEEkFzS ELRSENS
value through other comprehensive income are BB ETIAS EEA AU EL
held within a business model with the objective AN ZHERERELEE (W
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows EHANEREREZE - I
and selling. Financial assets which are not held N L ERERBEENS
within the aforementioned business models are BEETNIEAFES AEZD
classified and measured at fair value through DINEE o

profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
(c) Financial assets (continued)
i.  Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

ii.  Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification, the Group’s
financial assets are debt investments that
classified and measured at amortised costs.

The Group only held financial assets measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

iii. ~ Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
(c) Financial assets (continued)
iii. — Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

e the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of
a guarantee over the transferred asset, under
which the continuing involvement asset at the
date of the transfer is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
(d) Financial liabilities
i.  Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially
at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings, and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
and other payables, and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings.

ii.  Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial
liabilities depends on their classification as
follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are incurred for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. REEERSTBRERE (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)
2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
(d) Financial liabilities (continued)

2.3 B BERBIE (])

232 BURELE (F)
d) SHEEGE)

ii.

iii.

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans
and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2. RBEEREFHRETEE)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 S HREBME(E)
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued) 232 e R E (G
(d) Financial liabilities (continued) d) 2HEEGE)
iii.  Derecognition of financial liabilities (continued) jii. HRIFEEASFE & ()

Financial guarantee contracts B ERE 4
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the REBRATZHEERAY
Group are those contracts that require a payment EBEREEEENZTUAER
to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it BEEARSTEEBEAFLER
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make BEEILEEREEZIER
a payment when due in accordance with the EMREmBLYAY - B
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee IR A G BIRE ANEE
contract is recognised initially as a liability at e —IHAE  WEEET
its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that ERTEHERGR SR AE
are directly attributable to the issuance of the H K o
guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group NIEFER % KEFLT
measures the financial guarantee contracts at NS EHEMBERS
the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined 47 (VB[ EERME]H
in accordance with the policy as set out in MBS ETFTHNTEHEZEE
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) BEE RGBEERZ S
the amount initially recognised less, when MR DR AN Eit4E
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income (G0 ) o
recognised.
Offsetting of financial instruments HiEemT A
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset BN AT E AN L
and the net amount is reported in the statement WO mZANesE B S
of financial position if there is a currently FELCFEEELE o[
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised BIWEER&EZEAE A
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a A ETHRS T A G
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the SEENI ISR E RN -

liabilities simultaneously.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

(e)

®

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits with initial term less than 3 months, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have
a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
() Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

a. the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

i. has control or joint control over the Group;

ii.  has significant influence over the Group; or

iii. is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

b.  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

i.  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

ii. ~ one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

iii.  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

iv. one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

2.3 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3.2Summary of other accounting policies (continued)
() Related parties (continued)
b.  (continued)

V.

Vi.

Vil.

Vill.

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;
and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in a.;

a person identified in a. i. has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements requires the use
of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise
judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(@) Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will increase the depreciation
charges where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, or will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and therefore depreciation charge in the
future periods. Further details are set out in notes 2.3.1(b)
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

(c)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Management reassesses the estimation at
the end of the reporting period. Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Capitalisation of contract fulfilment costs

The Group capitalises costs that are not within the scope
of HKAS 2, HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 as contract fulfilment
costs when those costs are related to the contracts with
customers, generated or enhanced the resources used to
satisfy performance obligation and are expected to be
recovered.

The Group’s management needs to judge and estimate
whether such capitalised costs can be recovered, based
on experience, historical data and estimation of the
profitability of the contract.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. Further details are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
For trade receivables from third parties with significant
credit risk, they were identified and individually assessed
by comparing the present value of estimated future cash
flows with the carrying amount.

For other trade receivables are grouped uses a provision
matrix to calculate ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings that have shared credit
characteristics. The provision matrix is initially based on
the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For instance,
if forecast economic conditions (e.g., the fluctuation of
the unit price of steel and restriction policy in motor
industries) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(e)

®

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of and provision against inventories
Management reviews the condition of inventories of
the Group at the end of the reporting period and makes
provision against inventories. Net realisable value of
inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expense. These estimates are based on the
current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
It could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations, and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycle. Management reassesses the estimation at
the end of the reporting period. Further details are set out
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages
in business activities from which revenues are earned and
expenses are incurred, and is identified on the basis of the
internal financial reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM”) in order to allocate
resources and assess performance of the segment. The CODM
has been identified as the Executive Directors of the Company.

For the years presented, as the Group’s business activities are
mainly in the manufacturing, sale and trading of automotive
parts and components, and the provision of technical services.
The performance of the Group is reviewed by the CODM
as a whole thus it is concluded that the Group has only one
single reportable segment. Therefore, no analysis by operating
segment is presented.

(@) Products and services

FEMBRRM T @®

—=
—=

e —=F+=A=1—A
4.

REDMER
REDBE—REENEMEBL - ZEBMHR
ENREEDEEERAREZELER WA
TBRERRETHEHNRAADEERMF
B0 BRRIE M BB 75 B A B RE T
Bl e RRRIZHITEFHRAERERFEER
RE -

ERIIRFERN  AEBEEHEE  HE
BB TET M ROT A R S AR
e TELEBRREHAREMEEATE
BASERIE—ERE  RHAKERE—
BEEEDEE - Fitt - WEEHNEZED O
#r o

(@) Em&RH

Revenue from external customers KEIIBEFEZ K72
2023 2022
—E_-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBTT
Sale of industrial products HETX¥ER 2,509,036 2,283,267
Technical service income M7 AR 5 A 199,825 195,113
2,708,861 2,478,380
(b) Geographical information (b) HEEH

i.  Revenue from external customers i. XKEIEEFZ Kz

2023 2022
—EC=F T

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Germany = 723,242 597,648
United Kingdom HEH 669,654 685,727
United States 5 591,966 631,500
Mainland China A B A i 29,673 62,783
Other countries H R 694,326 500,722
2,708,861 2,478,380

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

A LWz ERHRE PSS -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Geographical information (continued)
ii. ~ Non-current assets

“—EC=EER

FEMBRRM T @®

—=
—=

E =+ -A=1+—H
4.

e EME R (F)

(b) HEZEH (&)
ii. FREEE
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2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Poland B 723,631 664,664
Czech 7320 137,781 155,383
United Kingdom RE = 52,748
Other countries R ETER 40,938 24,968
902,350 897,763

The non-current assets” information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes deferred
tax assets.

(c) Information about major customers
During the reporting period, the revenues which were
generated from three (2022: four) of the Group’s customers
and were individually accounted for more than 10% of the
Group's total revenue are as follows:

A EFERBEEEHREEMEM
N ETEEEEREARE -

(0 TEEFEH

RBEHE  AAEEBKEA10%
MARBEEFE=2(CT - @

&) SR

2023 2022

—E-= =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Customer A ZEA 480,532 439,346
Customer B ZFB 340,987 327,655
Customer C BEC 298,601 261,895
Customer D* EFD* 255,840* 291,844
1,375,960 1,320,740

& The relevant revenue generated from that customer during
the year ended 31 December 2023 did not exceed 10% of
the Group’s revenue.

* BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLF
B HREFPELENERAKI BB

AEBUWZEAI10% °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED SO B HE N @

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 —E_=F+-_H=+—H

5. REVENUE 5. W
Revenue represents: (1) the net invoiced value of goods sold, W (WMEEREEFE  HKREER
net of value-added tax and government surcharges and excludes MBI E REERASREREBEBENE
sale taxes, and after allowance for returns and trade discounts; STHEOWZS - Q)BT MER RS 4
and (2) an appropriate proportion of contract revenue of HELHIZ AKWE

technical and consultancy service contracts.

An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REBZBESFTWT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E- 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHH W
Sale of industrial products HETXER 2,509,036 2,283,267
Technical service income B iy iR A WA 199,825 195,113
2,708,861 2,478,380
2023 2022
—EB=F g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 25 7 B B
Industrial products and services transferred at 4% % mn sl 70 5 — R BE 8% IR 75
a point of time 2,703,741 2,473,435
Services transferred over time BE = % 2 RIS 5,120 4,945

2,708,861 2,478,380
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

6.

—E-=Ff-HA=+—H

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FRBLAT(EE), EF
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax from operations is arrived at AEBKLREBRBAT(ER) % F T
after charging/(crediting): B GEA) TIISERZET
2023 2022
—E=F -z
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
g FHET T
Cost of inventories sold and services EEFERERERY
provided AR 2,310,143 2,044,288
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB RRETE
equipment 14 68,235 67,265
Impairment of property, plant and Mm% - BB REREHRE
equipment 14 - 3,212
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 15(a) 37,359 33,323
Impairment of goodwill EERE 16 = 3,742
Lease payments not included in the TEAAGERERE
measurement of lease liabilities R ER 15(c) 193 227
Auditors’ remuneration 2 BAT BN 5 2,170 3,778
Employee benefit expense (including EERMNAX(BHEES
directors’ and chief executive’s RE@ITBAB#
remuneration): B
Wages, salaries, severances and benefits* T& * #i® - EHER
&R 518,741 438,630
Defined benefit obligation expenses EREMEERX 24(c) 2,016 3,915

520,757 442,545
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Annual Report 2023

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=FF+=ZA=+—H
6. BRBiAI(E5E), Wi (E)

2023 2022
:g:E —_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FExT FHT
Research and development costs GIREI PN 275,546 237,437
Less: staff costs included in research and & @ 5T AWK A Z BT
development costs FX AN (136,713) (111,414)
Research and development costs, net of WFEEAR AN - HIBR B TAK A
staff costs 138,833 126,023
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant HE&EYE - B/E Mk EE
and equipment B e 7 (10,738) (5,475)
Written off contract fulfilment costs B #0& R A 88 = 5,051
Impairment losses on financial assets, net: & g4 & E R ([BE1B/F 58 -
Impairments loss/(reversal) on JEWE=FE5
trade receivables from third parties, net HRBERE
CR{E#: =)
HEE 19(a) 1,525 (421)
Impairment loss on trade receivables e BAESE 77 B 5 BIE Y
from related parties, net BB R R 19(b) 545 289
2,070 (132)
Provision for obsolete inventories** RET R 18 11,310 2,738
Recognise provision for warranties, net RIS BB ER TR 25 14,039 19,368
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 3 A RR R R 7 26,411 (17,008)

As at December 31, 2023, defined contribution plans payables

O RIEBEZ=F+TZA=+—8  EEHEX

were HK$674,000 (2022: HK$63,000). During the year ended 31
December 2023, no forfeited contributions were utilised by the
Group to reduce its contributions for the current year (2022: nil)

**  The provision for obsolete inventories is included in “Cost of
sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

k%

HEIEMFRIBE A674,0008 L (Z T - —4F
63,00087T) - BE T -_=F+=-A=+
—AILFE - AEEYWED LUK BE
BOERAEENER CE_ZF : 4)
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A o
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS 7.

—E-=Ff-HA=+—H

RAETIEMRAERLE 189

H AR B At (B518) Wz F 8

- NET
An analysis of the Group’s other income and (losses)/gains is as REBZHEtMAR(EE), WD wm
follows: T
2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHET
(@) Other income (@ HfkA
Bank interest income RITH S WA 140 322
Profit from sales of scrap materials, KEHERER - RE RS
prototypes and samples B A 26,560 19,735
Government grants BT 7 B 1,140 42
Others Hit 2,787 3,764
30,627 23,863
(b) Other (losses)/gains - net (b) Htt(EHE) WEFE
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 5 Z REH R (26,411) 17,008
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BEREREER
plant and equipment Colihgas 10,738 5,475
(15,673) 22,483
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BB
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Interest on defined benefit plans RN EEN S 3,771 1,780
Interest on lease liabilities HEABNTE 8,261 9,372
Interest on bank loans IRITEARFE - 3,902
12,032 15,054
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

9.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE'S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff-HA=+—H

9. EERRSITHAEHMH

R EHARA - FEQBEAIFE383(1)()
(b) ~ (ORMEARARRPIE2M(HKEES

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 MABERBRBECEERESTRABZF
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of WEFBIN T
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
E2 A= 1) Bike
e BRI BE a3 we
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET THET TET TER
2023 -
Executive directors: BITES:
Mr. Dong Xiaojie RIRESE - - - -
Mr. Chang Ket Leong (appointed with ~ B2 4 (BT ==F
effect from 28 July 2023) +tAZ+N\HREZT) - - - -
Mr. Zheng Jianwei (appointed with PerErE(A-E_=F
effect from 2 August 2023) NAZBREZRE) - - - -
Mr. Chen Zhouping (chief executive BRATEE (GSITHAR
resigned with effect from 13 July R-ZE-_=F+A+=H
2023) BHT) = 2,205 110 2,315
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Li Zhi (resigned with effect from TELER-_Z-_=F
2 August 2023) NAZBEE) - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BIYFHTES !
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRERE 240 = = 240
Mr. Yip Kin Man, Raymond (resigned ~ ZRREL V=T ZWF
with effect from 10 February 2024) ZA+HBED 240 = = 240
Mr. Chan Pat Lam [k ke 240 - - 240
Chief executive: BETHAR:
Mr. Xi Jianpeng (appointed with effect ~ FRBSFER T _=F
from 1 October 2023) TA—HERZMI) - 247 12 259
720 2,452 122 3,294
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2023 —E_=F+-_H=+—H
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVF’S 9. EERBEITHRAEHME)
REMUNERATION (continued)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
e 2R BRE
e R HEGT B e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FHT FHET
2022 —E-F
Executive directors: HTES
Mr. Dong Xiaojie (appointed with effect R/NRFEE(B-T__F
from 21 September 2022) NAZ+—BREZMA) - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiuliang (resigned with effect  BAREERZTZZF
from 21 September 2022) NAZ+—HEHE) - - - -
Mr. Chen Zhouping (chief executive) — BRATFEE(ZRITHAE) = 2,136 107 2,243
Non-executive director: FERTEE
Mr. Li Zhi FEEE = = = =
Independent non-executive directors: BV IFHTEE :
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B ERE 240 - - 240
M. Yip Kin Man, Raymond ERRtE 240 - - 240
Mr. Chan Pat Lam RIS E 240 - - 240
720 2,136 107 2,963
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

9. DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(@

(b)

(9]

(d)

Director’s retirement and termination benefits
The termination benefits paid to the Company’s director
Mr. Chen Zhouping during 2023 is HK$1,068,000 (2022:
Nil). Other than this, no retirement benefits or no other
termination benefits have been paid to the Company’s
directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

No loans, quasi-loans or other dealings are entered into
by the Company in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with any directors
during 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contract

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED e MR R MY & ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2023 —E_=F+-_H=+—H
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEEEFHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included one FANLERSHEERE REF(CE
director (2022: one), details of the remuneration for the year ToF ) EHENER(CE-—F: @
of the remaining four (2022: four) highest paid employees who BIERRFEFHRRTRAENRSH
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as BEMFHMFEOT -
follows:
2023 2022
—B-= —EF_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ERMEREYRE 6,304 4,900
Performance related bonuses HRIFEMG 2 TE4T 52 11
6,356 4,911

The remuneration of these non-director and non-chief executive ZEHmeHEE CIFEHNMIEZSITHRAR)Z

highest paid employees fell within the following bands: FMNFATEHE :
Number of employees
EEAH
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7L22,000,000/48 7T 3 4
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,0017&7C2 3,000,000/ 7T 1 -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED fR e B R R B & ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 —E-=FF+=ZA=+—H

11. INCOME TAX 11. 8

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year
(2022: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates. The rates of tax prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates include:

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HIL=FE " &
RAEERFT AL ELETBEET(AERMR
A MY EHEBENESRIELBECS
ToF ) HiithE A ERBE A T8
ERAEELEIERROBITH RS -
AEBEEMERRMBITRERR

2023 2022
—E-= T
(%) (%)
Luxembourg ERE 24.94 24.94
Poland Vil 1 19.00 19.00
United Kingdom g 23.52 19.00
France VEE 25.00 25.00
Germany = 29.83 29.83
Italy BN 27.90 27.90
Czech 72 19.00 19.00
2023 2022

—E_-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Current income tax (credit)/expense BVERFr SR (), (24,552) 14,712
Deferred tax (Note 26) EEFIR (K71 26) (7,667) 344

Total tax (benefit)/charge for the year FRMIE (S X e (32,219) 15,056
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FEMBRRM T @®

31 December 2023 —=FtZA=+—H
11. INCOME TAX (continued) 11. FrEH (&)
A reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax at the applicable BREBAT(BE), RFRSEARNEEERER
prevailing tax rate of each group entities to the tax (benefit)/ BANERREREREFEZHAGR),
expense at the effective tax rates as follows: S 2 SRS
2023 2022
—E2-= —F==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Loss)/Profit before tax iR (E18), 5 A (87,539) 10,171
Income tax (benefit)/charge at the BREEANEEERERAR R
applicable tax rate of each Group entities BOREH
(58) /X (13,415) 4,158
Income not subject to tax BARTIUA (2,379) (1,427)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes GIEi kb2 38,695 20,369
R&D tax relief (Note a) R ER W Fa) (21,636) (5,160)
Withholding tax refund RIBR - (3,274)
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax AEBRELEHRIBEENAR
asset has been recognised & AR AR 18 - 1,479
Tax refund (Note b) R (HTaED) (32,722) -
Impact of change in the applicable income tax &/ TS5 & 2 B ¥R IETIE
rate on deferred tax W& - (33)
Others HAt (762) (1,056)
Tax (benefit)/charge at the effective rate REBRBRRFENHIRAGE
),/ Fx (32,219) 15,056
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

11.

12.

13.

INCOME TAX (continued)

Notes:

(@) According to Polish tax regulations, BWI Poland enjoyed double
tax deduction benefits for part of the eligible research and
development (“R&D”) expenses. In the past few years, some
expenses paid to related companies and fellow subsidiaries were
not recognised by the Polish tax authorities to enjoy the double
tax deduction benefits. In 2023, after the Group’s continuous
application and clarification, some of these expenses were
recognised and deducted from the 2023 taxable income, which
resulted in the material increase of R&D tax relief in the tax
reconciliation.

(b)  From 2018 to 2021, due to the cap of the tax regulations imposed
by the Polish tax authorities, part of the selling and general
administrative (“SG&A”) expenses paid by BWI Poland to related
companies and fellow subsidiaries could be deducted, failing
to treat all of these expenses as tax deductible. Afterwards, BWI
Poland applied to the Polish tax authorities for an “Advance
Pricing Arrangement”, which was accepted by the Polish tax
authorities during the current period. After the acceptance of
the “Advance Pricing Arrangement”, all of the above-mentioned
expenses can be treated as tax deductible and BWI Poland got a
refund of income tax paid in previous years with total amount of
approximately HK$31,200,000.

DIVIDEND

On 27 March 2024, the board of directors of the Company has
resolved not to propose for any final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 574,339,068 (2022: 574,339,068) in issue during the year.

The diluted loss per share were the same as basic loss per share
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 as the Group
did not have any potential ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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14. V¥ - BER®RE

Machinery Computer
and Motor Special  equipment  Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles tools  andothers in progress Total
ERRE
£ ) AE  BAIA REf  ERIR it
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TER TR TEn TR TEn
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-=E+ZA=1-H
LLEE
At1 January 2023: W-B-=£-F-R:
Cost KA 68,178 6,740 55,871 93,862 4539 897,676
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 7 E Rl E (19578)  (358,040) (,331) (36844 (74,030) - (493,823
Net carrying amount EREE 48,600 1,409 19,027 19,852 45,392 403,853
Opening net carrying amount BORAFE 48,600 1,409 19,027 19,852 45392 403,853
Additions RE - 1,774 2,487 1,755 55,536 62,137
Depreciation provided during the year FRRERGBMWIL)

(Note 6) (2,966)  (47,747) (711) (9,069) (7,742) = (68,235)
Disposals HE = (6,049) = (495) = (6,544)
Transfers &y 1,801 1,409 1,273 1,441 (94,830) -
Exchange realignment R B 5,651 106 2,704 39 7,076 39,654
Closing net carrying amount HREEFE 53,086 3,987 25927 15,702 13,174 430,865
At31 December 2023: RZB=£1t-R=1-8:

Cost KA 77,541 9,868 77,608 99,752 13174 1,029,488
Accumulated depreciation and impairment B3 4TE KA E (24455)  (432,5560) (5,881) (51,681) (84,050) - (598,623)
Net carrying amount BESE 53,086 3,987 25,927 15,702 13174 430,865




198 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2023
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FEMBRRM T @®

e e
14. Y% - BE K& (&)

(continued)
Machinery Computer
and Motor Special equipment  Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles tools and others  in progress Total
ik
BEY  RERRE g BRIIR REf  ERIE it
HKS000  HK$000  HK§'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TR TAn THEx TR TER THEx TR
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-F--%#+-R=1-H
LLER
At 1 January 2022: W-Z--F-F-H:
Cost KA 67580 659,108 7,197 46,054 99,512 45586 925,037
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 23 47& Rl E (18280 (347,129) (659 (0759  (70329) - sy
Net carrying amount BEFE 49300 311979 1,538 15,25 29,187 45586 452,885
Opening net carrying amount BOERHE 49300 311,979 1538 15,295 29,187 45,586 452,885
Additions RE - 483 520 2226 855 51,017 55,101
Depreciation provided during the year FRiERRE (o)

(Note 6) (259  (46,861) (498) (8,770) (8,538) - (67,265)
Disposals e - (1,665) - - - (323) (1,988)
Impairment (Note 6/ AGR) - (2,257) - (955) - - (3.212)
Transfers &% 5,565 28,442 3 12,09 1,157 (47,299) S
Exchange realignment 3] (3,667) (20,548) (189) (865) (2,809) (3,590) (31,668)
Closing net carrying amount BRERHE 48600 269573 1,409 19,007 19,852 4539 403,85
At31 December 2022: R-BZZF+ZR=1-R:

Cost KA 68,178 627613 6,740 55,871 93,862 4539 897,676
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment ~ Z&F T ERIA(E (19,578) (358,040) (5,331) (36,844) (74,030) = (493,823)
Net carrying amount REHE 48600 269573 1,409 19,07 19,852 4539 403,85

No property, plant and equipment of the Group were held
under finance leases as lessor at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

RZB_=F+-R=+—H ~"EEHE
REBEHEESHBEARBEZNE - BE

LEE(CE_—F  |E) -
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15. LEASES 15. &

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land,
buildings, machinery and motor vehicles used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased
land from the owners with lease periods of 99 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of buildings and machinery generally have lease
terms between 5 and 20 years, while motor vehicles generally
have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

(@ Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

REBEEREEA
AEBERARELENT BT Bk
NEZERENEESY - AEEEREX
[ —RMERIEARER ARBEREE LM
HEIR99%F - MREZF LA E R RFK
B EHEERE N MERKIR - BT RHER
WEEBEENFSE205F - MABENHHEE
BNF225F - —RME - ARETARA
SEUINALTEBREDEMEEERE -

@ EAREE
REEEAREE T BEERENS

and the movements during the year are as follows: LU
Leasehold Motor
land Buildings  Machinery vehicles Total
HELH BF Hes HE At
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000

TR TR TR TR TR

As at 1 January 2022 R-Z-—%—A—R 7,784 313,132 1,486 2,379 324,781
Additions NE = 16,036 5,014 2,882 23,932
Depreciation charge (Note 6) &% i (f:#6) (261) (30,233) (1,066) (1,763) (33,323)
Exchange realignment P AR (589) (15,304) (89) (140) (16,122)
As at 31 December 2022 RZZB__%+_H

=+-8 6,934 283,631 5,345 3,358 299,268
As at 1 January 2023 R-T=-=F—f—H 6,934 283,631 5,345 3,358 299,268
Additions AE = 1,170 1,765 4,008 6,943
Depreciation charge (Note 6) ~ FTEX H (AiiF6) (294) (32,262) (2,110) (2,693) (37,359)
Exchange realignment B ¢ FH 965 12,908 202 271 14,346
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=H

=+-H 7,605 265,447 5,202 4,944 283,198
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15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Lease liabilities

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

15. HHE (&)
AEBEEEABEA(E)
b) HEERE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FAEEBBENFEMEREZSHNT

during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
—E2-= —F==
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FTET
Carrying amount at 1 January MW—A—B®REE 306,199 335,395
New leases FHEE 6,943 23,932
Accretion of interest recognised during the &2 HER R F B 1L 18
year 8,261 9,372
Repayment of lease liabilities (including ~ EEEE8EBFEDNFL)
interest paid) (32,679) (32,524)
Exchange realignment BE 5 A% 11,209 (29,976)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZRA=+—B8KEE 299,933 306,199
Analysed into: DR
Current portion mEE D 38,278 33,610
Non-current portion FEMENEL 5 261,655 272,589
Carrying amount at 31 December R+Z—A=+—BNKREE 299,933 306,199
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (0 PREZPERNESHBERIENT
leases are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGHE 8,261 9,372
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets & EH T EL ) 37,359 33,361
Expense relating to short-term leases S I E BB XX 193 227
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIB R P HER IR AR R 45,813 42,960
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 29(c) d) MERSRDBENGS M BBRKRMT

to the consolidated financial statements.

29(c)# 55 o
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31 December 2023 —=FtZA=+—H
16. GOODWILL 16. &
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2022: RZB-__F—HF—RH:
Cost A 4,956
Accumulated impairment REHRE -
Net carrying amount BREDFE 4,956
Opening net carrying amount at 1 January 2022 RZZE_—F—HA—HK
HAYIBREFE 4,956
Impairment during the year FRRIE (3,742)
Exchange realignment DEE 3¢, 8 (318)
Closing net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 RZB_—_F+-A=+—H
HRRREFE 896
At 31 December 2022: R-F_—_fF+-A=+—H:
Cost AR 4,526
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (3,630)
Net carrying amount R HE 896
Opening net carrying amount at 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-_=F—A—HH
HAYI AR E A 896
Exchange realignment DEE 3¢, 5 B (228)
Closing net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+—HHK
HIRBREFE 668
At 31 December 2023: RZBZ=F+HA=+—8H:
Cost PR 4,510
Accumulated impairment REHRE (3,842)
Net carrying amount FRE#E 668
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31 December 2023

16. GOODWILL (continued)

Management has performed impairment testing for goodwill
and any further changes of the key assumption, i.e. the discount

FEMBRRM T @®

—=#+=A=+—4

16. EE (&)
ERECEHRBETRENR  MEERR
HEE— S EB) (BRI E R EHMK) B

rate and the gross profit margin, will impact the Group’s %$%E’]%ﬁ&ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁ/ﬂ HERTEYT
performance and financial position but the impact of which is TEK o
insignificant.
17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS HithERBEE
2023 2022
—E2-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-refundable performance deposits paid to XNGEEPTEREN
customers BHI%E 48,512 56,215
Contract fulfilment cost (Note) BHE R A (KaE) 176,767 171,069
225,279 227,284
Less: Current portion of contract fulfilment cost 13 :  B#IE RKAKRE
(Note 20) BB (Hia20) (37,660) (33,538)
187,619 193,746
Note: Bzt -
Contract fulfilment cost represents the pre-production costs directly BHOEBRAEEERBREFARIAEEED

attributable to customer contracts or to anticipated customer contracts
that the Group has specifically identified. The capitalised contract
costs are amortised and charged to the statement of profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of
the goods or services to which the asset relates.

REBNEREFARMNEEMKA - BRI
MERKABRER  TREATFEENEE
HEANE mIURH — R RREMGT ABRR -
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18. INVENTORIES 18. 78
2023 2022
—EB=fF g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Raw materials R 135,921 118,232
Work in progress ER G 28,830 27,712
Finished goods UK S 33,730 38,489
198,481 184,433
Provision for impairment S E B (18,122) (7,350)
180,359 177,083
The movements in the provision for impairment of inventories FERERENHESHOT
are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
At beginning of the year RFH] (7,350) (5,012)
Write-off of inventories MeEFE 1,786 231
Impairment losses recognised, net (Note 6) B fE R EE 1R %5 (M iTe) (11,310 (2,969)
Exchange realignment PE % FH % (1,248) 400
At end of the year RER (18,122) (7,350)
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19(a). TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM THIRD PARTIES 19(a). ESZEWRIE-E£=4H

2023 2022
—EC-=F —EF-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

Trade receivables B S EWERIE 348,872 342,705

Impairment BIE (4,834) (2,882)

Total @t 344,038 339,823

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally one to three months for the customers. Each
third party customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has control to minimise the credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Concentrations of credit risk are managed
by analysis by customer. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables from third
parties as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEBEETP 2RI E SRR ARE
BE  EHEP—RBEREMNR - T
FOEEH-—RR—Z=MEAR - 8EF
=HEPHRBEELR - AEESXK
BARER EAREERURBNEEEER
Rk - BHESRHSREEAETHE
B mESTHNEERREZRBREPZSD
RER - AREWEREE ZRIEH
RESRPFEEMERRIEREMEE
KRB o

RREARIRE R B 27Nk EER
HHRKE=78 S5 FIEN KRR DTN
T

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within 3 months =@EAA 342,214 338,992
3 months to 1 year —BRE—F 1,824 831

344,038 339,823
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19(@). TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM THIRD PARTIES

(continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables from third parties are as follows:

TEIZEFR mBEEIEBRERXA 205
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B RWHIE-F=5 (&)

BUWE = HE 5 FE 2R EERREE
T

2023 2022
—E-=F g

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At beginning of the year REA (2,882) (3,789)
Impairment (losses)/reversal ERRRE(ER), o

recognised (Note 6) (Ktite) (1,525) 421

Amount written off as uncollectible A7~ B] 4 Bl i i 8 2 SR I8 = 114

Exchange realignment IE 5 % (427) 372

At end of the year RER (4,834) (2,882)

For trade receivables with significant credit risk, they
were identified and individually assessed by comparing
the present value of estimated future cash flows with the
carrying amount. Others were grouped based on shared
credit risk to assess the expected credit losses.

HREREERRNE S RKFANS -
BEF AT RRR SR ERERR@E
P B 1T 38R R (B Bl RF A » EAmThE
REARGEERBRDEAFTHEREEES

1’
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19(a).

19(b)

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM THIRD PARTIES 19(a). B 5 EURIE - £=7 (&)
(continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk NTAREERAREREREEREK
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables from third F=NEFFIAZEERBRMOER :
parties using a provision matrix:
Not yet due Overdue Total
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=%+=-A=+—H ief AR Z) 58 B st
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEEX 0.71% 86.45% 1.39%
Carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREIE(F L) 346,105 2,767 348,872
Expected credit losses TBHEEER(TET
(HK$’000) 2,442 2,392 4,834
Not yet due Overdue Total
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZBE__F+-_A=+—H EEEIEE i1 8 HRET
Expected credit loss rate TRHEEEEX 0.50% 82.04% 0.84%
Carrying amount (HK$'000)  RREE(FHATT) 341,272 1,433 342,705
Expected credit losses BHEEBETEL
(HK$’000) 1,706 1,176 2,882
TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED 190b) EBEREBWKE-BBA
PARTIES
2023 2022
—EC-=F —ZF=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries &Y [E M B A 75 E
(Note 32(b)(i)) (FfE£32(b)(i)) 250,833 233,726
Amounts due from intermediate and FEU B R B ZEER AR
immediate holding company SIA (BT EE32(b)(1)
(Note 32(b)(i)) 26,045 9,619
276,878 243,345
Impairment B (1,753) (1,208)
275,125 242,137




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
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19(b)

TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED
PARTIES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables from related
parties as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

TECZFFR mBEEIEBAERXIFE 207

e MR R M A ()
—E-_—Ff+-A=+—H
19(b) EZEWFIE - BEE (&)

RiEARZEZ A 2R B RBEN
FE W BERE DT B 5 AR BRE DTN T

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 3 months =@EAA 153,014 102,152

3 months to 1 year =ERAZE—F 82,152 90,233

Over 1 year HBiA—F 39,959 49,752

275,125 242,137

The Group’s trading terms with its related parties are
mainly on credit. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable from
related parties.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

AEBEBEBR AN ZHEHEEERR
o AN I L E R WK BERE 0T B B K
REHRF A E MR A EMEERR
H b ©

FEUARRERE 7 B PR IA 2 REE R R EE

trade receivables from related parties are as follows: BT :
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FTAT
At beginning of the year REA] (1,208) (919)
Impairment losses recognised, net (Note 6) ERZREEE
HE(Hite) (545) (289)
At end of the year NGNS (1,753) (1,208)

The trade receivables from related parties were grouped to
assess the expected credit losses, based on the credit rating
of the related parties and adjusted for forward-looking
factors.

FEAL AR 7T B SRR E R BB T S
B M - UFHETRREERR - I
SAATIEE R RELFREE -
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 —E_=F+-_H=+—H

19(b) TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED 190b) EZEWNIE-B#HAE (&
PARTIES (continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk LT AREBERAREEMEIT S/ ER
exposure on the Group’s due from related parties using a RARE 77 BB 2 (S B R Rk 0 B

provision matrix:

Not yet due Overdue Total

As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+=-A=+—8 DRI B e

Expected credit loss rate EHREEEEX 0.63% = 0.63%

Carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREE(FHE L) 276,878 = 276,878
Expected credit losses BHIEEREE

(HK$'000) (FBL) 1,753 = 1,753

Not yet due Overdue Total

As at 31 December 2022 RZZEZ_F+-A=+—H i A B ER it #Et

Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 0.50% = 0.50%

Carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREE (F#&7T) 243,345 - 243,345
Expected credit losses BHEEER

(HK$’000) (F3m) 1,208 - 1,208
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED iR E B R R Y A ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2023 —E_=F+_H=1+—H
20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. ANFIE HttEWHREREMBE
OTHER ASSETS E
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Input value-added tax IEETRERD 41,833 33,063
Prepayments TEfRRIE 11,529 10,002
Deposits, other receivables and others e - EfbEUEIE R EAM 3,804 3,399
Contract fulfilment costs — current (Note 17) BHERKA - BB (A aF17) 37,660 33,538
94,826 80,002
21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. BERREEEEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —ZEF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHES 135,964 122,780
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITRSIEE ARITERAEEF B F R
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with A B - SRITAER 0 IF AL HIN 2 A0 R0 8%
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. There NEEEaNRT RIZE_=FK_ZF_
was no restricted cash as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The ZF+ZA=1+—H WEZIRHESL -
carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents approximated RekReSFEHEENRREREATER

++

to their fair value. e
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22(a). TRADE PAYABLES TO THIRD PARTIES 22(2). BEHEMNRE-E=FH
An ageing analysis of the trade payables to third parties at RIBERRREZEHLINNENE=
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, TESRENRERSITT
is as follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Within 3 months =@AA 362,222 322,582
3 months to 1 year —ERAZE—F 401 68
Over 1 year i —F 44 127
362,667 322,777
The trade payables are non interest-bearing and are ESRNFERRELBENR=THE
normally settled on 30 to 90 days’ terms. AT BEBHRALS -
22(b) TRADE PAYABLES TO RELATED PARTIES 22(b) B ZEMNFRIE-BBS
An ageing analysis of the trade payables to related parties P& BRI 3 R B B 2 51 1 FE < B Bk
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice FHESHEBEMRRDITOR :
date, is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTET
Within 3 months (Note 32(b)(ii)) =EAR
(H15£32(b)(ii)) 133,833 97,549
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on demand.

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES 23. BN EE  HtEARERESFS
AND ACCRUALS H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Contract liabilities (Note (a)) EHaEE F @) 40,187 29,868
Other creditors and accruals (Note (c)) H b ETBRIA & ST & A
(Hzz(c) 34,763 39,588
Other tax payables H b TR 10,034 11,588
Accrued salaries, wages, severances EErEe ITE - BHE
and benefits e 42,925 61,775
127,909 142,819
Non-current portion of contract liabilities AHEENIEREE S (34,813) (24,971)
Current portion of contract liabilities, ABRAEE  HMEMNKIEA
other payables and accruals NEGTERNREBE D 93,096 117,848
Note: Bt -
(@) Liabilities related to contracts with customers: (@ HEFARBMEMEE:
2023 2022
—EB-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Contract liabilities in respect of engineering BB ETTZ TRRIMRER
technical service to be delivered AHAaE 40,187 29,868
(b)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (b) FEHEBERHEA
Contract liabilities include short-term and long-term advances ARAEERERRHEMARES SRR
received before delivering of technical services. TEWK o
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 BEERVANaERENRBE T =
that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning FT_A=Z+—HLEFENCHRABAR
of the period amounted to HK$5,120,000 (2022: HK$4,945,000). 5,120,000 7T (ZF =~ 4 : 4,945,000/%
7o) e
(c)  Other creditors are unsecured, non interest-bearing and repayable () HMEMEBELSEER REREARERE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED g E T E L IERAC )
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 ZF-=F+ZA=1—H
24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 24. ERBANERE
The Group has defined benefit pension plans, covering AEEEERBMEAREFE - MERNK
substantially all of its qualified employees in Poland, France - i.&ﬁ.ﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬂ’\/\ﬁﬁﬁé o B
and Germany. The amounts of employee benefit obligations BHBEARAKRERNEERBANEESEREARH
recognised in the statement of financial position represented the REERIRE -
present values of the unfunded obligations.
The defined benefit obligations were determined based on ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬁ%” RIGIRER - &Fﬁ&
actuarial valuations performed by Wills Towers Watson EBR B R E A 2 5 EE TFEE?‘EWEEE
Consulting Company Limited, FACTUM S.C. and Shp, FACTUM S. C K Sbp#k A E.%‘Jr@m:.,\/?j
independent actuaries located in Germany, Poland and France, TTREMERRE -
respectively, using the projected unit credit method.
The components of net benefit expenses in profit or loss and the PIEERTE T 8RR A 5 AR 9 bA K B 75
amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are AR PHERN S AR A LT
summarised as follows:
(@) The provisions for defined benefit obligations recognised (@ REEPFBRIRERNEHEEMNET
in the consolidated statement of financial position are as BB EINT -
follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Present value of unfunded obligations AEREENRE 103,384 81,235
Portion classified as current liabilities DEAERBENI D (4,191) (3,406)

Non-current portion SEENEREL 73 99,193 77,829




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(b) The movements of the defined benefit obligations are as
follows:

TEICZEFR mAEEIEBRERXA 213

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

24, EBERANEE (E)
b) EEEMETOEHOT

2023 2022
—EC=HE =T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

At beginning of the year REH 81,235 101,353
Current service costs BIVHA AR 75 5k AN 2,016 2,135
Interest cost on defined benefit obligations & 8848 ¥ & E #Y F S K 7 3,771 1,780
Benefits paid during the year FRZTEREH 3,731) (3,622)

Remeasurement loss/(gains) recognised in A H fth 2 E U MR E T

other comprehensive income* S8 (s * 12,977 (13,526)
Exchange realignment D 3¢ B 7,116 (6,885)
At end of the year RER 103,384 81,235

* During the year ended 31 December 2023, deferred tax
credit of HK$2,489,000 were recognized (2022: deferred
tax charge of HK$2,472,000) for the remeasurement loss/
(gains) (note 26). The remeasurement losses after deferred
tax amounted to HK$10,488,000 (2022: remeasurement
gains amounted to HK$11,054,000), which were recognised
in other comprehensive income.

The net expenses recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss are analysed as follows:

* REBEE_ZT_=F+-_A=+—H1
FE - OREFAEEE (KR ER
JRFEFETEET A2,489,0008 T (—E— —
FRTERER2,472,0005% 7T) (Bt
5126) o sFABRERERNENTEE
510,488,000 L (=T -=F : &
et EUREE11,054,000087T)  ERE
thEmRFERER -

(© MNEABHERERFFONMOT

2023 2022

—E=F —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET
Current service costs BIVAR AR 765 A AR 2,016 2,135
Interest cost on defined benefit obligations & 8 1& Fl) & £ #) FI 8 A A& 3,771 1,780
Net benefit expenses FRBAFX 5,787 3,915
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(d)

The principal actuarial assumptions used in valuing the

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

24, EBERANEE (E)
(d) i HE PR EIR M 508 B B B

provisions for defined benefit obligations at the end of the AT 2RERRKRWET :
reporting period are as follows:
2023
—E-=
Germany Poland France
Z=: ] B
0/0 0/0 0/0
Discount rate AL & 3.18 5.42 3.73
Rate of salary increases Falgrk 3.25 5.00 2.50
Rate of price inflation BrREkx 2.25 N/ATER N/ATE A
Pension increase rate RASHERE 2.25 0.40 N/ATE A
2022
—F==

Germany Poland France
= R EE
0/0 0/0 O/O
Discount rate ALIR & 3.30 6.45 3.26
Rate of salary increases FelgRXx 3.25 5.00 2.50
Rate of price inflation BRERE 2.25 N/AT i A N/AT i F
Pension increase rate RIKEIERE 2.25 0.40 N/AT 3 A




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(d) (continued)

The average duration of the provision for defined benefits

“—EC=EER

FEMBRRM T @®

RAETEMRERIE 215

—E-_—Ff+-A=+—H
24, EEBANEE(E)

d) (&)

R HIR A E BB EEHFIFH

at the end of the reporting period is as follows: W
2023
—EZ=F
Germany Poland France
== R EE
Years Years Years
F & &
Average life expectancy FTEEAS W
Plan 1 Bl 12.60 13.76 17.38
Plan 2 FTEI2 9.20 14.97 N/ATEF
2022
—EF -
Germany Poland France
e B EE
Years Years Years
F F F
Average life expectancy T FREAS
Plan 1 =TE 12.60 10.00 19.61
Plan 2 FT &2 2.70 18.00 N/AT i
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(e)

FEMBRRM T @®

—E - =Ff+-—H=+—H
24, EEBANEE(E)

The quantitative sensitivity analysis of the provisions for e MNBEMRNWEREMNETRENEL
defined benefits obligations as at the end of the reporting FREDHWOT -
period is as follows:
2023
—E-=
Decrease in Increase in
provisions provisions
for defined for defined
Increase benefits Decrease benefits
in rate  obligations inrate  obligations
EREER EREER
B s
tbZ= 38 BiERD [y R BEE M
% HK$’000 % HK$’000
FHET FET
Discount rate 8537 =& 1 (4,530) 1 7,874
2022
—F_—
Decrease in Increase in
provisions provisions
for defined for defined
Increase benefits Decrease benefits
inrate  obligations inrate  obligations
JEFEAE A EFEE A
B B
LEZ SN B b R A BEEE N
% HK$'000 % HK$’000
FHET FHET
Discount rate Ah3IR =& 1 (5,298) 1 6,196

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based
on a method that extrapolates the impact on the provisions
for defined benefits obligations as a result of reasonable
changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period.

ERBRESTDHRIETBRENEBE
HIRZ A & 1B B B 1 E R AR M B R

RN ERGMET -
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

25. PROVISION

TECCZEFR mAEIEBRERAE 217

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H
25. 15

2023 2022
—E-= —_F_—

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Product warranties: EmRE
At beginning of the year REF ) 27,798 28,885
Recognition of provision (Note 6) B ERER (W ite) 14,039 19,368
Amounts utilised during the year REABEFERANERE (8,683) (14,116)
Exchange realignment PE H A% 2,147 (6,339)
At end of the year RER 35,301 27,798

The Group provides warranties covering periods ranging from
one to five years to its customers on certain products for general
repairs of defects. The amount of the warranty provision is
estimated based on sales volumes and past experience of the
level of repairs and returns. The estimation is reviewed on an
ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

26. DEFERRED TAX

The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets and their

AEERETERRERPRESBMN T —
ERFNREN  BERBH—REE - &
EREH SRR IHE LB T FUREIKF
MEBRIEL SR - ZAFTERSEELEEMN

RITIE R HIEE] -

26. EERE

FREEHRRBEREENEXBY RHEE

movements during the year are as follows: T :
2023 —E=-=
Deferred tax liabilities FIEREE B
Depreciation
allowance
in excess Right-of-
Contract of related use
assets  depreciation assets Total
AT
BEHrEN
BREE BE HERAREEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TR TR THEx
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H (31,616) (12,046) (45,551) (89,213)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to SRR E), /5t BN
profit or loss during the year R IE 3,653 (8,520) 6,772 1,905
Exchange realignment BEE 5 SR B (3,328) (313) (4,578) (8,219)
At 31 December 2023 i
+ZA=+—H (31,291) (20,879) (43,357) (95,527)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets and their
movements during the year are as follows:

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

26.

IE FE B 1 (48)
FRELEHBAGBREENMAERITY M EE
unw

2023 —m-=%
Deferred tax assets BEBEBEEE
Defined
Contract Lease Warranty benefit
liabilities liabilities provision pension plans Accruals Total
TR
AHEE HERE RERE  BheHE &R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERL TR THERL THERL TR THET
At January 2023 W-B-=&-f-f 3,486 45,185 1,894 6,513 9,755 66,833
Deferred tax (charged)icredited to ~ FR(HBRE) /ZHABER
profit or loss during the year XA (505) (5,610) 2,565 - 9,312 5,762
Deferred tax charged to other ERMRE A2 EREN
comprehensive income during BREHE
the year = = = 2,489 = 2,489
Exchange realignment R AR 448 4,646 369 1,428 2,100 8,991
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+ZA=1-H 3,429 44,221 4,828 10,430 21,167 84,075

As at 31 December 2023, the offsetting amount of deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities was HK$81,459,000. As
at 31 December 2023, net deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities after offsetting were HK$2,616,000 and
HK$14,068,000.

RZE_=F+-_A=+—H8 EEHRBEEEK
REFTEA ERIKE S5 581,459,000 7T «
TEC=F+-_A=+—HB EEHRBEEAERE
ERIEAEEERFED R A2,616,0008 T K%
14,068,000/ 7T °



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets and their

movements during the year are as follows:

2022
Deferred tax liabilities

TECCZEFR mAEIEBRERAE 219

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

26. IELEBE (&)
FRELEHBAGBREENMAERITY M EE
unw

—EC-CF
EERBARE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from

Contract related business Right-of-
assets  depreciation  combination use assets Total
BHERET  XBAMA
EMREN ELENRT
BHEE B ERAE ERERE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET THET THET TET
At 1 January 2022 RZTE-Z—F—-H—H (33,741) (11,570) (1,602) (49,392) (96,305)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to R (R E) /5 ABa
profit or loss during the year BB IR (646) (59) 25 (322) (1,002)
Exchange realignment [ SR 2,771 1,039 121 4,163 8,094
At 31 December 2022 R-ZT__%
+ZA=+—"H (31,616) (10,590) (1,456) (45,551) (89,213)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets and their
movements during the year are as follows:

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

26.

IE FE B 1 (48)
FRELEHBAGBREENMAERITY M EE
unw

2022 B —F
Deferred tax assets EIEBIESE
Defined
benefit
Contract Lease Warranty pension
liabilities liabilities provision plans Accruals Total
EREM
ataE  HERE  REAHE RAKSHE  EHER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T TET TET
At 1 January 2022 iy S Rl =] 5,124 49,842 1,890 9,437 8,224 74,517
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ~ FM(HIRE) /5 AB#H
profit or loss during the year HETE (1,162) (465) 145 = 2,140 658
Deferred tax charged to other FERFALMEEE
comprehensive income during HRIEHIE
the year = = = (2,472) = 2,472)
Exchange realignment B 5 (476) (4,192) (141) (452) (609) (5,870)
At 31 December 2022 i
+ZA=1+—H 3,486 45,185 1,894 6,513 9,755 66,833

As at 31 December 2023, tax losses of the Group which had
not been recognised as deferred tax assets were HK$32,570,000
(31 December 2022: HK$167,162,000), as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses originated from Hong
Kong and Germany are with no expiry date.

RZEBE-_=Z=F+=_A=+—H x5 H
MABRAEEHEEAECHEBEA
32,570,000 L (ZE - =F+=-A=+—
H :167,162,000&7) « REAEWRAET
RNAJRER B FERFUEFI AR AR
BEE - RERBREENREEBY &
HA -
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FEMBRRM T @®

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

27. ISSUED CAPITAL

28.

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

27. BERTRAK

2023 2022
—EZ=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Authorised: VAR ¢
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10  2,000,000,0003% &A% FI{&0.10
each (2022: 2,000,000,000 ordinary BTN EER(CE - —F
shares of HK$0.10 each) 2,000,000,000/% AR EI{E
0.10/THY EAAR) 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
574,339,068 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 574,339,068/ AR E{E0.10
each (2022: 574,339,068 ordinary BT EER( T
shares of HK$0.10 each) 574,339,068 &M E{E0.10
BITH T BAR) 57,434 57,434

There are no movement in the Company’s issued share capital
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

HE_Z_=ZGR-_F_—_F+-A=+—
BIEEE KRR BITRAL ELE -

RESERVES 28. R

(i)  The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements (i) NEEHZE-_E-_=-FkK-_T-_—F+
therein for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 ZA=T—RIEFENRESERAE
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in BHIINREEREEBR
equity.

(i) Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman (il REFSEESRREMEER)  Rind

Islands, the funds in the share premium account are

distributable to the owners of the Company.

BRNBSAHIIKTARFEEA -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash addition of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$6,943,000 (2022:
HK$23,932,000), in respect of lease arrangements for
buildings, machinery and motor vehicles.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

FEMBRRM T @®

—=F+-A=+—H
29. MERERERMET

@ FEHFREXSH

RER - AEEREF « BBERTER
HETHmEREEENMEE %E’HE
H& NS5 56,943,000 T (— 2=

Z4F 123,932,000/ 7T) °

(b) MEFBFEENERERE

activities
Loan from
Lease a holding
liabilities company
RE—EER
HESE DNEIHER
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZFE-—=F—H—H 306,199 415
Changes from financing cash flows MERS R (32,679) =
New leases HHEE 6,943 -
Interest expense FEFX 8,261 =
Exchange realignment D 3 S B 11,209 16
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZHA=+—H 299,933 431
Loan from
Bank Lease a holding
borrowings liabilities company
BS E AR
RITER HEafk NERER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET T
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—#—H—H 65,215 335,395 442
Changes from financing MERSRE
cash flows (65,215) (32,524) -
New leases S = 23,932 =
Interest expense B = 9,372 =
Exchange realignment BEE 34, 8 - (29,976) (27)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-_—_F+-A=+
o =] - 306,199 415




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

TECZEFR mAEIEBRERAA 223

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=#+4+-A=+—4H
29. MEBERERMT(E)

(0 HENRSRHAHE

AR RERNEERSRHARN

T

2023 2022

—EB-=HF T F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TAET

Within financing activities BB EEN 32,679 32,524
Within operating activities REEHA 193 227
32,872 32,751

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

31. COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

30. REE

RZE - =ZFh_FE-_—F+_A=+—
B AEBETWETAEARAEE -

31. &iE

RBER - REBF AT ERAE :

2023 2022
—B-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: BRT4MEREL B
Plant and machinery R = R ik 2% 64,821 65,294
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31 December 2023

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

32. BB SIMESEE
AAEEAER SR,/ NG0B QRN

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The related companies with which the Group had transactions

and/or balances were as follows:

Name of the related companies

L NCIEE

T -

Relationship with the Group
SR 7 5% [ B9 B 13

BWI
RAET

BWI HK
RAET(FE)

BWI North America Inc.

BWI Indiana Inc.

BWI Company Limited S.A.

BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales and Service,

S.DER.L.DE C.V.

BWI (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
REEI(LE)BRAF

Vehicle Stability Technology, S.A. de C.V.

BWI Chassis Dynamics (NA), Inc.

an intermediate holding company

B A A

an immediate holding company

HERERRA]

a fellow subsidiary

BESGI=MNG)

a fellow subsidiary

EEI=YNG]

a fellow subsidiary

EESGI=MNG)

a fellow subsidiary

EESGI=NG]

an associate of BWI

RAET ZBZRA

a fellow subsidiary

EESGI=NG]

an associate of BWI

RAET ZHZRA
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED RE MR RRME @
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2023 —E_=F+-_H=+—H
32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 32. B A IRESEH(E)
(@) Transactions with related parties (@ EHEBLTNXS
In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in BRIEATBHRREMAEHEEORS
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the AN REBRFRERFE T DETUT
following material transactions with the related parties BARS :

during the year:

2023 2022
—EB=F g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TR
Sales of goods to: EmHET
BWI North America Inc. BW!I North America Inc. 19,063 15,832
BWI FEET 12,512 5,133
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 141,336 134,056
BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales and BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales
Service, S.DE R.L.DE C.V. and Service, S.DE R.L.DE
C.vV - 485
BWI Chassis Dynamics (NA), Inc. BWI Chassis Dynamics (NA),
Inc. 1 -
172,912 155,506
Technical services provided to: RERMRSE T
BWI North America Inc. BW!I North America Inc. 80,473 60,661
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 10,614 19,449
BWI RAEET 34,058 29,558
BWI Chassis Dynamics (NA), Inc. BWI Chassis Dynamics (NA),
Inc. 77 -
BWI (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. REEL(LB)ARRAE 216 -
125,438 109,668
Administrative services provided to: REITBRE T :

BWI HK RAETI(ES) 250 -




226 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED MEMBHREBME @
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2023 —E-=FF+=ZA=+—H
32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 32. BB A EESE(E
(@) Transactions with related parties (continued) (@) EEEBAETNRS (&)
2023 2022
—EB=F —_ET-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Purchases of products from: EmBER
BWI RAET 597 2,433
BWI North America Inc. BW!I North America Inc. 3,538 75
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 36 70
4,171 2,578
Management and technical services B R ARSIRM A
provided by:
BWI North America Inc. BW!I North America Inc. 77,486 88,958
BWI RET 21,386 19,730
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 333 57
BWI HK RAETI(EH) 1,645 918
100,850 109,663
Royalty provided by: FrariER e
BWI RAET 7,980 6,218
In the opinion of the Directors, the above transactions EERE LR GTIRAEBATE
arose from the ordinary course of the Group’s business B BIRPIRAE B 9 E BMIRFGETT ©

and were conducted in accordance with mutually agreed
terms.
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31 December 2023

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

—E-=Ff+-H=+—H

32. A T MBS TH (R
(b) EREAHETS V&S ER

RAETEEERLIF 227

2023 2022
—B=F —EF-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET FHET
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries: & 7] BB A B FUE : (i)
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 190,565 165,569
BWI North America Inc. BWI North America Inc. 57,998 68,099
BWI Company Limited S.A. BWI Company Limited
S.A. 1,908 -
BWI (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. RAEET(LB)BR
NE] 220 58
BWI Chassis Dynamics (NA), Inc. BWI Chassis Dynamics
(NA), Inc. 142 -
250,833 233,726
Amount due from an intermediate FEU —FE R AR
holding company: NCIF/SERE (i)
BWI REET 25,984 7,779
Amount due from the immediate FEMWE B IR A BIFUA ¢
holding Company: (i)
BWI HK RAEET(HE) 61 1,840
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED g E T E L IERAC )
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023 —E_=F+-_H=+—H
32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 32. B A IRESEH(E)
(b) Balances with related parties (continued) (b) EERBAEE TS BV AL &R (4B)
2023 2022
—E-=E —ECF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHEx FHT
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries:  FEf[E R M B A TR : (i)
BWI North America Inc. BWI North America Inc. 82,005 67,451
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 192 188
BWI Company Limited S.A. BWI Company Limited
S.A. = 115
82,197 67,754
Amount due to an intermediate FES — B R
holding company: YNSIF/ SR (ii)
BWI RET 45,465 26,369
Amount due to the immediate R EEERARIFIA
holding company: (i)
BWI HK RmET (FE) 6,171 3,426

Long term loan due to the immediate & B B 12 R A Bl & HA

holding company: B3 : (iii)
BWI HK REET(ERE) 431 415
Notes: Hat -
(i)  The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, intermediate () EALREBGRSHEEMNREKEZNE
and immediate holding company included in the Group’s NA A EREEERATRSREE
current assets are unsecured, interest-free and repayable K BB RAR—FERNESE -

within one year.

(i) The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, intermediate and iy EHAXREEREAGEMEMNBRNB
immediate holding company included in the Group’s NAE P EBREEZERATRIEE
current liabilities are unsecured, interest-free. The fair value . B  ANBENZEY RS
of long term loan approximate its carrying amount, as the K EEEZNATEELEREM
impact of discounting is not significant. o

The related party transactions disclosed in note (a) X HIEE Q) FTIRE 2 B T X 5 I K

above also constitute connected transactions as defined BEBARSGAER AT BS FHHEA

in Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of EHOASEEVESS o

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 32. BH A IRESE(E)
(c) Compensation of non-director and non-chief 0 XEEXEEBABBIFESET
executive key management personnel of the RSTHRABR)ME
Group
2023 2022
—E-=F —ECCF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ &  EZBINEWF|= 6,304 4,900
Performance related bonuses ERIRHME 2 TEAT 52 11
6,356 4,911
Further details of directors’ and chief executive’s BEHREEAESTTHRABHMNNE—F
emoluments are included in Note 9 to the consolidated FIBEHEN G E VB RERMIFE °

financial statements.

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. BERIE s TNEMT A
2023 —F-=
All financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 R_B_=FR_ZB__F+A=+—
December 2023 and 2022 were loans and receivables stated H AEEMESREERAED I AIRE
at amortised cost, and payables stated at amortised cost, R ARTIR 2 & 3 M B UERIR - PAR IR B 8

respectively. FRANG IR 2 A FRIR -
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. eMITAENFHE
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBEeBTANKERENRATFEWT

instruments are as follows:

Carrying amounts

BREE
2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Financial assets SRMEE

Trade receivables from third parties BHRNFIE-F=H 344,038 339,823
Trade receivables from related parties B S EWEIE - B 275,125 242,137

Financial assets included in prepayments, — &T ATEfTFIE - H M EKFIE R
other receivables and other assets HEMEENSREE 3,804 3,399
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREeFEER 135,964 122,780
758,931 708,139

Carrying amounts
BREE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial liabilities cWAasE

Lease liabilities HEEE (299,933) (306,199)
Trade payables to third parties BHRNFIE-F=H (362,667) (322,777)
Trade payables to related parties B S ENRIE - i (133,833) (97,549)

Financial liabilities included in contract FFAERNEE - HMEMKIER
liabilities, other payables and accruals ErrERANEREE (34,763) (39,588)
Long term loan from a holding company A —RERAFNRABER (431) (415)
(831,627) (766,528)

(72,696) (58,389)
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. eMIT AN FEGE)

(continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting date,
the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

Management has assessed that the fair values of the above
short term financial instruments approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the long term financial instruments have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities, if the discounting effect
is material. The Group’s own non-performance risk as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 was assessed to be insignificant.

AEECEREBKAEETSRTARY
EFFENBREREF - REBEAH - X
MEEGOMERMTANEESZDIEEM
EFEANEZRARE -

%@ﬁé&%ﬁZﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ#@@%ﬁ%
ZHEBR 5 EREMHFR I ZEIN T
TAARBZEETA -

ERENERR LUEHERIAZRYF
EBEXZ2A/UETARERRIHMmEKE
ZEREERE -

WERFEAEN  RPEeRMTASIAR
BREUTAEWEGR ZERKR KR %
WWMWT%EEW$XﬁiWEQ$Q
FE AEEFHEEAFHN _TE-_=F K=
T+ A=+ —HNTRITRB AR
-
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. tREREEEERBER

AND POLICIES

The Group has various financial assets and liabilities such
as cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the senior management of the Company meets
regularly to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group’s exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of
directors of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse
and approve the proposals made by the senior management of
the Company. The Group introduces conservative strategies on
its risk management. As the Group’s exposure to these risks is
kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any derivatives and
other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group also does
not hold or issue material derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from transactions in currencies other than the
Group entities functional currency. The Group does not enter
into any hedging transactions in order to reduce the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk.

The Group’s foreign currency risk mainly from the monetary
assets or liabilities denominated in EUR and USD and held by
BWI Poland and BWI Czech.

If the currency of PLN strengthens/weakens against EUR
by 10%, the losses before income tax for the year ended
31 December 2023 would have been approximately
HK$5,753,000 higher/lower; if the currency of PLN strengthens/
weakens against USD by 10%, the losses before income tax
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would have been
approximately HK$12,930,000 higher/lower.

If the currency of CZK strengthens/weakens against EUR by
10%, the losses before income tax for the year ended 31
December 2023 would have been approximately HK$6,108,000
lower/higher; if the currency of CZK strengthens/weakens
against USD by 10%, the losses before income tax for the year
ended 31 December 2023 would have been approximately
HK$4,890,000 lower/higher.

AEEREZHSMEERAR  PINER
REXBLEEELNRENRSEEEE -
B 5 RWHENRE S EMAFIEA -

AEENERTAEMMSRNEZRER SINE
Rk EERRMTREMERR - —RAF
ARAmEBEEEABREHEHE Uik
HEEEAE B ARBAARHEBEER -
O - ARATEESEMAE R ORI AR
RABEEEASMRHNER - AEEH
HREREE B IBR TR o HRAEE &
ZOREARKRSERREKTE  AEELE
e RERDITE R EM T RERE T ZERER -
AEBTERERETERTESR T AR
RHME e

S L B
AEEEHRZUEEERER - ZERAREE
NEREEREEBUINNEEETHR
5 o ANEB W EETEREP R S ARER
SEPTASNINER R o

REEMIMNERREBHREBWI Poland &
BWI Czech##H BB AR T =Tt EN B
BERBE -

WK B REE LB ITHE,FE10% -
AE—T-=F+-A=1+—HIEFEN
Br BT8R ATES 1B A5 18 00, R 4 495,753,000
B MEEABREERELHE&
H10% ABE-_ZE-=F+=-A=+—H
IFFEENBRETERAIEEREEN R H
12,930,000/ 7T °

i m B ¥ S BT AE, B2 E10% + A
BE_T-_=F+-_A=+—BILLFEHD
Br FT S %1 AT B 18 45 R 15 IN#Y6,108,000
B MERRAEBEETLAE KA
10% Bl E—E-—=#+—-_A=+—8H
IFFEMBRETEHAIEEER D G N
4,890,000/ 7T °
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. R EEEERBEK(E)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other
receivables, and contract performance deposits, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group only trades with third parties recognised to be
creditworthy, no pledge of assets is required from customers.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by analysis by
customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group finances its
working capital requirements through a combination of funds
generated from operations, lease liabilities, and bank and other
borrowings.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on
contractual undiscounted payments including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period.

EERR
AEEEERATHREEAENFE =T ET
X5  ARBENBRRBEBNEEMETR
SHNEPHBERZEERETE - 1o K
SEREEERUGRIRRS S - BURRNER
WAERK °

AEENHEMEREE(RRRAEMAESE
BIHAE - EHRWFR - HtERAKE
WIEE) W Z?f RTVRERXPHTEL
MEXEERBRENZETANKEE

HRAREEERAINREENENE=ZDN
ETRS  BABREEFPEMREE - FE
STNEERREEP 2 OMETER -

EHEAEERE S ERFBFEENEER
B EE— S E(CER NG A M RERMEET9
?932&% °

B A [ B
FEEBNR@ERZAENREREEEEIN
MEERBUFTK - AKEBBESLEE
EES - HE A BEARIRTT RHE M8 R
NEEESFK -

TERBAREE NS BRE AR REARRE

BHRMEANR(BREEONE - S8

FR - ARmERRERMNRFEON S
RO ENBEER -
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SRR EE R B REEE(E)

35.

Liquidity risk (continued) 7 B e L B (40
Less than 1to Over
1 year 5 years 5 years Total
—F R —ZHF RFERE #mat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THER THER TR
31 December 2023 —EC=HE
+t=ZA=+-8
Lease liabilities HEAE 40,045 116,689 181,884 338,618
Trade payables to third parties BoRENFIE-$=H 362,667 = = 362,667
Trade payables to related B G ENTIE - B
parties 133,833 = = 133,833
Financial liabilities included in AR EMZIE R
other payables and accruals EAERNSRAs 34,763 - = 34,763
Long term loan from a holding KE—REERA TS
company REER - 431 - 431
571,308 117,120 181,884 870,312
31 December 2022 —E-fF
+=A=+—-H
Lease liabilities HERE 36,328 115,106 213,952 365,386
Trade payables to third parties BOENFE-F=H 322,777 = = 322,777
Trade payables to related E SIENTIE - i
parties 97,549 - - 97,549
Financial liabilities included in HAHAMENRIE R
other payables and accruals ErERNEREas 39,588 = S 39,588
Long term loan from a holding p SEREi b2 NG|
company REER = 415 - 415
496,242 115,521 213,952 825,715
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. MEREEEERBEK(E)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management EXER

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard AREERHEAMNARRBRASEESN
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to FRLE  URBRREHEHREFSEEL
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal REBUPEEE SRR

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments ASERECERANELERAARERE
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or RAFHGHE - REFHNAREREE - KR
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend MAIAEIRA TRROKS - MERRER
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue A BT EBR K B A ERIRET -
new ordinary shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes in HE-Z ST -_AZ-THLEFE ¥
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital were BARNBH - RRSGBRI MBI 2
made during the year ended 31 December 2023. -

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net ASEZEAERBERERER  AEAR
debt divided by equity plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as SR RFEBIR A= I LHER < FES
the total of lease liabilities, trade payables, other creditors and RHERE  BHENFUR - HtEHREA
accruals, accrued salaries, wages, severances and benefits, KESHER - BEtHE - T8 - BEHERE
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, an amount due to a holding B~ REAH R R P 2RI ~ e — TR AR
company and a long term loan from a holding company, less RRIRIE R E — AR R R E SR
cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable LR MRESEARNE - AXBEAR

to owners of the Company. BIEE AFE(GRERS -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. cmE R EEBEERBEEK(E)

AND POLICIES (continued)

: . 3 i fets 7E (4
Capital management (continued) EXEE@)
2023 2022
—EB=F g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Lease liabilities HERE 299,933 306,199
Trade payables to third parties BORNRIE-F=H 362,667 322,777
Trade payables to related parties B 5 R FRIE — B 133,833 97,549
Other creditors and accruals H R ARIE R ERTE A 34,763 39,588
Accrued salaries, wages, severances and EstiHe ITE - EMBREF
benefits 42,925 61,775
Long term loan from a holding company ’E—RERARNRAER 431 415
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRBeEEEE (135,964) (122,780)
Net debt BR5%E 738,588 705,523
Equity s 853,934 847,948
Net debt and equity B FRLER 1,592,522 1,553,471
Gearing ratio BERABHLE 46.38% 45.42%




“ECZFER FEEIBRARAT 237

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2023

FEMBRRM T @®

—E-=Ff-HA=+—H

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  36. &2 R B Bk R &K

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RIEER - BARRARMBHRAKNER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: LU
2023 2022
—EBZ=F g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Non-current assets: FRBEE :
Interests in subsidiaries DY P 586,154 586,154
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE YL FfY 1 1~ B 3R IE 491,662 -
Total non-current assets FREBEEALE 1,077,816 586,154
Current assets: RBEE :
Prepayments, other receivables and FERTFRIE  H e WRIE K
other assets Hih&EE 58 207
Amounts due from subsidiaries e NGIE ¢ ] - 495,300
Cash and cash equivalents ReMEeFEER 411 417
Total current assets B EEMEE 469 495,924
TOTAL ASSETS EERAR 1,078,285 1,082,078
Current liabilities: REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hh fE A 5ROR N fEET B 1,257 1,481
Total current liabilities HRBEEHALE 1,257 1,481
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(EB BERE (788) 494,443
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,077,028 1,080,597
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ AAQAGEHE AELER
Share capital & A 57,434 57,434
Reserves i 1,019,594 1,023,163
Total equity A EE 1,077,028 1,080,597

The statement of financial position of the Company were
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 27
March 2024 and were signed on its behalf by:

Dong Xiaojie Chang Ket Leong
PR Rz

Director Director

= EE

ARBMBERARBARNARETFER T
ME=A-+tBH#E  YHUTALREK
RRABRE
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  36. &2 R B ARk R & (88)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: Bt
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABERBZRBMT ¢
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
& 425 (8 RAEE RITER L
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET TR
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 1,037,745 44,132 (58,714) 1,023,163
Loss and total FABBENEZEH
comprehensive loss for Eia A
the year = = (3,569) (3,569)
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=%F+_A
=+—A 1,037,745 44,132 62,283) 1,019,594
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
Bt (& NG RETEE BEt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TET
At 1 January 2022 —FE-=_F—H—H 1,037,745 44,132 (54,495) 1,027,382
Loss and total FABENREE
comprehensive loss for BB
the year - - 4,219) (4,219)
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZF+ZA
=+—A 1,037,745 44,132 (58,714) 1,023,163
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37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  37. #t /BB B3Rk
The consolidated financial statements were approved and BEMBHREADN _ZE_WF=A=-++tH
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company ERRNRIEESHAENRENE -

on 27 March 2024.
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LFUBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—HLFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZED=F DB B ZTZF ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET FAET FAET FET
RESULTS E45
Revenue U 5 2,708,861 2,478,380 2,601,955 2,311,984 2,654,586
(Loss)/Profit before tax BR AT (E51R) 5 7 (87,539) 10,171 13,057 (41,707) 51,628
Income tax benefit/(expense) Fiisfisas/ () 32,219 (15,056)  (22,362) (9,837)  (46,739)
(Loss)/Profit for the year ER(EE),ER (55,320) (4,885) (9,305)  (51,544) 4,889
(Loss)/Profit for the year EATEEA
attributable to owners of EREE(EER),/
the Company 2 F (55,320) (4,885) (9,305)  (51,544) 4,889
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TEC=f - —E-—F —E-FF —FT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets BEE 1,952,319 1,936,588 2,045,725 2,247,287 1,943,936
Total liabilities FEy=Li (1,098,385) (1,088,640) (1,148,787) (1,313,586)  (980,537)
Net assets EEFE 853,934 847,948 896,938 933,701 963,399
Equity attributable to owners of A2Q BHEE AEGLERE
the Company 853,934 847,948 896,938 933,701 963,399
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